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HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP.  
18 King Street East, Suite 902, Toronto, Ontario, M5C 1C4 

 

 Distribution of 9,360,852 ROC Shares 

This prospectus (the “Prospectus”) is being filed with the Ontario Securities Commission to enable High Tide Resources Corp. 

(“High Tide” or the “Company”) to become a reporting issuer pursuant to the applicable securities legislation in Ontario 

notwithstanding that no securities are being offered under this Prospectus. 

This Prospectus will qualify the distribution of certain common shares of the Company (“Common Shares”), being the distribution 

of 9,360,852 Common Shares (the “Distribution”) by Avidian Gold Corp. (“Avidian”) to shareholders of Avidian by way of a 

return of capital (such common shares to be distributed, as determined by Avidian, are referred to as the “ROC Shares”).  

No securities are available for purchase pursuant to this Prospectus and no additional funds are to be received by the 

Company from the distribution of the securities under this Prospectus.  

This Prospectus is also being filed for the purposes of complying with Policy 2 – Qualifications for Listing of the Canadian 

Securities Exchange in order for the Company to meet the eligibility requirements for the listing of the Common Shares on the 

Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE” or the “Exchange”). 

All expenses incurred in connection with the preparation and filing of this Prospectus will be paid by the Company from its general 

funds. 

There is no market through which these securities may be sold and purchasers may not be able to resell securities qualified 

under this Prospectus. This may affect the pricing of the securities in the secondary market, the transparency and 

availability of trading prices, the liquidity of the securities, and the extent of issuer regulation. See “RISK FACTORS”. 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not applied to list or quote 

any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the Toronto Stock Exchange, Aequitas 

NEO Exchange Inc., a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the United States of America. 
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The Company has made an application to list its Common Shares on the CSE. Listing is subject to the Company fulfilling all of 

the listing requirements of the CSE, including meeting all minimum listing requirements. 

An investment in securities of the Company is speculative and involves a high degree of risk due to various factors, 

including the nature and stage of development of the Company. See “RISK FACTORS”. 

No underwriters or selling agents have been involved in the preparation of this Prospectus or performed any review or 

independent due diligence of the contents of this Prospectus. 

Joseph Poveromo, a director of the Company, resides outside of Canada. Such persons have appointed the following agent for 

service of process: 

Name of Persons Name and Address of Agent 

Dr. Joseph Poveromo  

Peterson McVicar LLP 

Suite 902, 18 King Street East 

Toronto, ON Canada M5C 1C4  

 

Investors are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any person who 

resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY  

The following is a summary of the principal features of this Prospectus and should be read together with the more 

detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. 

The Company High Tide was incorporated on October 18, 2018 pursuant to the OBCA. The Company 

has its registered and head office located at 18 King Street East, Suite 902, Toronto, Ontario 

M5C 1C4.  

High Tide intends to become a reporting issuer in Ontario and obtain a listing of its 

Common Shares on the CSE. The Company’s securities do not currently trade on any stock 

exchange. See “CORPORATE STRUCTURE”. 

Business of the 

Company 

The principal activity of the Company is mineral exploration in Canada and is currently 

focused on the exploration of the southern Labrador Trough region of Quebec and 

Newfoundland & Labrador.  

The Company holds interests in property consisting of 99 mineral claims covering 2,475 

hectares known as the Labrador West Iron Project (the “Labrador West Property”), 

which is located near Labrador City in the province of Newfoundland and Labrador, 

Canada. The Company also owns a 100% in the Lac Pegma Copper-Nickel-Cobalt 

sulphide deposit located approximately fifty-five (55) kilometers southeast of Fermont, 

Quebec. See “DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS”. 

Objectives and 

Milestones 

The primary business objectives for the Company over the next 12 months are: 

(a) to list on the Canadian Securities Exchange; 

(b) to complete the Phase I recommended work program on the Labrador West 

Property; and  

(c) to complete additional equity financings should they be necessary to advance 

the Company’s objectives. 

See “DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS”. 

Listing The Company has applied to have its Common Shares listed on the CSE. Listing is subject 

to the Company obtaining a receipt for this Prospectus and fulfilling all the requirements 

of the CSE. See “DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS”. 

Use of Available 

Funds 

As at December 31, 2021, the Company had an approximate consolidated net working 

capital of $1,629,816 excluding the Escrowed Funds. See “USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS”. 

Assuming the receipt of the Escrowed Funds (as defined hereinafter) of $1,094,365, the 

Company expects to allocate the funds available to it in the following manner:  

Item Estimated Cost 

Complete Phase I work program on Labrador West Property $575,000 

Estimated general and administrative expenses for 12 months $400,000 

Maintenance payment for Labrador West Property $20,000 

Access payments for the Labrador West Property  $5,000 

Reserve for contingencies and funding of additional work programs on 

Labrador West Property as recommended by the Qualified Person 
$1,724,181 

Total $2,724,181 
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Non-Offering 

Prospectus  

 

This Prospectus does not offer for sale any shares or other securities of the Company. When 

a decision document for the Prospectus is received, the Company will become a reporting 

issuer in Ontario. This Prospectus qualifies the Distribution to shareholders of Avidian by 

way of a return of capital. 

 This Prospectus is being filed with the OSC for the purpose of allowing the Company to 

obtain a listing on the CSE and to enable the Company to develop an organized market for 

its Common Shares. All expenses incurred in connection with the preparation and filing of 

this Prospectus will be paid by the Company. 

Directors and 

Executive Officers 

of the Company 

Steve Roebuck, Interim Chief Executive Officer, President and Director  

Donna McLean, Chief Financial Officer 

Steve Altmann, Director 

Carol Seymour, Director 

Joseph Poveromo, Director  

Serge Pelletier, Director  

Risk Factors The activities of the Company are subject to the risks normally encountered in a growing 

business, including: a substantial number of authorized but unissued shares; risk of 

dilution; no market for securities; negative cash flow from operations; current market 

volatility; departure from the pre-existing budget; no production history; limited operating 

history; exploration, mining and operational risks; obtaining all required licenses and 

permits that may be required to carry out exploration; foreign jurisdiction risk; corruption 

and bribery; mining risks; royalties on tenements underlying the Company’s properties; 

state participation rights; carrying on business as a foreign enterprise; assurance of title; 

possible loss of interest in the Company’s properties; competition; conflicts of interest; 

loss of personnel; volatility of commodity prices; environmental risks and other regulatory 

requirements; uninsured risks; health and safety risks; tax issues; additional requirements 

for capital; smaller company risks; and liquidity of the common shares.  

See “RISK FACTORS”. 

Summary of 

Financial 

Information 

The following selected financial information has been derived from the audited financial 

statements of the Company for the year ended June 30, 2021 and the unaudited financial 

statements of the Company for the six months ended December 31, 2021 and should be 

read in conjunction with such financial statements and the related notes thereto, along with 

the Management Discussion and Analysis included in this Prospectus. All financial 

statements of the Company and are prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards. 

 

Six months 

ended 

December 

31, 2021 

Year ended  

June 30, 2020 

 

Year ended  

June 30, 2021 

 

Total Revenue $nil $nil $nil 

Net Income (Loss) $(2,264,815) $(1,340,165) $(927,058) 

# Shares Outstanding 60,142,848 32,066,666 46,715,341 
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Net Income (Loss) 

per Share (Basic) 

$(0.04) 
$(0.05) $(0.03) 

Net Income (Loss) 

per Share (Diluted) 

$(0.04) 
$(0.05) $(0.03) 

Total Assets $3,093,619 $789,173 $2,479,936 

Total Financial 

Liabilities 

$1,463,803 
$1,210 $196,606 

Total Shareholder’s 

Equity 

$1,629,816 
$787,963 $2,283,330 

 

 

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information 

Certain statements contained in this Prospectus constitute forward-looking information under applicable Canadian 

securities laws. These statements relate to future events or future performance. All statements other than statements 

of historical fact may be forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are often, but not always, identified 

by the use of words such as “seek”, “anticipate”, “plan”, “continue”, “objectives”, “strategies”, “estimate”, “expect”, 

“may”, “will”, “project”, “predict”, “potential”, “targeting”, “intend”, “could”, “might”, “should”, “believe” and 

similar expressions. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may 

cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements. The 

Company believes the expectations reflected in those forward-looking statements are reasonable but no assurance can 

be given that these expectations will prove to be correct and such forward-looking statements included in this 

Prospectus should not be unduly relied upon. 

In particular, this Prospectus contains forward-looking statements pertaining to the following: 

• the Company’s expectations, strategies and plans for the Labrador West Property, including its planned 

exploration activities; 

• the Listing (as defined hereinafter), including the Company fulfilling all listing requirements; 

• the Company’s intended use of available funds; 

• the results of future exploration and drilling and estimated completion dates for certain milestones; 

• successfully locating mineral resources and successfully developing new deposits; 

• the timing, receipt and maintenance of approvals, licenses and permits from the government and from any 

other applicable government, regulator or administrative body; 

• future financial or operating performance and condition of the Company and its business, operations and 

properties; 

• statements that may predict, forecast, indicate or imply future plans, intentions, levels of activity, results, 

performance or achievements; 

• mineral exploration, development and operating risks; 

• environmental, health and safety regulations of the resource industry; 

• competitive conditions; 

• operational risks; 

• liquidity and financing risks; 
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• funding risks; 

• exploration costs; 

• uninsurable risks; 

• environmental risks; 

• conflicts of interest; 

• government policy changes; 

• ownership risks; 

• permitting and licensing risks; 

• artisanal miners; 

• difficulty in enforcement of judgments; 

• market conditions; 

• stress in the global economy; 

• current global financial condition; 

• reliance on key personnel; 

• dilution risk; 

• exchange rate and currency risks; 

• commodity prices; and 

• the other risks and uncertainties described elsewhere in this Prospectus. 

Although the forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus are based upon assumptions which the 

Company believes to be reasonable, the Company cannot assure holders or prospective purchasers of Common Shares 

that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. With respect to forward-looking 

statements contained in this Prospectus, the Company has made assumptions regarding: future commodity prices and 

royalty regimes; availability of skilled labour; timing and amount of capital expenditures; future currency exchange 

and interest rates; the impact of increasing competition; general conditions in economic and financial markets; 

availability of drilling and related equipment; effects of regulation by governmental agencies; royalty rates; future tax 

rates; future operating costs; availability of future sources of funding; ability to obtain financing and assumptions 

underlying estimates related to adjusted funds from operations. The Company has included the above summary of 

assumptions and risks related to forward-looking information provided in this Prospectus in order to provide holders 

and prospective purchasers with a more complete perspective on the Company’s future operations and such 

information may not be appropriate for other purposes. The Company’s actual results, performance or achievement 

could differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements and, accordingly, no 

assurance can be given that any of the events anticipated by the forward-looking statements will transpire or occur, or 

if any of them do so, what benefits the Company will derive therefrom. These forward-looking statements are made 

as of the date of this Prospectus and the Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update publicly any forward-

looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or results or otherwise, other than as required 

by applicable securities laws. 
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Presentation of Financial Information 

The Company’s financial statements and other financial information included in this Prospectus have been prepared 

in accordance with IFRS.  

Glossary 

“43-101CP” means Companion Policy 43-101CP to National Instrument 43-101 – Standard of Disclosure for Mineral 

Projects. 

“Affiliate” means a company that is affiliated with another Company as described below. A company is an Affiliate 

of another Company if (a) one of them is the subsidiary of the other, or (b) each of them is controlled by the same 

person. A company is "controlled" by a person if (a) voting securities of the issuer are held, other than by way of 

security only, by or for the benefit of that person, and (b) the voting securities, if voted, entitle the person to elect a 

majority of the directors of the issuer. A person beneficially owns securities that are beneficially owned by: 

(a) a company controlled by that person, or 

(b) an Affiliate of that person or an Affiliate of any Company controlled by that person. 

“Altius” means Altius Resources Inc.  

“Altius Escrow Agreement” means the escrow agreement dated November 5th, 2021 among the Company, the 

Escrow Agent, and Altius.  

“Altius Royalty” means Altius Royalty Corporation.  

“Amendment Agreement” means the amending agreement between the Company and Altius dated November 27th, 

2020.  

“Associate” when used to indicate a relationship with a person or Company, means (a) a partner, other than a limited 

partner, of that person, (b) a trust or estate in which that person has a substantial beneficial interest or for which that 

person serves as trustee or in a similar capacity, (c) an issuer in respect of which that person beneficially owns or 

controls, directly or indirectly, voting securities carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding 

voting securities of the issuer, or (d) a relative, including the spouse, of that person or a relative of that person's spouse, 

if the relative has the same home as that person. 

“Avidian” means Avidian Gold Corp.  

“Board” means the board of directors of the Company. 

“Broker Warrants” means broker warrants issued to Finders in Connection with the Offering, with each whole broker 

warrant entitling the holder to purchase one (1) Unit at a price of $0.15 for a period of thirty-six (36) months after the 

closing date of the Offering.  

“Cash Commission” means the cash commission payable to Finders of the Offering in an amount equal to 6% of the 

gross proceeds of the Offering.  

“CEO” means chief executive officer of High Tide.  

“CFO” means the chief financial officer of High Tide. 

“Common Shares” means common shares without par value in the capital of High Tide. 

“Company” or “High Tide” means High Tide Resources Corp. 
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 “CSE” or the “Exchange” means the Canadian Stock Exchange. 

“CSE Approval” means the final approval of the CSE in respect of the listing of the Common Shares on the CSE. 

“CSE Policies” means the rules and policies of the CSE. 

“Distribution” means the distribution of the ROC Shares to Avidian shareholders on a pro rata basis.  

“Eligible Grantees” means directors, employees and consultants eligible to receive RSUs under the RSU Plan. 

“Equity Financing Threshold” means the gross proceeds of any equity financings combined with cash held by Pubco 

(or the Company, as the case may be), plus total Exploration Expenditures up to the initial equity financing up to a 

maximum of $3,000,000, will total at least $4,000,000, pursuant to the Labrador West Option Agreement.  

“Escrow Agent” and “Transfer Agent” means Capital Transfer Agency ULC, located at 390 Bay Street, Suite 920, 

Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5H 2Y2. 

“Escrow Agreement” means the escrow agreement dated September 22, 2021 among the Company, the Escrow 

Agent, and the holders of Escrow Securities.  

“Escrowed Funds” means approximately $1,094,365 held in escrow by the Subscription Receipt and Escrow Agent 

pursuant to the Offering.  

“Escrow Release Conditions” means the receipt of written confirmation from the CSE all conditions precedent to 

the Listing have been satisfied and (ii) the Listing to occur within six (6) months of the closing date of the Offering.  

“Escrow Securities” means the Common Shares held by the directors, officers and insiders that will be deposited 

pursuant to the Escrow Agreement and the Altius Escrow Agreement. 

“Exchange Date” means the date that the Subscription Receipts will be deemed to be automatically exchanged for 

Units of the Company, pursuant to the Offering.  

“Exploration Expenditures” means the exploration expenditures the Company must incur pursuant to the Labrador 

West Option Agreement.  

“Finder” means a finder is respect of the Offering.  

“Globex” means Globex Mining Enterprises Inc.  

“Insider” if used in relation to an issuer, means: 

(a) a director or senior officer of the issuer; 

(b) a director or senior officer of the Company that is an Insider or subsidiary of the issuer; 

(c) a Person that beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, voting shares carrying more 

than 10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting shares of the issuer; or 

(d) the issuer itself if it holds any of its own securities. 

“Labrador West Option” means the option to acquire up to a one hundred percent (100%) interest in the mineral 

claims as described in the Labrador West Option Agreement.  

“Labrador West Option Agreement” means the option agreement dated August 20, 2019 between the Company and 

Altius, as amended.  
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“Labrador West Property” means the property that is located in the southern Labrador Trough comprised of the 

Licences totaling 2,475.5 hectares in size and is the subject of the Technical Report.  

“Lac Pegma Property” means the property that is subject to the Lac Pegma Purchase Agreement.  

“Lac Pegma Purchase Agreement” means the purchase agreement dated February 2nd, 2021 between the Company 

and Globex.  

“Licences” means mineral licences: 026753M, 027298M, 027299M and 027300M, being the mineral licences which 

comprise the Labrador West Property.  

“Listing” means the receipt of written confirmation from the CSE that all conditions precedent to High Tide listing 

its Common Shares on the CSE have been satisfied.  

“Listing Date” means the date on which the Common Shares are listed for trading on the CSE.  

“Mercator” means Mercator Geological Services Limited. 

“Milestone Shares” means 1,246,004 Common Shares issuable to Altius pursuant to the Third Amendment 

Agreement.  

“Mineral Regulations” means the regulations under the Mineral Act (O.C. 96-299). 

“Named Executive Officers” means the following individuals: 

(a) the Company's CEO; 

(b) the Company's CFO; 

(c) each of the three most highly compensated executive officers, or the three most highly 

compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity, other than the Company’s CEO and CFO, 

at the end of the most recently completed financial year whose total compensation was, 

individually, more than $150,000, as determined in accordance with subsection 1.3(5) of 51-

102F6V – Statement of Executive Compensation – Venture Issuers, for that financial year; and 

(d) each individual who would be a Named Executive Officer under paragraph (c) but for the fact 

that the individual was not an executive officer of the Company, and not acting in a similar 

capacity, at the end of that financial year. 

“NP 46-201” means National Policy 46-201 – Escrow for Initial Public Offerings as published by the Canadian 

Securities Administrators. 

“NI 43-101” means National Instrument 43-101 – Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Properties. 

“NI 51-102” means National Instrument 51-102 – Continuous Disclosure Requirements. 

“NI 52-110” means National Instrument 52-110 Audit Committees. 

“NI 58-101” means National Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices. 

“NI 58-201” means National Policy 58-201 – Corporate Governance Guidelines. 

“OBCA” means the Ontario Business Corporations Act. 
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“Offering” means the non-brokered offering of 7,332,063 Subscription Receipts which was completed on September 

16, 2021.  

“Optionee” means the holder of an Option. 

“Options” means incentive stock options granted to the Company's directors, officers, employees and consultants in 

accordance with the Stock Option Plan and the CSE Policies. 

“OSC” means the Ontario Securities Commission. 

“Participant” means either a director, officer, employee, consultant or an employee of a corporation providing 

management or other services to the Company or a subsidiary at the time the Option is granted, for the purpose of 

being a person eligible to receive a grant of Options under the Stock Option Plan. 

“Person” means a company, incorporated association or organization, body corporate, partnership, trust, association 

or other entity other than an individual, or an individual. 

“Prospectus” means this prospectus and any appendices, schedules or attachments hereto. 

“Pubco” means a company that has its shares listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, the TSX Venture Exchange, or 

the CSE and which the Company assigns the Labrador West Option to. 

“Record Date” means the date that shareholders of record of Avidian will be entitled to receive the ROC shares, 

which date shall be five (5) business days after the date the board of directors resolves to implement the reduction of 

stated capital, or such other date as determined by the board of directors of Avidian.  

“Roebuck Consulting Agreement” means the consulting agreement dated July 1, 2021 between High Tide and Steve 

Roebuck, whereby Mr. Roebuck is engaged to perform services for the Company as its VP Exploration, Interim CEO 

and Director, pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in the Consulting Agreement. 

“Roebuck Termination Payment” means the payment due to Steve Roebuck upon the termination of the Roebuck 

Consulting Agreement by (i) the Company for reasons other than an event of default, or (ii) by Mr. Roebuck within 

thirty (30) days of a change of control.     

“Royalty Agreement” means the royalty agreement between the Company and Altius Royalty dated August 20 th, 

2019.  

“SEDAR” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval for the filing of disclosure documents 

by reporting issuers in Canada, accessible at www.sedar.com. 

“Release Certificate” means the certificate the Company shall deliver to the Subscription Receipt and Escrow Agent 

upon the satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions.  

“Release Event” means the satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions and the delivery of the Release Certificate.  

“ROC Shares” means certain shares of the Company to be distributed to shareholders of Avidian pursuant to the 

Distribution.  

“RSU Plan” means the restricted share unit plan of the Company providing for the grant of RSUs to Eligible Grantees. 

“Second Amendment Agreement” means the amending agreement between the Company and Altius dated 

September 28, 2021.  

“Stock Option Plan” means the Company's stock option plan providing for the grant of Options to Participants.  

http://www.sedar.com/
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“Subscription Receiptholders” means the holders of Subscription Receipts for the time being entered in the register 

maintained by the Subscription Receipt and Escrow Agent as a registered holder of a Subscription Receipt.  

“Subscription Receipt” means a subscription receipt of the Company issued pursuant to the Offering.   

“Subscription Receipt Certificate” means the certificates representing the Subscription Receipts.  

“Subscription Receipt and Escrow Agent” means Capital Transfer Agency ULC, located at 360 Bay Street, Suite 

920, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5H 2Y2.  

“Subscription Receipt Shares” means the common shares of the Company underlying the Units that are issuable 

upon the exchange and conversion of Subscription Receipts.  

“Subscription Receipt Warrants” means the warrants of the Company underlying the Units that are issuable upon 

the exchange and conversion of Subscription Receipts.  

“Technical Report” means the NI 43-101 Technical Report on the Labrador West Iron Project, Newfoundland 

Labrador, by report authors Alan Philippe, B.Sc., P.Geo and Peter Webster, B.Sc., P.Geo, with an effective date of 

November 20th, 2020.  

“Third Amendment Agreement” means the amending agreement between the Company and Altius dated November 

5th, 2021. 

“Unit” means a unit of the Company comprised of one (1) Common Share and one half of one (0.5) Common Share 

purchase warrant.  

“Vesting Period” means the vesting period applicable to RSUs under the RSU Plan. 

“Warrant” means a warrant of the Company entitling the holder to purchase Common Shares based on the terms 

therein. 

Currency 

All sums of money to be paid or calculated pursuant to this Prospectus shall be paid or calculated in the currency of 

Canada unless otherwise expressly stated and the references to $ are to Canadian dollars.  

CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

The Company 

The Company was registered and incorporated in Canada under the name High Tide Resources Corp. on October 18, 

2018 under the Ontario Business Corporations Act (the “OBCA”). The Company’s registered and head office is 

located at 18 King Street East, Suite 902, Toronto, Ontario, M5C 1C4.  

Intercorporate Relationships 

The Company is a majority-owned subsidiary of Avidian Gold Corp. On October 22nd, 2020, Avidian was continued 

into the Province of Ontario. As of the date hereof, Avidian holds approximately 51.88% of the Company’s issued 

and outstanding Common Shares. Upon the deemed exchange and conversion of the Subscription Receipts into Units 

and the issuance of the Distribution and the Broker Warrants (as such terms are defined hereinafter), Avidian will hold 

32.37% of the Company’s issued and outstanding Common Shares on a partially diluted basis, and 29.62% of the 

Common Shares on a fully diluted basis. 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company’s only subsidiary is Ferrum Exploration Corp., a company incorporated 

under the OBCA, and is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 

The principal business of the Company is the, acquisition, exploration and development of mineral property interests 

in Canada, with a focus on the southern Labrador Trough area of Quebec and Newfoundland & Labrador. The 

Company’s material property, as defined by 43-101CP is the Labrador West Property which is located in near 

Labrador City in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada. In February 2021, the Company purchased a 100% interest in 

Lac Pegma Property (as defined hereinafter) which is located approximately fifty-five (55) kilometers southeast of 

Fermont, Quebec 

In anticipation of becoming a reporting issuer, on September 16, 2021 the Company completed an offering of 

subscription receipts of the Company (the “Subscription Receipts”), whereby the Company issued 7,332,063 

Subscription Receipts at a price of $0.15 per Subscription Receipt (the “Offering”). Pursuant to the Offering, each 

Subscription Receipt is automatically convertible into one (1) unit of the Company (a “Unit”), with each Unit 

underlying the Subscription Receipts comprised of one (1) Common Share (a “Subscription Receipt Share”) and 

one half of one (0.5) Common Share purchase warrant (each whole, a “Subscription Receipt Warrant”). In 

connection with the Offering, the Company agreed to issue to finders under the Offering (“Finders”) a commission 

which was comprised of a cash commission in an amount equal to 6% of the gross proceeds of the Offering (the “Cash 

Commission”) together with the issuance of broker warrants (“Broker Warrants”) in an amount equal to 6% of the 

aggregate number of Subscription Receipts sold, with each whole Broker Warrant entitling the holder to purchase one 

(1) Unit at a price of $0.15 for a period of thirty-six (36) months after the closing date of the Offering. 50% of the 

Cash Commission was payable upon the close of the Offering, with the remaining 50% of the Cash Commission and 

the Broker Warrants due to Finders upon the satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions (as defined hereinafter).  

The subscription funds from the Offering less 50% of the Cash Commission, for a total of approximately $1,094,365 

(the “Escrowed Funds”) is being held in escrow by the subscription receipt and escrow agent (the “Subscription 

Receipt and Escrow Agent”) until the satisfaction of the following conditions: (i) the receipt of written confirmation 

from the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) that all conditions precedent to High Tide listing its Common 

Shares on the CSE have been satisfied (the “Listing”), and (ii) the Listing to occur within six (6) months of the closing 

date of the Offering (the “Escrow Release Conditions”). At the time the Escrow Release Conditions are satisfied, the 

Company will forthwith deliver a certificate (the “Release Certificate”) executed by the Company to the Subscription 

Receipt and Escrow Agent confirming that the Escrow Release Conditions have been met (the delivery of the Release 

Certificate, together with the Escrow Release Conditions, the “Release Event”) upon which the Subscription Receipts 

shall be deemed to be automatically exchanged (the “Exchange Date”), for no additional consideration and without 

further action on the part of the holders of the Subscription Receipts (the “Subscription Receiptholders”) for Units 

of the Company, and the Escrowed Funds will be released by the Subscription Receipt and Escrow Agent to the 

Company. The Offering was affected on a “non-brokered” private placement basis pursuant to exemptions under 

applicable securities legislation.   

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company was a majority owned private subsidiary of Avidian. The business and 

operations of the Company from the time of its incorporation to the date hereof is to hold and carry on exploration 

activities in Canada, and the Company has been principally focused on the exploration of the Labrador West Property.  

Following the Distribution and deemed exchange and conversion of the Subscription Receipts into Units, Avidian will 

hold 32.37% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares on a partially diluted basis.  

The Company has applied to have its Common Shares listed on the CSE. Listing will be subject to the Company 

obtaining a receipt for this Prospectus and fulfilling all the requirements of the CSE. 

In connection with the Listing, Avidian announced on July 26, 2021 that in the event the Listing occurs and the 

Company becomes listed on the CSE, Avidian proposed that it would distribute a portion of the Common Shares held 

by it to its shareholders. On, September 7th, 2021, Avidian shareholders passed a resolution authorizing (i) the re-

designation of the Avidian’s common shares as class A common shares, (ii) the creation a class of new common 

shares, and (iii) the exchange of each class A common shares for one new common share and a pro rata share of the 

Distribution, being the distribution to the shareholders of Avidian of 9,360,852 ROC Shares. The shareholders of 

record of Avidian on a date that is to be five (5) business days after the date the board of directors of Avidian resolve 

to implement the reduction of stated capital, or such other date as determined by the board of directors of Avidian (the 



 

16 

“Record Date”) will be eligible to receive the ROC Shares on a pro rata basis in proportion to the number of shares 

of Avidian held by them on the Record Date.  

The Labrador West Property is comprised of four (4) mineral licenses, Mineral Licence 026753M, Mineral Licence 

027298M, Mineral Licence 027299M and Mineral License 027300M (the “Licences”) and covers approximately 

2,475.5 hectares across the Labrador Trough in western Labrador, approximately 20 km northeast of Labrador City. 

See “Table 1” hereinbelow for a description of the Licences. The Labrador West Property is inaccessible by road. 

Some of the claims can be reached by boat from Lake Shabogamo and Julienne Lake, others must be accessed by 

helicopter flights from a staging area located just outside Labrador City off the Trans-Labrador Highway connecting 

Labrador City to Happy Valley – Goose Bay. The staging area is easily accessible by truck. All necessary supplies 

and equipment, such as drill rigs, and all equipment and supplies can by lifted to the project site by helicopter. The 

Company’s exploration program will be primarily focused on iron exploration. 

Three Year History 

Since the inception of the Company, the Company’s activities have focused on the acquisition and exploration of the 

Labrador West Property. 

Acquisition of the Labrador West Property 

On August 20th, 2019, the Company entered into an option agreement (together with the Amendment Agreement, the 

Second Amendment Agreement and the Third Amendment Agreement, each as defined hereinbelow, the “Labrador 

West Option Agreement”) with Altius Resources Inc. (“Altius”) pursuant to which the Company was granted the 

Labrador West Option to acquire up to an one hundred percent (100%) interest in the twenty-eight (28) mineral claims 

that encompass Mineral License 026753M. The Labrador West Option is exercisable until December 31, 2022.  

In September 2019, the Company staked an additional seventy-one (71) mineral claims surrounding the Labrador 

West Property at the recommendation of Altius, which mineral claims comprise mineral licences: 027298M, 027299M 

and 027300M. Together with mineral licence 026753M, the Licences make up the greater Labrador West Property. 

Furthermore, as the additional seventy-one (71) mineral claims fall within the Altius’ area of interest, they are subject 

to the terms of the Labrador West Option Agreement, and upon exercise of the Labrador West Option, will be subject 

to the Royalty Agreement. 

On November 27th, 2020 the Company and Altius entered into an amendment agreement (the “Amendment 

Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company and Altius agreed to amend the Labrador West Option Agreement to 

defer all obligations under the Labrador West Option by one (1) calendar year due to ramifications resulting from the 

COVID-19 virus and the related government imposed restrictions and lockdowns. 

On September 28th, 2021 the Company and Altius entered into a second amendment agreement (the “Second 

Amendment Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company and Altius agreed to further amend the Labrador West 

Option Agreement to provide for an adjustment to the share consideration payable to exercise the Labrador West 

Option.  

On November 5th, 2021 the Company and Altius entered into a third amendment agreement (the “Third Amendment 

Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company and Altius agreed to further amend the Labrador West Option 

Agreement to provide for the share consideration payable to exercise the Labrador West Option to be adjusted to be 

calculated on a partially diluted basis instead of a fully diluted basis. The Company and Altius agreed that the 

difference between the share consideration payable on a partially diluted basis versus a fully diluted basis shall be 

payable to Altius at Altius’ option by way of the Milestone Shares (as defined below).  

Accordingly, pursuant to the Labrador West Option Agreement, as amended by the Amendment Agreement, the 

Second Amendment Agreement and the Third Amendment Agreement, in order for the Company to exercise the 

Labrador West Option, the Company must:  

(a) within thirty-six (36) months from the execution date of the Labrador West Option Agreement, the Company 

must have listed its common shares on, or assigned the Labrador West Option to a company (“Pubco”) that 

has its shares listed on, the Toronto Stock Exchange, the TSX Venture Exchange, or the Canadian Securities 

Exchange; 
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(b) incur expenditures in connection with the exploration of the property subject to the Labrador West Option 

Agreement (“Exploration Expenditures”), consisting of:  

a. At least $1,000,000 by December 31, 2021; and 

b. An additional $1,000,000 by December 31, 2022;  

The Company is entitled to satisfy any deficiency in the Exploration Expenditures by making cash 

payments to Altius in lieu of the Exploration Expenditures; and 

(c) issue to Altius a number of common shares of the Company (or Pubco, as the case may be) (the “Payment 

Shares”), such that the number of the Payment Shares shall result in Altius owning 19.9% of the issued and 

outstanding capital of the Company (or Pubco, as the case may be) on a partially diluted basis calculated 

immediately following the time the Equity Financing Threshold (as defined hereinafter) is obtained (the 

“Payment Date”); the “Equity Financing Threshold” equals the gross proceeds of any equity financings 

combined with cash held by the Company (or Pubco, as the case may be) plus total Exploration Expenditures 

up to the initial equity financing up to a maximum of $3,000,000, will total at least $4,000,000.  

Upon the Company satisfying the above conditions, the Company will have been deemed to have exercised the 

Labrador West Option and will be entitled to purchase the one hundred percent (100%) interest in the property subject 

to the provisions of the Labrador West Property Agreement, which include, among other matters:  

(a) issue to Altius a number common shares of the Company (or Pubco, as the case may be) equal to $200,000 

(the “Additional Shares”) on the earlier of: (i) the first anniversary of the Payment Date and (ii) the date 

whereby the Company (or Pubco, as the case may be) completes a financing transaction subsequent to the 

Payment Date (the “Secondary Financing”), at a price per Additional Share equal to the price per share 

pursuant to the Secondary Financing; in the event that the Company (or Pubco, as the case may be) has not 

completed the Secondary Financing by the first anniversary of the Payment Date, then the price per 

Additional Share shall be equal to the maximum applicable discount under the policies of the CSE and as may 

be acceptable to the CSE; in the event that the issuance of the Additional Shares would result in Altius holding 

more than 19.9% of the common shares of the Company on a partially diluted basis  the number of the 

Additional Shares issuable to Altius will be decreased by such number of shares so that Altius’s holdings 

will not exceed 19.9% of the issued and outstanding common shares in the capital of the Company (or Pubco, 

as the case may be); and 

(b) within twenty-four (24) months from the date the Company (or Pubco, as the case may be)  delivers the Payment 

Shares to the Altius, the Company (or Pubco, as the case may be) shall be obligated to issue to Altius an 

additional 1,246,004 Common Shares (the “Milestone Shares”), at the sole discretion of Altius. Altius may elect 

at any time to receive the Milestone Shares by delivering notice to that effect to the Company (or Pubco, as the 

case may be), provided that the issuance of the Milestone Shares would not result in Altius holding more than 

19.9% of the Common Shares of the Company (or Pubco, as the case may be) on a partially diluted basis. The 

Milestone Shares shall be issued at a deemed price per Milestone Share equal to the maximum applicable discount 

under the policies of the CSE and as may be acceptable to the CSE. The Company (or Pubco, as the case may 

be) shall not be responsible for the issuance of any unissued Milestone Shares in the event that Altius does not 

make an election to receive the Milestone Shares, in full, within twenty-four (24) months from the delivery date 

of the Payment Shares. 

On September 28th, 2021, the Company and Altius entered into the Second Amendment Agreement, which among 

matters, reduced the Equity Financing Threshold from a total of $5,000,000 to a total of at least $4,000,000. The 

reduction of the Equity Financing Threshold had the effect of triggering the issuance of the Payment Shares, as the 

gross proceeds of equity financings up to a maximum of $3,000,000 combined with the cash held by the Company 

plus total Exploration Expenditures was in excess of $4,000,000. On November 5th, 2021, the Company and Altius 

entered into the Third Amendment Agreement which, among other matters, established that the Payment Shares shall 

be issued on a partially diluted basis. A total of 13,427,507 Payment Shares were issued to Altius on November 5th 

2021, with an effective date of September 28th, 2021. The Payment Shares were issued at a deemed price per Payment 

Share of $0.12. The Payment Shares were valued based on the value of the Common Shares issued in the most reent 

private placement for Common Shares, which was estimated at $0.12 for a total value of $1,611,301. 
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See also “PRIOR SALES”, “PRINCIPAL SECURITY HOLDERS” AND “ESCROWED SECURITIES”. 

Royalty on the Labrador West Property 

A condition of the Labrador West Option Agreement was the provision of a royalty upon the Company acquiring the 

property, which royalty was agreed to pursuant to a royalty agreement between the Company and Altius Royalty 

Corporation (“Altius Royalty”) dated August 20th, 2019 (the “Royalty Agreement”). Pursuant to the Royalty 

Agreement, the Labrador West Property is subject to a 2.75% (the “Royalty Rate) royalty payable by the Company 

to Altius Royalty on the following basis (the “Royalty”): 

(a) for all products and minerals other than Iron Ore, a net smelter royalty payable in perpetuity, which shall be 

calculated by multiplying the applicable Royalty Rate in effect for such period by the amount of all net 

smelter returns attributable to such period; and  

(b) for all products and minerals comprising Iron Ore, a gross sales royalty payable in perpetuity, which shall be 

calculated by multiplying the applicable Royalty Rate in effect for such period by the amount of all proceeds 

calculated solely with respect to products and minerals comprising Iron Ore attributable to such period, which 

shall not include certain permissible deductions, as more particularly described in the Royalty Agreement. 

Lac Pegma Copper-Nickel-Cobalt Deposit 

On February 2nd, 2021, the Company entered into a purchase agreement (the “Lac Pegma Purchase Agreement”) 

with Globex Mining Enterprises Inc. (“Globex”) pursuant to which the Company purchased a 100% interest in the 

Lac Pegma Copper-Nickel-Cobalt sulphide deposit located approximately fifty (50) kilometers south of Fermont, 

Quebec (the “Lac Pegma Property”). The Lac Pegma Property is comprised of claim numbers:   

            Claim Number                    Expiry Date 

                                            CDC 2560372                       03/23/2023 

                                            CDC 2560373                       03/23/2023 

                                            CDC 2560374                       03/23/2023     

                                            CDC 2560375                       03/23/2023 

                                            CDC 2560376                       03/23/2023 

                                            CDC 2560377                       03/23/2023 

                                            CDC 2560378                       03/23/2023 

                                            CDC 2560536                       03/25/2023 

                                            CGC 2560537                       03/25/2023 

 

The purchase price payable to Globex included:  

(a) a cash payment of $10,000;  

(b) an undertaking to issue 650,000 Common Shares or its successor upon completion of a liquidity event which 

shares shall have a resale restriction of four months and one day, provided that the Company or its successor 

owns all of or a part of the Lac Pegma Property at the effective date of the liquidity event and that the liquidity 

event occurs on or prior to September 30, 2021. The liquidity event refers to the listing of the Common Shares 

on a stock exchange in Canada and/or the US, or, a reverse takeover or similar transaction wherein holders 

of the Common shares will receive securities of another person already listed or conditionally approved for 

listing on a stock exchange in Canada and/or the US; and  

(c) the grant of a 2.0% gross metal royalty; 

 

The Company shall have the right, in sole discretion, to purchase one-half (1/2) of the 2.0% gross metal royalty at any 

time for a single payment of $1,500,000, which upon payment the total gross metal royalty shall be reduced from 

2.0% to 1.0% 

 

Black Raven  
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On November 26, 2019, the Company entered into an option to earn a 100% interest in the properties comprised by 

License Numbers 023212M, 024840M and 025470M (“Black Raven”). The Company was required to make the 

following minimum payments to exercise the option:  

 

(a) upon signing of agreement date: CDN$10,000 worth of the Company’s common shares;  

 

(b) first anniversary of agreement date: CDN$15,000 worth of the Company’s common shares; and   

 

(c) second anniversary of agreement date: CDN$250,000 worth of the Company’s common shares. 

 

The Company decided it would not proceed with the option after the first anniversary of the agreement date but before 

the second anniversary of the agreement date and has relinquished all rights related to Black Raven. Accordingly, the 

Company issued $25,000 worth of common shares in respect of Black Raven and the option agreement is no longer 

in force or effective. 

 

Business Objectives 

The primary business objective of the Company is to explore and, if warranted, develop, the Labrador West Property. 

The Company may also seek to acquire, explore and develop other potential mineral projects in Canada. Potential 

properties the Company would target would be properties with excellent exploration potential to advance rapidly 

toward development. The Company’s principal focus in 2022 is to explore and, if warranted, develop the Labrador 

West Property. In the near term, planned activities at the Labrador West Property include the completion of the 

recommended Phase 1 program as set forth in the Technical Report (as defined hereinafter). The activities comprising 

the recommended program are schedule to commence in Q1 2022 and if commenced in Q1 2022, are expected to be 

completed by the end of Q3 2022. For further details regarding the Company’s recommended program with respect 

to the Labrador West Property, please see “MATERIAL PROPERTY” below.  

See also “USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS” and “RISK FACTORS”. 

Competitive Conditions 

The mineral exploration industry is competitive, with many companies competing for the limited number of precious 

and base metals acquisition and exploration opportunities that are economic under current or foreseeable metals prices, 

as well as for available investment funds. Competition is also high for the recruitment of qualified personnel and 

equipment. Significant and increasing competition exists for mineral opportunities in the Newfoundland and Labrador. 

There are a number of large established mineral exploration companies in Newfoundland and Labrador with 

substantial capabilities and greater financial and technical resources than the Company. 

Government Regulation 

Mining operations and exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations which govern prospecting, 

development, mining, production, exports, taxes, labour standards, occupational health, waste disposal, protection of 

the environment, mine safety, hazardous substances and other matters. 

Environmental Regulation 

The Company’s mineral exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing protection of the 

environment. In general, these laws are amended often and are becoming more restrictive. 

Employees 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not have any employees.  The Company has entered into 

consulting agreements with its CEO pursuant to the Roebuck Consulting Agreement (as defined hereinbelow).  
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Trends 

There is significant competition for the acquisition of promising properties, as well as for hiring qualified personnel. 

The Company’s competitors may have more substantial financial and technical resources for the acquisition of mineral 

concessions, claims or mineral interests, as well as for the recruitment and retention of qualified personnel. 

The present and future activities of the Company may be influenced to some degree by factors such as the availability 

of capital, governmental regulations, including environmental regulation, territorial claims and security on mining 

sites. The influence of such factors cannot be predicted. 

To the knowledge of the Company, other than what is described in this Prospectus, there is no current trend or event 

that could reasonably influence, in a significant manner, the activities, financial situation or operating results of the 

Company for the current fiscal year. See “RISK FACTORS”. 

MATERIAL PROPERTY 

The following represents information summarized from the technical report on the Labrador West Iron Project dated 

November 20, 2020 (the “Technical Report”), prepared by Alan Philippe, B.Sc., P.Geo and Peter Webster, B.Sc., 

P.Geo (the “Qualified Persons” or “QPs”) “qualified persons”, as defined under National Instrument 43-101 – 

Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (previously defined as “NI 43-101”), prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of NI 43-101. Note that not all of the figures and tables from the Technical Report are reproduced in and 

form part of this Prospectus. The remaining figures are contained in the Technical Report which is available under the 

Company’s profile on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. 

The following information regarding the Labrador West Property has been summarized from and is qualified in its 

entirety by the Technical Report. The disclosure in this Prospectus has been prepared with the consent of the QPs and 

in most cases, is a direct extract thereof. 

Property Description and Location 

The Labrador West Property is comprised of mineral licences 026753M, 027298M, 027299M and 027300M (99 

mineral claims in total – Table 1) and is 2,475.5 hectares in size. The four mineral licences are located approximately 

20 to 30 km northeast of Labrador City, NL. The Project is centred at map coordinates 651,500 m Easting and 

5,897,500 m Northing (UTM NAD83 Zone 19N) within NTS Map Sheet 23G/02 (Table 1). 

Table 1: Mineral Licence and Claims Table for Labrador West Property 

Mineral 

Licence 

NTS Map 

Sheet 
Beneficial Owner 

Mineral 

Claims 

Issue 

Date 

Expiry 

Date 

Area 

(Ha) 

026753M 23G/02 

High Tide (100%) 

subject to earn-in 

option with Altius 

28 2019-01-09 2024-01-09 700 

027298M 23G/02 High Tide (100%) 64 2019-09-02 2024-09-02 1,600 

027299M 23G/02 High Tide (100%) 6 2019-09-02 2024-09-02 150 

027300M 23G/02 High Tide (100%) 1 2019-09-02 2024-09-02 25 

Totals: 99  2,475.5 

The Newfoundland and Labrador Department of Natural Resources (NLDNR) electronic database of mineral titles is 

accessible via their online “Mineral Rights Inquiry Portal” and confirms that all mineral claims comprising the 

http://www.sedar.com/
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Labrador West Property as described above in Table 1 were, at the effective date, in good standing, and that no legal 

encumbrances were registered with NLDNR against these mineral claims. The Technical Report authors confirmed 

therein that payment of mineral licence transfer fees associated with the claims identified in Table 1 have been 

documented in the Mineral Licence Reports (as defined in the Technical Report). None of the properties have been 

legally surveyed to date and there is no requirement to do so at this time.  

Option Agreements and Royalties  

The Company acquired the Labrador West Property in August 2019 through an option agreement to acquire 100% of 

the Goethite Bay Iron Project from Altius, a wholly owned subsidiary of Altius Minerals Corporation. The project 

was later renamed to the Labrador West Iron Project.  

Altius granted the Company the Labrador West Option to purchase a 100% undivided interest in the 28 mineral claims 

that encompass Licence 026753M upon: (i) the Company incurring exploration expenditures on the claims of at least 

$2,000,000 by December 31, 2021 (subject to one year extension due to COVID-19); (ii) the issuance of 19.9% of the 

issued and outstanding common shares of the Company to Altius on a fully diluted basis calculated immediately 

following cumulative equity financings of no less than $5,000,000; and (iii) the Company becoming a publicly listed 

company (“Pubco”) in Canada within twenty-four (24) months from the execution date (the terms of the Labrador 

West Option are qualified and have been amended by the Labrador West Option Agreement, the Amendment 

Agreement, the Second Amendment Agreement and the Third Amendment Agreement. See “DESCRIPTION OF 

THE BUSINESS – Three Year History – Acquisition of the Labrador West Property” for a detailed explanation of the 

Labrador West Option). Upon the Company acquiring a 100% interest in these claims, Pubco shall grant to Altius a 

2.75% gross sales royalty (GSR) on all iron ore produced, removed, and recovered from the claims. On December 17, 

2019, Licence 026753M was transferred to High Tide.  

On September 9, 2019, the Company announced it had acquired an additional 71 mineral claims (1,775 hectares) from 

Altius in Labrador West surrounding the property increasing the property footprint of the Labrador West Property to 

2,475 hectares (99 claims). These 71 mineral claims comprise Licences 027298M, 027299M and 027300M and are 

subject to the same royalties, back-in rights or other payment obligations as part of the previously mentioned Altius 

agreement.  On December 17, 2019, these three licences were transferred to the Company. 

Surface Rights, Permitting, Permits or Agreements Required for Exploration Activities 

As the mineral licence holder, the Company has the exclusive right to explore for designated minerals within the 

boundaries of the mineral claims comprising the Labrador West Property, but this right does not reflect ownership of 

corresponding title to surface rights.  The Company has, however, secured Crown land access agreements with the 

Province of Newfoundland and Labrador to complete exploration and drilling on the Labrador West Property.  

Work requirements of the provincial government for mineral licences are defined by the Mineral Regulations under 

the Mineral Act (O.C. 96-299) (Mineral Act) and include a work expenditure of $200 CDN per claim in the first year, 

rising by $50 CDN per claim until year 5. The work requirement then rises to $600 CDN per claim per year from year 

6 to year 10, $900 CDN per claim per year for years 11 to 15, and $1,200 CDN per claim per year for years 16 to 20.  

Recent amendments to the Mineral Regulations allow a mineral licence to be held for 30 years, with expenditures of 

$2,000 CDN per claim per year for years 21 to 25, and $2,500 CDN per claim per year for years 26 to 30.  The type 

of acceptable work for assessment purposes is defined under the Mineral Regulations and includes most conventional 

exploration survey methods.   

Exploration permits, water usage permits, and wood harvesting permits were issued to the Company by the 

Government of Newfoundland and Labrador (GNL) for the purposes of the 2020 drilling program. The exploration 

permit was approved by a Regional Geologist with GNL, water withdrawal permit from a Water Management 
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Engineer with GNL, and the wood harvesting permit was approved by a Regional Forest Ranger with GNL. These 

permits do (do not) cover future exploration programs recommended in this technical report.   

Other Liability and Risk Factors  

The authors of the Technical Report noted they were not aware of any environmental liabilities or of any other 

significant factors and risks that may affect access, title, or the right or ability to perform the recommended work 

program on the Labrador West Property. The Company will require additional permits to conduct recommended future 

exploration work programs on the Labrador West Property.  

Figure 1: Regional Map – Labrador West Property 

 

Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiography 

The Labrador West Property is located in the southern Labrador Trough in western Labrador approximately 20 km 

northeast of Labrador City (pop. 7,720) (Figure 1). Labrador City is serviced by the Wabush Airport (YWK) and the 

airlines flying out of the airport. These include Provincial Airlines, Air Inuit and Pascan Aviation. Additionally, the 

Quebec North Shore and Labrador Railway provides freight rail transportation to and from Sept-Îles, Quebec. The 

Trans-Labrador Highway (Route 500) serves as the only road connection to Labrador City, connecting it with the rest 

of Labrador as well as the neighboring province of Quebec, becoming Quebec Route 389 at the provincial border. The 

Licenses are not accessible by road. Some of the claims can be reached by boat from Lake Shabogamo and Julienne 

Lake (Figure 1). During the 2020 field season, staff of Mercator, the company High Tide retained to plan and complete 

the diamond drilling program, as well as contractors, lived in Labrador City and accessed the license area by daily 

helicopter flights from a staging area located just outside Labrador City off the Trans-Labrador Highway connecting 

Labrador City to Happy Valley – Goose Bay. The staging area is easily accessible by truck. 

The Wabush and Labrador City region has a continental subarctic climate (Köppen: Dfc) with mild summers and 

severely cold winters. Precipitation is heavy year-round (although higher in summer) due to the strong Icelandic low 

to the east driving cold, moist and unstable air onto the region. Snowfall is very heavy for seven months each year and 

snow depths can reach as high as 218 centimetres. Temperatures range from highs of 19°C in the summer and lows 

of -29°C in the winter, with snow cover from October to May. 
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Topography on the Labrador West Property is gentle, consisting of rolling hills and open valleys with abundant lakes 

and marshes. Elevations range from 1,700 to 2,500 m above sea level. The Licenses are covered by a mixed forest 

consisting of spruce and alder of varying density with abundant open marshlands and swampy biomes in low lying 

areas with abundant standing water. 

The Labrador West Property is located in a region of Labrador that is sparsely populated, with hotels, medical services, 

hardware stores, grocery stores, and gas stations being confined primarily to the towns of Labrador City and Wabush, 

collectively referred to as “Labrador West”. Labrador City forms the largest population center in this region of 

Labrador and supports a wide range of government, business, medical, educational, industrial and transportation 

services. Access to the regional electrical grid is possible along the highway corridors located near the Labrador West 

Property but is lacking in more remote areas. Mainline rail facilities are accessible via the 418 km long Quebec North 

Shore and Labrador (QNS&L) Railway which provides freight rail transportation to and from Sept-Îles, Quebec. 

The extensive surface drainage systems present in the area including the Lake Shabogamo and Julienne Lake 

watersheds provide readily accessible potential water sources for incidental exploration use such as diamond drilling. 

They also provide good potential as higher volume sources of water such as those potentially required for future 

mining and milling operations.  

Exploration staff and consultants, as well as forestry, heavy equipment and drilling contractors can be readily sourced 

from within Newfoundland and Labrador and surrounding provinces such as Quebec, New Brunswick, and Nova 

Scotia. Iron ore mining operations are the dominant employment in the region with the Iron Ore Company of Canada 

(“IOC”) and ArcelorMittal being the primary employers in the area. The local rural and urban economies provide a 

large base of skilled trades, professional, and service sector support that can be readily accessed for exploration and 

resource development purposes. 

Figure 2: Location Map – Labrador West Property  

 

History 

Pre-2007 

The Labrador West Property is located in close proximity to IOC Carol Lake iron ore mining operations within the 

Sokoman Formation. IOC is a joint venture between Rio Tinto (58.7%), Mitsubishi (26.2%) and the Labrador Iron 

Ore Royalty Income Corporation (15.1%). Outcrops surrounding this region have been prospected, mapped, and 
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drilled since workers first targeted the area for iron ore deposits in the late 1940’s. Outside of the current iron producing 

areas in Labrador City only very broad geologic mapping has been conducted.  

Work by IOC on their past claims in areas now found within the Labrador West Property area near Lake Shabogamo 

and Lake Julienne and described in their annual assessment reports filed by respective firms with the government of 

Newfoundland and Labrador and includes reconnaissance mapping, sampling, drilling, magnetic, and gravity surveys. 

Adjacent to the Labrador West Property’s mineral licences are holes drilled in the 1950’s and early 2000’s by IOC.  

Rio Tinto Exploration Canada Inc. – 2007 to 2014 

Rio Tinto staked a large area in the Labrador West area in late 2007 including claims currently held by the Company 

in the project area, that were known as the Goethite Bay Iron Project. In 2008, Rio Tinto conducted gravity ground 

surveys, LiDAR airborne surveys, and prospecting activities. Work was reduced in 2009 to only a month of 

prospecting and outcrop sampling.  

In 2010, field work resumed and consisted of diamond drilling, gravity ground surveys, prospecting and outcrop 

sampling. Additional staking was conducted in late 2010 and in 2011 field work resumed with diamond drilling, 

gravity ground surveys, airborne EM survey, and prospecting.   

A magnetic and electromagnetic airborne RESOLVE survey was undertaken in November 2011 by Fugro Airborne 

Surveys. In spring 2012, a high-sensitivity HeliFALCONTM Airborne Gravity Gradiometer (AGG) survey was 

completed in the area by Fugro Airborne Surveys. In June and July 2012, additional LiDAR data processing was 

completed from airborne surveys undertaken in 2008, 2009 and 2010 by Perron Hudon Belanger Lasermap (PHB). 

Additional diamond drilling including asbestos testing was also undertaken during this time and metallurgical test 

results from 2010 and 2011 drill core composites were submitted for metallurgical analysis in Sept 2012.  

Further details on the geological mapping and prospecting, remote sensing, and airborne and ground geophysics 

programs undertaken by Rio Tinto between 2007-2012 can be found in government assessment reports for the 

respective years.  

Rio Tinto completed a total of 18 diamond drill holes on the Labrador West Property between 2010 and 2012 for a 

total of 4,227 m (Table 3 and Figure 3). The drilling program information provided below is referenced from several 

Rio Tinto assessment reports accessed from the NLDNR Geofiles Metadata Search.   
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Figure 3: Drill Hole Location of Rio Tinto Diamond Drilling Programs on Labrador West Property 

 

Table 3: Rio Tinto Diamond Drill Holes Completed on The Project Area (2010-2012) 

Hole ID 
Year 

Drilled 
Easting (m) Northing (m) 

Hole Length 

(m) 

Hole 

Azimuth 

Hole 

Inclination 

10LB0001 2010 651521 5896478 150.3 55 -60 

10LB0002 2010 651026 5896790 31 30 -70 

10LB0003 2010 651026 5896790 90.3 30 -60 

10LB0012 2010 649576 5895942 252 50 -80 

11LB0024 2011 648662 5896560 165 307 -80 

11LB0026 2011 649880 5895705 255 350 -80 

11LB0027 2011 650837 5895342 348 10 -80 

11LB0029 2011 650697 5895797 306.25 355 -80 

11LB0030 2011 651310 5895721 255 6 -80 

11LB0031 2011 650262 5896177 207 5 -80 
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11LB0032 2011 651892 5896004 446 357 -80 

11LB0038 2011 650587 5897178 294 15 -80 

12LB0045 2012 650451 5895554 336.77 3.4 -85 

12LB0048 2012 651668 5895008 348 19.3 -85.8 

12LB0051 2012 649082 5895328 309 14.5 -80 

12LB0053 2012 651248 5896290 31.03 338 -80 

12LB0054 2012 651248 5896290 36.3 338 -70 

12LB0055 2012 651250 5896291 366 340.24 -80 

Total of 18 drill holes Total m drilled =  4,227  

Note: All collar coordinates in UTM NAD83 Zone 19. 

Between 2012 and 2013, Rio Tinto completed metallurgical testing (2012) and mineralogical test work (2013) on core 

samples from the 2010-2012 drilling programs. Rio Tinto engaged SGS Canada to perform a mineralogical test 

program using High Definition Mineralogy, including optical microscopy and QEMSCAN technology (Quantitative 

Evaluation of Materials by Scanning Electron Microscopy) on polished thin sections. The purpose of this 

mineralogical test program was to provide a petrographic summary, determine the overall mineral assemblage, mineral 

textures, with particular interest in the Fe-Oxide minerals, and the minerals that host Mn. 

Based on the NL assessment report records, it does not appear that Rio Tinto performed any additional exploration or 

test work on the Labrador West Property after 2014. In 2018, Rio Tinto dropped the mineral claims in the project area, 

which were subsequently re-staked by Altius Minerals Corp. Altius Minerals Corp. did not complete any exploration 

activities on the Labrador West mineral licences prior to optioning the Labrador West Property to High Tide in August 

of 2019.  

Rio Tinto 2010 Diamond Drilling Programs  

Rio Tinto completed a total of 4 diamond drill holes (524 m) on the Labrador West Property between July to September 

2010 using a Zintex, helicopter portable, diamond core drill operated by Team Drilling of Saskatoon (Table 3 and 

Figure 3). The drill was mobilized using an Astar 350BA helicopter contracted from Canadian Helicopters based in 

Quebec. All core was NQ in diameter and placed in 1.5m long wooden core boxes and transported to Labrador City 

via helicopter to be processed and logged by Rio Tinto core technicians and geologists using a company unique coding 

scheme for iron formation subunits in core (Table 4). Drill holes were surveyed using a downhole Reflex tool. All 

core was oriented using the ACT tool operated by the drill crew, however only about 30% of the core length had 

orientation marks that were deemed correct and useable. Extensive geotechnical, geological, and geophysical data was 

collected from each drill core including: 

▪ Geotechnical- Total Core Recovery, Solid Core Recovery, and Longest Piece 

▪ Geophysical- Magnetic Susceptibility 

▪ Geological- Lithology, Structures, Mineralization 

▪ Physical- Density 

All data was entered directly into an AcQuire database at the time of collection using the coding scheme applied to 

each lithological unit (Table 4). 
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Table 4: Rio Tinto Coding Scheme for Recording Iron Formation Subunits in Core. 

Formation Code Description 

Shabogamo Sha Shabogamo Gabbro - post Sokoman 

dolerite composition intrusive (but 

may include some syn-Sokoman 

volcanics) 

Menihek Men Menihek Formation. Grey or black 

carbonaceous metasediments 

Sokoman IF - undifferentiated Sok Undifferentiated iron formation from 

legacy sources, compiled from 

1:100,000 scale map localities with 

structural observations. 

Sokoman IF - carbonate facies CARB dominantly qtz-siderite mineralogy, 

Fe oxides < 10%, carbonate > 20%, 

silicates < 10%, non-magnetic (Mag 

Susc < 100x10-5SI) 

Sokoman IF - carbonate facies MTCA dominantly qtz-carbonate-magnetite 

mineralogy, Fe Oxides >20%, 

magnetic (Mag Susc >20000) 

Sokoman IF - carbonate facies CAMT dominantly qtz-carbonate-magnetite 

mineralogy, Fe Oxides <20%, 

weakly magnetic (Mag Susc < 

20000) 

Sokoman IF - carbonate facies CAHM dominantly qtz-carbonate-hematite 

mineralogy, Fe Oxides <20%, poorly 

to non- magnetic (Mag Susc < 2000) 

Sokoman IF - oxide facies HMOX dominantly qtz-

hematite>magnetite(martite)-

carbonate mineralogy, Fe oxides > 

20%, carbonate<20%, poorly to 

non-magnetic (Mag Susc < 2000) 

Sokoman IF - oxide facies MHOX Mixed qtz-hematite-

magnetite(martite)-carbonate 

mineralogy, Fe oxides > 20%, 

carbonate<20%, moderately 

magnetic (Mag Susc 2-20000) 

Sokoman IF - oxide facies MTOX dominantly qtz-magnetite>hematite-

carbonate mineralogy, Fe oxides > 

20%, carbonate and silicates < 20%, 

strongly magnetic (Mag Susc > 

20000) 

Sokoman IF - oxide facies QMHT Lean qtz-magnetite mineralogy, little 

to no silicate or carbonate, Fe oxides 

<10%, possibly near base of 
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Formation Code Description 

Sokoman, weakly magnetic (Mag 

Susc <20000) 

Sokoman IF - silicate facies SILI dominantly qtz-silicate+siderite 

mineralogy, Fe oxides < 10%, 

silicates > 20%, carbonate< 20%, 

non-magnetic (Mag Susc < 300x10-

5SI) 

Sokoman IF - silicate facies SICA Mixed qtz-silicate-carbonate 

mineralogy, Fe oxides < 10%, 

silicates 10-30%, carbonate 10-

30%, variably-magnetic (Mag Susc 

variable 300-20000x10-5SI) 

Sokoman IF - silicate facies SIMT dominantly qtz-silicate-magnetite 

mineralogy, silicates > 20%, Fe 

oxides 10-20%, carbonates < 10%, 

weakly magnetic (Mag Susc < 

20000) 

Sokoman IF - silicate facies MTSI dominantly qtz-magnetite-silicate 

mineralogy, silicates > 10%, Fe 

oxides >20%, carbonates < 10%, 

strongly magnetic (Mag Susc 

>20000) 

Wishart Wis Wishart Formation - orthoquartzite 

Denault Den Denault Formation - carbonate 

marble, sometimes with minor silica 

banding 

Attikamagen Att Attikamagen Formation - mica 

schists, dominanlty qt-plag-bt or qtz-

felsp-musc- bt+garnet 

Ashuanipi Ash Ashuanipi Basement complex - 

granitoids or foliated qtz-felsp-mi-gt 

gneiss 

 

Where drill core was mineralized, samples were collected continuously throughout the interval defined by the geologist. 

These samples were 1.5 m in length of half core. Both a core saw, and a hydraulic core splitter were used to split core 

in half longitudinally. Unmineralized or weakly mineralized core was sampled approximately every 10-20 m with a 

single 1.5 m long sample. These samples were sent to SGS Minerals Services Laboratory (SGS) in Lakefield, Ontario for 

laboratory analysis with selected samples sent for detailed trace element analysis. SGS is independent of Rio Tinto and 

is ISO/IEC 17025 certified.  

Quality control samples consisting of blanks, duplicates, and standards were inserted into the sampling sequence 

approximately 1 in every 5 samples. Pure, locally collected quartzite was used as blank material, and professionally 

prepared iron (Fe) sample materials of high, medium, and low Fe grades were used as certified reference materials 
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(standards). Sample duplicates were collected from the remaining half of the core not used in the original sample (1st 

sample = half core; duplicate sample = half core). Finally, all individual samples were weighed, with each weight 

recorded in the database. The weights provide a simple way to verify if a given sample has been inadvertently switched 

with another during the assaying process. 

Each batch of assay data received from the laboratory underwent Quality Control and Quality Assurance (QAQC) 

checks. Results from the sample standards were plotted to determine if the values reported by the lab were within 

acceptable tolerance of the know values. Blank samples were checked to see if they were, indeed, blank with respect 

to metal content. The lab was notified of any values that were outside of tolerance and would have been asked to re-

run specific samples. Once an assay batch passed QA/QC the data was loaded into the AcQuire database. 

Each sample was placed in a sealed cloth or plastic sample bag and securely tied shut. For shipping to the laboratory, 

individual samples were placed in 5 gallon plastic buckets, the lids sealed, and two security tags were attached to 

opposite rims of the bucket (180° apart) through holes drilled in the bucket lid and sides. Each bucket was assigned a 

number. The bucket number, seal numbers for each bucket, and total number of buckets were recorded on a sample 

tracking sheet, a copy of which was sent to the assay laboratory. Buckets were then palletized and shipped via local 

freight carrier to the lab. Upon receipt, the lab inventoried the sample shipment against the provided sample list to be 

sure that all buckets and samples were accounted for and no tampering of the shipment had occurred en route. 

Once the samples arrived at the laboratory they were scanned, dried, and weighed before going through the prep 

facility. In the prep facility the samples were crushed to 85% passing 2mm fraction size and then a representative 1kg 

split was taken from the crushed allotment. This subsample was then pulverized to 90% passing 75 microns in size. 

After the prep was completed the sample was submitted for assay. Mineralized samples (>10% Fe oxide IF) underwent 

Whole Rock Analysis by XRF (Lithium Borate Fusion) with LOI 450°C, LOI 650°C, and LOI 1000°C to test the 

quantity of Fe and deleterious elements. These same samples also underwent 50 element 4 acid digest ICP-OES and 

MS analysis to scan for non-targeted mineralization that might be of interest. Unmineralized samples (<10% Fe oxides 

IF plus schist, quartzite, and gabbro lithologies) underwent the same ICP analysis to scan for unexpected 

mineralization. 

Drill hole 10LB0001 was drilled on a coincident magnetic and gravity high at Goethite Bay and intersected weakly 

mineralized iron formation throughout its length. Assay results were not encouraging due to the thin nature of oxide- 

rich iron formation units which were interspersed within units of carbonate facies and silicate facies iron formation. 

Assay highlights include: 

▪ 31.4% total Fe% over 1.5 m at 38.5 m 

▪ 33.2% total Fe% over 1.5 m at 41.5 m 

▪ 32.4% total Fe% over 3 m at 108.5 m 

Drill holes 10LB0002 and 10LB0003 were drilled within a magnetic low to test for the presence of hematite dominant 

mineralization. 10LB0002 failed at 33 m and 10LB0003 failed at 90 m when rods became irretrievably stuck in broken 

ground. Recovered core from 10LB0003 contained significant hematite, goethite, and limonite Fe mineralization that 

was strongly weathered and broken. Core recovery from the hole was poor. Assay values for total Fe were encouraging 

in these holes, but much of the core sample was washed out of the core tube. This fact likely skewed the assay results 

toward having high Fe values if the oxide mineralized material was preferentially recovered during the drilling process. 

Assay highlights include: 

▪ 29.8% total Fe over 38 m beginning at 4m depth (61% core recovery) 

o Including 35.2% total Fe over 10 m beginning at 14 m depth (43% core recovery) 

o Including 34.0% total Fe over 9 m beginning at 32 m depth (85% core recovery) 

▪ 41.1% total Fe over 2 m beginning at 14 m depth (37% core recovery) 
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Drill hole 10LB0012 was drilled within a deep magnetic low. This target was chosen based on a series of holes drilled 

nearby in the 1950’s by IOC where significant thicknesses of hematite were reported from a ground gravity survey. 

The hole intersected deeply weathered iron formation containing hematite+goethite+/-limonite mineralization and was 

completed in Wishart Quartzite. Core recovery was uniformly low in the iron formation due to the strong weathering. 

Total Fe values were encouraging, but the core loss may have upgraded the Fe content of core samples. Assay 

highlights include: 

▪ 31.5% total Fe over 9 m beginning at 87 m (48% recovery) 

▪ 30.2% total Fe over 24 m beginning at 105 m (63% recovery) 

▪ 30.6% total Fe over 21 m beginning at 132 m (57% recovery) 

▪ 42.2% total Fe over 3 m beginning at 150 m (41% recovery) 

▪ 31.9% total Fe over 11 m beginning at 162 m (60% recovery) 

▪ 33.8% total Fe over 8 m beginning at 196 m (85% recovery) 

▪ 33.0% total Fe over 17 m beginning at 207 m (55% recovery) 

Rio Tinto 2011 Diamond Drilling Program 

Rio Tinto completed a total of 8 diamond drill holes (2,276 m) on the Labrador West Property area between June to 

September 2011 using a Zintex, helicopter portable, diamond core drill operated by Team Drilling of Saskatoon (Table 

3 and Figure 3). The same drilling, core logging, sampling, and QAQC procedures used in the 2010 drilling program 

and as described above were used for the 2011 drilling program, except that Rio Tinto recovered both NQ and HQ 

diameter core to increase recovery. 

Drill hole 11LB0024 was completed on the flank of a magnetic high and gravity low. Only one small zone of iron 

oxide facies was intersected and returned 34.2% total Fe over 1.14 m from 85.52 m to 86.66 m downhole. 

Drill hole 11LB0026 intersected many thin bands of hematite rich oxide facies iron formation. This drill hole was 1.4 

km SE from hole 11LB0024 and also targeted a magnetic high and a gravity low. The amount of iron oxide intersected 

in this drill hole did not correlate directly to the gravity low interpretation. Near the top of the drill hole there was 

evidence of strong weathering to goethite and limonite with little remnant silicates preserved. This strongly weathered 

section was porous and interpreted by Rio Tinto geologists to be the cause of the gravity low anomaly. Assay results 

for this hole were encouraging with 29.6% total Fe over 92.5 m and 30.6% total Fe over 65 m beginning at a depth of 

25.5 m.  

Drill hole 11LB0027 encountered thick sections of goethite and hematite rich iron formation separated by a quartzite 

unit. This hole was drilled using larger diameter HQ size drill rods to evaluate whether the drill holes completed in 

2010 that had poor recovery, but had intersected good iron grades, were preferentially upgrading the iron minerals at 

the expense of the silicates. Recoveries did significantly improve using HQ diameter core when compared to the NQ 

core recoveries from 2010. 

The Fe grades intersected in hole 11LB0027 represent significant intercepts with both thickness and grade. The hole 

was targeting a magnetic null and slight gravity anomaly on the flank of a large magnetic high. The large amount of 

iron encountered in this hole should have produced a large gravity anomaly but due to the strong weathering of the 

rock much of the silicates have been altered and the rock has a high amount of void space. Assay highlights include: 

▪ 29.8% total Fe over 279.73 m from 56.27-336 m depth (composite length) 

o including 31.9% Fe over 157.31 m from 56.27-213.58 m depth 

o and 32.9% Fe over 111.58 m from 102-213.58 m depth 

o and 30.5% Fe over 102 m from 246-336 m depth 

▪ 35.7% total Fe over 15 m from 111 to 126 m depth (best interval) 
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Drill hole 11LB0029 was completed as a 500-m step-out from hole 11LB0027 and encountered 29.4% total Fe over 

120 m (114-234 m depth) with similar mineralization to that observed in hole 11LB0027. This drill hole also returned 

a high-grade interval of 47.7% Fe over 2.7 m from 207.3-210 m depth. 

Drill hole 11LB0030 was completed as a 600 m northeast step-out from hole 11LB0027 in order to assess the northeast 

extension of the mineralization observed in hole 11LB0027. This hole targeted a larger gravity and highly magnetic 

anomaly compared to the anomaly observed at 11LB0027. The oxide facies encountered in this hole were lower in 

overall grade but showed significant local iron content such as 44.9% Fe over 3 m from 66-69 m depth. Overall, this 

drill hole included a composite interval of 26.4% Fe over 214.5 m from 16.5-231 m depth.  

Drill hole 11LB0031 targeted a weak gravity high and magnetic null 1km northwest of hole 11LB0027. This hole 

intersected 28.4% Fe over 97.5 m from 25.5-123 m depth with a smaller interval of 30.3% Fe over 51 m from a depth 

of 72 m. Similar to other drill holes in the area the geophysical signature did not seem to directly correlate with the 

amount of iron present so the strong weathering observed in this drill hole was thought to have converted any primary 

magnetite to a non-magnetic form of iron oxide and increased pore space, thereby reducing the gravity anomaly 

encountered.  

Drill hole 11LB0032 was completed over a large magnetic anomaly and moderate gravity anomaly. The hole 

intersected a strongly weathered oxide facies near the top of the hole but the weathering quickly became localized and 

the mineralization intersected was fresh magnetite rich iron formation inter-banded with silicate rich iron formation. 

Assay highlights include 21.5% Fe over 323 m from 77-400 m depth including 28.4% Fe over 47 m from 77-124 m 

depth and a smaller interval of 36.4% Fe over 2.65 m from 116.08-118.73 m depth.  

Drill hole 11LB0038 intersected a low-grade composited interval of 26.9% Fe over 187 m from 9.4-197 m depth 

including a higher-grade interval of 36.5% Fe over 5.8 m from 46.2-52 m depth. The majority of the drill hole was 

strongly weathered, which may have contributed to the subdued magnetic and gravity anomalies over the area. 

The 2011 Rio Tinto drilling program discovered large intersections of iron formation that seemed to have good grades. 

Weathering from meteoric waters appeared to play a role in upgrading the original banded iron found in the holes 

drilled on the eastern side of the Labrador West Property. Drilling determined that the depth of weathering was variable 

and likely controlled by a NW-SE trending fault that cuts across the Labrador West Property. The realization that good 

iron grades could be found in areas without prominent gravity or magnetic anomalies resulted in Rio Tinto reviewing 

all of its iron properties to identify areas with similar characteristics for future drilling. 

Rio Tinto 2012 Diamond Drilling Program 

Rio Tinto completed a total of 6 diamond drill holes (1,427 m) on the Labrador West Property between June to July 

2012 using two helicopter portable, diamond core drills operated by Boart Longyear and Downing Drilling (Table 3 

and Figure 3). The same drilling, core logging, sampling, and QAQC procedures used in the 2010 and 2011 drilling 

programs and as described in Section 6.2.1 were used for the 2012 drilling program, and Rio Tinto recovered both NQ 

and HQ diameter core to increase recovery. In addition, during the 2012 drilling program a MultiMag Reflex or 

DeviFlex downhole survey tool was used to survey each hole once drilling was completed. In cases where the DeviFlex 

was used to survey a hole, that data was used to plot the hole in 3-D space for sections and plan maps. 

Drill hole 12LB0045 was completed as a 470 m northwest step-out from hole 11LB0027 drilled to ensure that the 

mineralization encountered in holes 11LB0027 and 11LB0026 (both drilled in 2011) was continuous. Hole 12LB0045 

reported a composite assay result of 30% total Fe over 191 m from 56.9 m depth including 34.3% total Fe over 22 m 

from 126 m depth. Rio Tinto inferred that the increased iron content in this subsection was due to goethite enrichment.  
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Drill hole 12LB0048 was completed to test the extension of a magnetic anomaly to the south of hole 11LB0032 

(drilled in 2011). The hole collared into hematite-rich mineralization with abundant goethite and limonite and 

contained a continuous mineralized interval of 32.8% total Fe over 70.16 m from 11.13 m depth. Rio Tinto inferred 

that some of the iron in this intersection could be attributed to goethite and limonite abundances. The assay results 

also detected deleterious pyrolusite and manganese, which produced increases in MnO. Below this interval, iron 

mineralization and associated Fe percentages fluctuated throughout the limonite dominated rocks with only a few 

individual 3 m samples reporting above 30% total Fe. 

Drill hole 12LB0051 was completed to the southwest of hole 11LB0026 (drilled in 2011) to test the southern extent 

of iron mineralization on the Labrador West Property. This drill hole provided valuable information on the structural 

characteristics within the Labrador West Property area with evidence of overturned strata and a precisely located thrust 

faulting plane. The hole intersected approximately 130 m of schist before entering oxide facies iron formation at 

approximately 192 m depth returning a composite assay interval of 28.1% total Fe over 33.7 m including 35.88% total 

Fe over 3.2 m at 221.8 m depth. The hole was completed in silicate facies iron formation with increasing grades. 

Drill hole 12LB0053 was completed in order to fill in a stratigraphic hole in the middle of a large magnetic anomaly 

and possibly extend iron mineralization encountered in hole 11LB0029. Hole 12LB0053 was abandoned at 31.03 m 

depth due to sand infilling the hole from above (poor ground conditions). The hole was collared in hematite-dominated 

oxide facies iron formation in a continuous interval of 27.61% total Fe over 19.53 m until it was abandoned. 

Drill hole 12LB0054 was completed as a twin hole to 12LB0053 after it was abandoned due to poor ground conditions. 

Hole 12LB0054 was also abandoned at 36.3 m depth due to sand infilling the hole from above. The hole collared into 

hematite-dominated iron formation in a continuous interval of 26.51% total Fe over 15.65 m until it was abandoned. 

Drill hole 12LB0055 was completed to a depth of 366 m as a twin hole to 12LB0053 and 12LB0054 that were both 

abandoned due to poor ground conditions. To avoid the problems with sand infilling that affected holes 12LB0053 

and 12LB0054, the casing for hole 12LB0055 was extended far into bedrock (35 m in total). The hole encountered 

hematite dominated iron formation with a composite interval of 27.1% total Fe over 254 m from 35 m depth (bottom 

of casing). The hole also intersected intermittent magnetite dominated iron formation and goethite/limonite rich 

intervals in a composite interval of 32% total Fe over 20.31 m from 180 m depth, and rare schist intervals of 25.2% 

total Fe over 51.63 m from 314 m depth.  

Structural interpretations of the project area by Rio Tinto suggested the geology is composed of intensely folded beds 

that dip to the southeast. However, Rio Tinto reported that correlation of lithological packages was difficult between 

drill holes due to abundant folding, and strong to intense alteration of the iron formation lithologies. Lithological units 

(facies) showed intense folding on a centimetre scale in core and suggested folding on a kilometre scale. Rio Tinto 

also noted significant variable alteration patterns that transected observed lithological layers in the core. The lack of 

easily identifiable stratigraphic markers coupled with abundant micro- and macro-folding and the spatially-variable 

intense alteration made it difficult to recognize repeated layers and folding patterns or decipher the scale of folding in 

the drill core. 

Rio Tinto also noted the generally accepted regional division of subunits within the Sokoman Iron Formation were 

difficult to distinguish in the core. This may have been due to core logging errors, or that the generally shallow holes 

made it difficult to discern the differences between Upper, Middle, and Lower Iron Formation units that have been 

defined on adjacent iron properties. Rio Tinto noted that identifying the three main iron formation facies types in drill 

core (i.e. oxide, carbonate, or silicate) was possible except in cases were alteration had obscured these facies types. 

Rio Tinto concluded that discovering an iron ore deposit in the area with the necessary grade and tonnage to 

economically mine includes identifying areas where structural controls such as folding and/or faulting have upgraded 
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thinner mineralized units into a mineable package thickness. Finding these zones requires further interpretation of 

gravity, magnetic, and drill core data, and additional diamond drilling. 

Rio Tinto Metallurgical Testing Program 

In September 2012, Rio Tinto sent 10 composite samples from drill holes 11LB0026, 11LB0027, 11LB0029 and 

11LB0030 to SGS Laboratories in Lakefield for metallurgical testing. The program consisted of: 

▪ Head assays on each composite sample including WRA, S, ICM-90A and C. 

▪ Heavy liquid separation at 3.32 g/cm3 on material ground at 100% passing 20 mesh, 28 mesh, 35 mesh, 60 

mesh and 100 mesh respectively with WRA and C on the sink fraction only. 

▪ Davis tube testing at 100% passing 60 mesh, 100 mesh, 200 mesh, 270 mesh, 325 mesh and 400 mesh 

respectively with WRA and C on magnetic fraction only. 

In addition, WRA and C was conducted on non-magnetic fraction for 60 mesh, 100 mesh and 200 mesh, SPI testing 

on half core samples, and bond ball mill grindability testing on half core samples. 

Metallurgical test results indicated the following for the iron ore samples collected in the project area: 

▪ Heavy Liquid Separation (HLS): a moderate to high iron grade, moderate to low contaminant concentrate 

could be achieved using solely HLS separation at a relatively coarse grind size, but weight and iron recoveries 

are low. 

▪ Davis Tube Recovery (DTR): a high iron grade, low contaminant concentrate could be achieved using solely 

magnetic separation, at a relatively coarse grind size, but weight and iron recoveries were extremely low. 

▪ Fine grinding: the BWI results to date indicate that the Labrador West Iron deposit is considered “medium” 

to “hard”, and approximately a median BWI hardness in the SGS database. The BWI results showed limited 

variability between the five samples tested. 

▪ Coarse grinding: The SPI results showed the Labrador West Property firmly in the bottom quartile of SPI 

hardness in the SGS database. The SPI results showed moderate variability between the five samples tested. 

▪ Although preliminary in nature, Rio Tinto considered the metallurgical program results to be positive with 

respect to potential for production of high-quality, low impurity concentrate at reasonable grind sizes.  

Historical Mineral Resource and Past Production 

To date no historical mineral resource has been completed for the Labrador West Property. No historical mining 

activity of any sort has taken place within the area covered by the Labrador West claims.    

Geological Setting and Mineralization 

Regional Geology  

The Labrador Trough consists of Paleoproterozoic (2.17 to 1.87 Ga) sedimentary and volcanic rocks, which extend 

along the eastern margin of the Archean Superior Craton to Ungava Bay. The Labrador Trough forms the western part 

of a larger orogenic belt called the New Québec Orogen. In southwestern Labrador, the Labrador Trough extends into 

the younger Grenville Province, where the sedimentary rocks were deformed and metamorphosed ca. 1.0 Ga. The 

western boundary of the Labrador Trough is the basal unconformity between Paleoproterozoic sedimentary rocks and 

the Archean basement. To the east, it is bounded by allochthonous deep water sedimentary and volcanic rocks, 

possibly derived from an oceanic realm. The sedimentary sequence of the Labrador Trough, termed the Kaniapiskau 

Supergroup, consists of the Knob Lake Group in the western part of the Trough including the project area. The 

Kaniapiskau Supergroup is interpreted to include a lower rift-related sequence and an upper transgressive sequence 
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that progresses from shelf sediments at the base through deep water turbidites and into shallow marine and terrestrial 

rocks at the top. 

Iron ore deposits in the Labrador Trough are hosted in the Sokoman Formation (within the Knob Lake Group), which 

sits toward the top of the shelf sequence, above a thick package of shale, dolostones, and siliciclastic rocks (Figure 4). 

The Sokoman Formation consists of a 30–170-m-thick sequence of cherty iron-rich sediments, and is continuous for 

250 km from Labrador City to Schefferville; it also continues into Québec in both directions, and is one of the most 

extensive iron formations on Earth. North of the Grenville Province, the stratigraphic sequence is largely intact, and 

the position and distribution of the Sokoman Formation is very predictable. Parts of this area experienced low-grade 

(greenschist facies) metamorphism and open to tight folding, but in the western foreland, the rocks are gently dipping 

and essentially undisturbed. In the southern part of the Labrador Trough, the rocks are highly metamorphosed and 

complexly folded, but the essential stratigraphy of the Kaniapiskau Supergroup remains discernable, albeit structurally 

disrupted. The productive unit in this area is locally known as the Wabush Iron Formation, but it is directly equivalent 

to the Sokoman Formation to the north. 

Figure 4: Geological Map of the Labrador Trough  
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Source: Wardle, R J et al. Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, Department of Mines and Energy, Geological Survey, 

Open File LAB/1226 Version 1.0, 1997. 

Property Geology 

In the Labrador West project area, the Sokoman Formation is informally divided into three iron formation lithofacies 

or “facies types” characterised by different mineralogy and textures. These lithofacies are not exclusive and there can 

be some overlap in mineral assemblages. Iron formations present in the project area are known to be very 

heterogeneous and bands with very different composition and mineralogy can occur at the sub-millimetre scale. 

Oxide Facies Iron Formation  

The oxide facies is dominated by iron oxide iron minerals such as hematite and magnetite plus quartz (chert). There 

may be accessory carbonates (calcite or dolomite), silicates, and, rarely, manganese oxides or carbonates. Hematite 

and magnetite have a tendency to be easily recovered and beneficiated to high purity concentrates and are therefore 

the most desirable iron mineralogy. Manganese is an undesirable element, and its mineral deportment may have major 

impacts on metallurgy. In the southern Labrador Trough, original manganese oxides may have reacted with quartz to 

form rhodonite or carbonates to form kutnahorite during high-grade regional metamorphism. 

Carbonate Facies Iron Formation  

The carbonate facies iron formation consists of quartz (chert) and iron-rich carbonate. In the project area, the carbonate 

is of variable grainsize and light to dark grey in colour and commonly weathers to a distinctive reddish-brown colour. 

Composition appears to vary from almost pure siderite to ferroan dolomite. Quartz is generally white and recrystallised 

but in places may be cherty and almost black on freshly broken surfaces. Rocks are generally thinly-banded, with 

layers usually ranging from a few millimetres to several centimetres. Thicker banding appears to be associated with 

proximity to oxide facies iron formation and in places carbonate and quartz-rich bands may be up to tens of centimetres 

thick. Some of the fine banding may be developed by transposition, especially in high-strain zones, but some is related 

to relict bedding and it can be difficult to distinguish between the primary and tectonic fabrics in small outcrops. 

As a chemically intermediate type, carbonate iron-formations may grade into, or be interbedded with each of the other 

iron formation facies. The usual transitions are to complex silicate-magnetite-carbonate-quartz rocks, interpreted to 

represent original quiet-water, more micritic environments. Reaction of carbonates and silicate species to fibrous 

tremolite and other silicate species (quartz+pyroxene+amphibole+garnet) appears to occur with increasing grade of 

metamorphism, especially in original, finely laminated lithofacies that have been more highly deformed. However, 

there are enclaves where quartz-carbonate assemblages are preserved, presumably where CO2 could not escape from 

the system. 

Silicate Facies 

In the project area, silicate-rich iron formation facies are typically thin- to medium-banded with quartz-rich bands 

from millimetres up to several centimetres thick. Outcrops vary in colour from brown to grey. Fibrous amphiboles 

such as grunerite are common in some areas. Elongate silicate grains often define pronounced stretching lineation in 

high strain zones. Magnetite content is highly variable. Locally magnetite may occur in semi-massive bands up to 

several centimetres thick. Silicate facies lithology codes were used for any metre scale rock units where silicate and 

carbonate appear to comprise 10-30% of the interval.  Iron oxides may be present as interlayering in these intervals 

comprising from 10-20% of the interval.    

In southwestern Labrador including the project area, the Labrador Trough extends into the younger Grenville Province, 

where the sedimentary rocks were highly metamorphosed and complexly folded during the Trans-Hudsonian and 

Grenvillian orogenies. Although metamorphosed and deformed, the essential stratigraphy of the sedimentary rocks 

remains discernable in the Labrador City/Wabush area (Figure 5).  
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The Sokoman Formation falls within the Kaniapiskau Supergroup and has been subdivided into three members (Figure 

6). The lower part of the Sokoman Formation (Lower Iron Formation) consists largely of a carbonate-silicate facies 

with some magnetite. This grades upward into an oxide facies with abundant coarse-grained hematite and/or magnetite 

and sugary textured quartz (Middle Iron Formation). These oxide-rich beds are the most important economically, with 

iron-rich layers and lenses commonly containing more than 50% hematite and magnetite. The upper part of the 

Sokoman Formation (Upper Iron Formation) is a carbonate-silicate facies with minor oxides. The Sokoman Formation 

is underlain by quartzites of the Wishart Formation. The overlying rocks (Menihek Formation) consist largely of 

graphitic, chloritic, and micaceous schists. 

The lower part of the Sokoman Formation consists largely of iron silicates and siderite, with some disseminated 

magnetite. This grades upward into a sequence of thick, massive beds of grey to pinkish chert and iron-oxide-rich 

beds. These iron oxide-rich beds are the most important economically, with iron-rich layers and lenses commonly 

containing more than 50% hematite and magnetite. The upper part of the Sokoman Formation is comprised of dull 

green to grey or black massive chert that contains ferruginous carbonates but is relatively iron-poor. The Sokoman 

Formation is interbedded in places with mafic volcanic rocks of the Nimish Formation and is underlain by quartzites 

of the Wishart Formation. The iron rich units on the Labrador West Property are thought to sit mostly within the 

Middle Sokoman Formation with most holes ending in the Wishart Formation quartzites. The overlying rocks 

(Menihek Formation) consist largely of black shales and slates that record a sudden deepening of the basin.  

Regional Structure and Metamorphism 

As described above, two major episodes of deformation are recognized in the Labrador Trough; the Hudsonian 

Orogeny (~1,750 to 1,800 Ma) and the major deformation and thermal re-working events of the Grenvillian Orogeny 

(~1,200 to 1,100 Ma). In the northern part of the Labrador Trough (Schefferville northwards), regional NW-trending 

folds and thrusts are ascribed to the early Hudsonian Orogeny with less impact from the Grenvillian Orogeny.  

The Labrador West Property is located within the Gagnon Terrane, a Grenvillian foreland-directed, metamorphic fold-

thrust belt that carried Paleoproterozoic metasediments and part of their Archean crystalline basement in a generally 

north-northwest-directed thrust movement onto the Superior province foreland. The most obvious structural elements 

are a major series of NE-striking, NW-verging folds and thrusts, resulting from complex and polyphase deformation 

and metamorphism, with complex local structural regimes within the developing stack of brittle-ductile thrust sheets. 

It is not clear whether deformation shifted progressively with time or was pulsed in discrete episodes, but at least three 

major deformation phases can be recognized. Overall, the deformation is considered synkinematic with major 

metamorphism and granitic intrusions that increases in intensity to the south and east.  
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Figure 5: Property Geology Map for the Labrador West Property  

 
Source: Wardle, R J et al. Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, Department of Mines and Energy, Geological Survey, 

Open File LAB/1226 Version 1.0, 1997.  
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Figure 6: Stratigraphy of the Kaniapiskau Supergroup and Sokoman Formation (after Zajac, 1974) 

 

 

Deposit Types 

The iron formation within the Labrador Trough and project area is of the Lake Superior-type. Lake Superior-type iron 

formations consist of banded sedimentary rock composed principally of bands of iron oxides, predominantly magnetite 

and hematite, within quartz (chert)-rich rock interbedded with variable amounts of silicate, carbonate and sulphide 

lithofacies iron formation. Such iron formations have been the principal sources of iron throughout the world. Table 

5 indicates the general characteristics of the Lake Superior-type iron deposit model. 

All iron ore deposits in the Labrador Trough formed as chemical sediments that were lithified and variably affected 

by alteration and metamorphism. This had important effects upon grade, mineralogy and grain size, which impacts 

the mineability of iron-ore deposits. In addition, faulting and folding led to repetition of sequences in many areas, 

which greatly increases the surface extent and mineable thicknesses of the iron-ore deposits.  

The three main types of iron-ore deposits present in the Labrador Trough include: 

Taconites: These are present throughout the Labrador Trough and are comprised of fine-grained, unmetamorphosed 

or weakly metamorphosed sedimentary iron formations (15 to 30% Fe), with magnetite as the dominant iron-ore 

mineral. None are presently mined in the Labrador Trough, although they are important sources for iron ore elsewhere 

(e.g., Minnesota). 

Meta-taconites: These are present in the southern part of the Labrador Trough, especially in the Labrador City-

Wabush area, including within the Labrador West Property. They have been moderately to strongly metamorphosed 
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during the Grenville orogeny at ca. 1.0 Ga, and are coarse grained with specular hematite, granular magnetite and 

friable quartz. The grade of these iron-ore deposits is generally higher than unmetamorphosed taconites (up to 41% 

Fe). They are easily beneficiated into iron concentrates (approximately 65% Fe), which are ideal for pellet production. 

Direct Shipping Ores (DSO): These are secondary iron ores containing >50% Fe that formed from the enrichment 

of primary taconites. Such iron ores require minimal beneficiation and have very low mining costs. Two main types 

of DSO deposits have been described in the Labrador Trough. Soft, friable, fine-grained, variably porous deposits 

occur mostly in the Schefferville District of Quebec and may be related to deep groundwater circulation and supergene 

enrichment associated with Mesozoic (Cretaceous) tropical climates. Specifically, silica and carbonate were leached 

from the ores, leaving a high residual iron content. Hard DSO deposits occur in several locations, including Sawyer 

Lake and Astray Lake southeast of Schefferville, Quebec. 

The iron deposits in the Grenville part of the Labrador Trough in the vicinity of Wabush and Mont-Wright that have 

been developed through mines operated by IOC (Rio Tinto), ArcelorMittal, and Cliffs Natural Resources ("Cliffs") 

(Wabush Mine) are meta-taconites. The Bloom Lake iron deposit being mined by Champion is also a meta-taconite. 

The iron formation within the Labrador West Property area is similarly Lake Superior-type meta-taconite. 

For non-supergene-enriched iron formation to be mined economically, iron oxide content must be sufficiently high, 

but the iron oxides must also be amenable to concentration (beneficiation). The concentrates produced must also be 

low in deleterious elements such as silica, aluminum, phosphorus, manganese, sulphur and alkalis. Additionally, for 

efficient bulk mining, the undesirable silicate and carbonate lithofacies and other rock types interbedded within the 

iron formation must be sufficiently segregated from the iron oxides at scales appropriate for exclusion through the 

mining method being applied.  Folding can be important for structurally repeating iron formation units. This is an 

important contributing factor at various locations within the currently producing sections of the Labrador Trough, 

where thick sections comprised of economic concentrations of iron have been the direct result. 

Table 5: Deposit Model for Lake Superior-Type Iron Formation (after Eckstrand, 1984) 

Criteria Description 

Deposit Examples: Canadian and 

Foreign 

Knob Lake, Wabush Lake, and Mont-Wright areas, Quebec and Newfoundland and 

Labrador, Canada 

Mesabi Range, Minnesota, USA 

Marquette Range, Michigan, USA 

Minas Gerais area, Brazil 

Importance Canada: the major source of iron 

World: the major source of iron 

Typical Grade, Tonnage Up to billions of tonnes, at grades ranging from 15 to 45% Fe, and averaging 30% Fe. 

Geological Setting Continental shelves and slopes possibly contemporaneous with offshore volcanic ridges. 

Principal development in Middle Precambrian shelf sequences marginal to Archean 

cratons 

Host Rocks or Mineralized Rocks Iron formations consist mainly of iron and silica-rich beds; common varieties are taconite, 

itabirite, banded hematite quartzite, and jaspilite; composed of oxide, silicate and 

carbonate facies and may also include sulphide facies. Commonly intercalated with other 

shelf sediments: black 

Associated Rocks Bedded chert and chert breccia, dolomite, stromatolitic dolomite and chert, black shale, 

argillite, siltstone, quartzite, conglomerate, red beds, tuff, lava, volcaniclastic rocks; 

metamorphic equivalents of the preceding rock types  
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Criteria Description 

Form of Deposit, Distribution of 

Ore Minerals 

Mineable deposits are sedimentary beds with cumulative thicknesses typically from 30 m 

to 150 m and strike lengths of several km. In many deposits, repetition of beds caused by 

isoclinal folding or thrust faulting has produced widths that are economically mineable. 

Iron mineral distribution is largely determined by primary sedimentary deposition. 

Granular and oolitic textures are common 

Minerals: Principal Ore Minerals 

- Associated Minerals 

Magnetite, hematite, goethite, pyrolusite, manganite, hollandite. 

Finely laminated chert, quartz, Fe-silicates, Fe-carbonates and Fe-sulphides (primary) or 

metamorphic derivatives of the preceding rock types 

Age, Host Rocks Precambrian, predominantly early Proterozoic (2.4 to 1.9 Ga). 

Age, Iron Ore Syngenetic, same age as host rocks. In Canada, major deformation during Hudsonian and, 

in places Grenvillian orogenies produced mineable thicknesses of iron formation 

Genetic Model A preferred model invokes chemical, colloidal and possibly biochemical precipitates of 

iron and silica in euxinic to oxidizing environments, derived from hydrothermal effusive 

sources related to fracture systems and offshore volcanic activity. Deposition may be 

distal from effusive centers and hot spring activity. Other models derive silica and iron 

from deeply weathered land masses, or by leaching from euxinic sediments. Sedimentary 

reworking of beds is common. The greater development of Lake Superior-type iron 

formation in early Proterozoic time has been considered by some to be related to increased 

atmospheric oxygen content, resulting from biological evolution          

 
Ore Controls, Guides to 

Exploration 

Distribution of iron formation is reasonably well known from aeromagnetic surveys. 

Oxide facies is the most economically important of the iron formation facies. Thick 

primary sections of iron formation are desirable. Repetition of favorable beds by folding 

or faulting may be an essential factor in generating widths that are mineable (30 to 150 

m). Metamorphism increases grain size, improves metallurgical recovery. 

Metamorphic mineral assemblages reflect the mineralogy of primary sedimentary facies. 

Basin analysis and sedimentation modeling indicate controls for facies development and 

help define location and distribution of different iron formation facies. 

Exploration 

The Company did not complete any exploration work on the Labrador West Property prior to the diamond drilling 

program carried out in 2020. Refer to the “Drilling” section below for details on the 2020 diamond drilling program. 

Drilling 

Overview 

The Company completed a diamond drilling program between July 26, 2020 and September 3, 2020 focused on the 

iron deposits defined by previous drilling within the Labrador West Property. The diamond drilling program was 

supervised by report author Alan Philippe, P. Geo., (Mercator Senior Project Geologist) and comprised four diamond 

drill holes totalling 999.5 m. The diamond drilling program was designed to test the lithological and grade continuity 

between several widely spaced historical Rio Tinto diamond drill holes completed between 2010 and 2012 (refer to 

Section 6 for details). Table 10-1 and Figure 10-1 indicate the location of diamond drilling holes completed in 2020 

within the Labrador West project area.  
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Table 6: Summary of Labrador West Diamond Drilling Program 

Hole No. Easting 

NAD83 

(m) 

Northing 

NAD83 

(m) 

Azimuth 

(deg.) 

Dip 

(deg.) 

Total Depth 

(m) 

Start Date 

D/M/Y 

End Date 

D/M/Y 

20LB0056* 650609 5895214 341.0 -80 128 7/28/2020 8/3/2020 

20LB0057 650850 5895414 340.8 -80 347 8/4/2020 8/13/2020 

20LB0058* 651068 5895589 339.6 -80 190 8/13/2020 8/18/2020 

20LB0059 650631 5895442 339.8 -80 334.5 8/19/2020 9/2/2020 

Total metreage (m) 999.5 m   

Notes: 

(1) Collar locations were surveyed using a handheld Garmin 64s GPS unit and are reported in UTM NAD83 Zone 19N.  
(2) True widths are estimated to be approximately 90% of the reported intervals. 

(3) Core drilling program using NQ diameter drilling rods . 

(4) *Holes were stopped in mineralization due to poor ground conditions. 

 

The 2020 diamond drilling program was undertaken using a CDI 500 heli-portable diamond drilling rig provided by 

Cartwright Drilling Inc. (“Cartwright”) of Happy Valley – Goose Bay, NL. The drilling rig was broken down into 

numerous components weighing less than 900 kilograms (approx. 2,000 lbs) and flown by a Eurocopter AS350 B2 

helicopter to the drill pad site where it was re-assembled. This program was completed using wireline drilling 

equipment that recovered NQ size (47.6 mm diameter) core. The depth capacity of the equipment used is 

approximately 500 metres using NQ rods at hole inclinations between -90° and -45°.  

Drill holes described in this report were located on Crown land owned by the Province of Newfoundland and Labrador. 

Completed drill holes depths ranged from 128 m to 347 m in drilled length. Due to poor local ground conditions core 

loss occurred in certain drill holes. Zones of poor recovery correlate with possibly faulted areas and also with otherwise 

broken and friable rock units. Within such zones issues related to the use of excess water pressure, ineffective use of 

drilling additives, grinding of core, and the re-drilling of core that had dropped from the core barrel commonly 

occurred. 

Figure 7: Location of High Tide Labrador West Diamond Drill Holes  
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Core loss was documented during geotechnical logging as well as in every sample record comment where loss for a 

sampled interval exceeded 50 cm. Drill holes were spotted using a Garmin 64s global positioning system (GPS) hand-

held instrument using UTM NAD83 Zone 19N coordination. All drill pads were cleaned of any debris after completion 

of drilling activities and remain clearly visible at this time. Future surveying of hole locations using more accurate 

positioning methods can be readily undertaken. 

Labrador West 2020 Diamond Drilling Program Details  

The following summarizes the geology and mineralization for each of the four diamond drill holes completed on the 

Labrador West Property in 2020. Generally, overburden thickness varied from 1.8 m to 10 m and drilling confirmed 

that the bedrock sequences are predominantly comprised of thick (typically >50 m) lenses of massive specular 

hematite (HMOX) containing relatively thin (10-20 m) interbedded intervals of variably altered silicate and /or 

carbonate facies iron formation. All four holes intersected high grade intervals of total iron (Total Fe) dominated by 

HMOX. This is consistent with results returned for the four Rio Tinto holes completed previously in the immediate 

area of the 2020 drilling. The highest-grade interval using a 15% Total Fe cut-off is 35.3% Total Fe over 25.7 m in 

20LB0056, beginning at a downhole depth of 31.5 m. The thickest composite intercept using the same 15% cut-off is 

26.8% Total Fe over 321.5 m, beginning at a downhole depth of 1.8 m in 20LB0059.  

A summary of the Labrador West Property significant composite assay results appears in Table 7 below and Figure 8 

presents a typical cross section through the mineralized stratigraphic section present in the drilling area. True widths 

for the sections drilled are estimated to be approximately 90% of measured sample interval thicknesses. The 

stratigraphic section containing the iron mineralization of interest is interpreted to be dipping gently to the southeast 

at less than 5 degrees. A summary of the main lithologies encountered in each drill hole appears below under the 

heading “Labrador West 2020 Diamond Drill Hole Summary Descriptions” and Table 10-3 describes the lithocoding 

system used during the 2020 core logging program.  

Table 7: Significant Composite Assay Intervals For 2020 Labrador West Diamond Drilling Program 

Hole ID From (m) To (m) Interval (m) Total Fe (%) Recovery (%) 

20LB0056 31.5 57.2 25.7 35.3 35 

20LB0056 68.0 128.0 60.0 33.8 66 

20LB0057 23.3 338.0 314.7 29.6 74 

20LB0058 4.5 120.2 115.7 26.9 100 

20LB0058 132.8 190.0 57.2 31.0 91 

20LB0059 1.8 323.3 321.5 26.8 70 

Notes: 

(1) Assay composites are reported using a 15% Total Fe cut-off grade.  

(2) Minimum composite length = 10 m. 

(3) Maximum consecutive waste interval = 10 m. 

(4) Composite assay intervals shown are measured core lengths and true widths are estimated to be approximately 90% of the reported intervals. 

The Company and its geological consultants are not aware of any drilling, sampling, recovery or other factors that could materially affect the 

accuracy or reliability of the assay data disclosed herein. Sample recoveries vary from 3% to 100% and samples were constrained to a 

minimum of 30 cm of rock volume. Sample sizes averaged 2 metres with more constrained sampling as deemed necessary by the logging 
geologist. Recoveries were estimated for composite intervals using geotechnical information recorded at time of logging. 

(5) Composites may include minor low grade or unmineralized silicate facies iron formation units that are less than 10m in down hole length. 

(6) True widths are estimated to be ~ 90% of total composite intervals reported.  
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Figure 8: Cross Section of Labrador West Drill Holes With Significant Composite Assay Intervals (View to 

Northwest) 
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Table 8: Lithology Coding for Labrador West Diamond Drilling Program 

 

Notes: Carb = carbonate facies; Sil = silicate facies; Mag = magnetic susceptibility; non = nonmagnetic, var = variable   

Code Description Fe Oxide Carb Sil Mag

AMPH

amphibolite; gabbro. May have garnet and biotite but little 

quartz. Pyrite if present is typically in this unit. <10%

GSBA

Gneiss; granular massive texture; feldspar and quartz rich; 

variable mica

CAHM

Quartz-carbonate-hematite; Fe Oxides <10%; carbonate >10%; 

silicates <10%; weakly to non-magnetic (Mag susc <200x10-3).

<10% <10% low

CAMT

Quartz-siderite (carbonate unreactive to 10% acid). Fe Oxides 

<10%; Carb>20%; Silicates <10%; weakly magnetic (Mag susc 

<200x10-3).

<10% >20% <10% low

CARB

Quartz-siderite (carbonate unreactive to 10% acid). Fe Oxides 

<10%; Carb >10%; Silicates <10%; non-magnetic (Mag suc <3x10-

3)

>10% <10% non

CMBL

Granular carbonate>quartz rock; quartz <50%. Carbonate likely 

to be HCl reactive.

FMSC Feldspar>mica>quartz rock

FQTE Feldspar>quartz>mica rock

GLOX

Goethite-limonite>silicate-carbonate; Fe oxides >10%; silicate 

and carbonates variable
>10%

HMOX

Quartz-hematite>magnetite (martite); Fe oxides >10%; 

carbonate and silicates <10%; weakly to non magnetic (Mag 

susc <200x10-3).

>10% <10% <10% low

MHOX

Quartz-hematite-magnetite (martite); Fe oxides >10%; 

carbonate and silicates <10%; moderately magnetic (Mag susc 

200-500x10-3)

>10% <10% <10% mod

MNOX

MT or HM-rich oxide faces with distinctive pink colour due to 

Mn silicates and carbonates

MTCA

Quartz-carbonate-magnetite; Fe Oxides >10%; carbonate 

>10%; silicates <10%; magnetic (Mag susc >200x10-3)
>10% >10% <10% mod

MTOX

Quartz-magnetite>hematite-carbonate; Fe oxides >10%; 

carbonate and silicates <10%; strongly magnetic (Mag susc 

>500x10-3).

>10% <10% <10% high

MTSI

Quartz-magnetite-silicate; Fe oxides >10%; carbonates <10%; 

strongly magnetic (Mag susc >200,000)
>10% <10% v high

QMHT

Lean quartz-magnetite-hematite; little to no silicate or 

carbonate; Fe oxides present but <10%; weakly to non-

magnetic (Mag susc <200x10-3).

low

QTEC

Granula quartz>carbonate rock; quartz>50%. Carbonate likely 

to be HCl reactive.

QTEF Quartz dominated rock with feldspar as main accessory

QTEM

Quartzite or quartz dominated rock with micas as main 

accessory

SCAM

Amphibole-rich schist; dark green or blueish green in colour; 

often with biotite and garnet

SCGP

Graphitic schist; varies from almost massive graphite to finely 

banded graphitic mica schist

SCGT

Garnet-rich schist; garnet >10%; mica and qtz-rich; may be 

grahpitic or have some Fe silicates.

SCMI

Micaceous schist-muscovite/biotite rich; quartz and feldspar 

vary up to >70%; feldspar; quartz etc to be specific in 

comments.

SICA

Quartz-silicate-carbonate; carbonates variably reactive to acid; 

Fe Oxides <10%; Carb >10%; Silicates >10%; variably magnetic.

<10% >10% >10% var

SIGT

Quartz-silicate>carbonate-garnet >10%; Fe oxides <10%; 

common garnet; silicates >10%; carbonate <10%; non-magnetic 

(Mag susc <3x10-3).

<10% <10% >10% non

SILI

Quartz-silicate>carbonate; Fe oxides <10%; silicates >10%; 

carbonate <10%; non-magnetic (Mag susc <2x10-3)
<10% <10% low

SIMT

Quartz-silicate-magnetite; Fe oxides <10%; carbonates <10%; 

weakly magnetic (Mag susc <200x10-3).
<10% <10% low

SCFB

Relog code: non-magnetic schist. Marker "spotty dog"? 

Abundant amphibole.

GLSI

Relog code: goethite + limonite and quartz. Highly weathered, 

incompetent core. Silicate protolith.

GLCA Relog code: goethite +/- limonite. Likely SICA protolith.
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Labrador West 2020 Diamond Drill Hole Summary Descriptions 

Drill hole 20LB0056 

This hole had a planned depth of 350 m but terminated at a depth of 128 m due to poor ground conditions. Attempts 

to recover the hole were not successful. The hole was collared approximately 260 m east of Rio Tinto hole 11LB0027 

and was targeted as an infill hole to test continuity of iron mineralization between holes (Figure 7). The hole intersected 

predominantly iron formation rocks, including a thick section of massive specular hematite (HMOX lithocode) as well 

as thinner, interbedded sections of carbonate/silicate facies iron formation rocks with greater than 10% interbedded 

iron formation (oxide facies), plus goethite and limonite bearing intervals (GLOX, GLSI lithocodes). The hole also 

encountered a 6.8m thick silicate carbonate interval (QMHT lithocode), with a granular quartz matrix plus patchy 

ankerite, and minor goethite mineralization. Significant core loss was noted (approx. 90%) between 57.2 m and 68.2 

m and is noted in Figure 9.  

Figure 9: Cross Section of Drill Hole 20LB0056 (View to Northwest) 
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Drill hole 20LB0057 

This hole was drilled to a depth of 347 m and was collared 75 m north of Rio Tinto drill hole 11LB0027 (Figure 7). 

The top of the hole from 3 m to 12 m intercepted silicate facies iron formation (GLSI lithocode) with hematite and 

magnetite mineralization followed by a 11.3 m thick marker bed of biotite schist (SCAM lithocode) to a depth of 23.3 

m. The remainder of the hole was dominated by thick iron formation (HMOX, GLOX lithocodes) interlayered with 

minor silicate facies iron formation (GLSI lithocode) and a thin interval (< 10m) of a quartz rich unit (QMHT 

lithocode). The hole intersected quartzite of the Wishart Formation at a depth of 338 m and was shut down at 347 m 

(Figure 10).  

Drill Hole 20LB0058  

This hole had a planned depth of 350m but was terminated at a depth of 190m due to poor ground conditions. The 

hole was collared as an infill hole between Rio Tinto hole 11LB0030 in the northwest and High Tide hole 20LB0057 

in the southeast (Figure 7). The top of the hole, from 4.5 m to 120.2 m, was dominated by iron oxides (>10%) (MTCA, 

MTSI lithocodes) and minor thin silicate-quartz-carbonate iron formation, (SICA, SIMT lithocodes at <10%).  Iron 

oxides in these silicate units were mostly comprised of centimetre-scale magnetite bands (10-20% visual estimates).  

A 12.6 m think quartz-biotite schist (SCAM lithocode) was intersected from 120.2 m to 132.8 m. From 132.8 m to 

190 m the hole intersected magnetite rich iron oxides (MHOX lithocode), predominately quartz and specular hematite 

with 15-20% magnetite banding. Minor intercalated strongly altered goethite iron formation (GLOX lithocode) and 

thin quartz units (QMHT lithocode at <10m thicknesses) were also intersected within the predominantly oxide facies 

mineralization interval. The hole was terminated at 190m due to poor ground conditions (Figure 11).  

Drill hole 20LB0059  

This hole was targeted as a step-out infill hole located 225m east from High Tide hole 20LB0057 and Rio Tinto hole 

12LB0045 (Figure 7). The hole collared into bedrock at 1.8m and intersected a quartz rich unit (QMHT lithocode) to 

a depth of 20.2m, including a 4.9m interval of quartz-biotite rich schist (SCAM lithocode).  From 20.2m to 325.1m 

the hole was dominated by thick lenses of oxide facies iron formation with quartz, hematite, magnetite (HMOX, 

GLOX lithocodes) and a small 4m interval of interbedded quartz-silicate-carbonate (SILI lithocode).  Quartzite of the 

Wishart Formation was intersected at 325.1m and the hole was terminated at 334.5m (Figure 12).  

Cost of 2020 Core Drilling Program 

The total cost of the 2020 core drilling program on the Labrador West Property is approximately $700,000. This 

includes diamond drilling services and support services (i.e. helicopter costs), core logging and sampling, laboratory 

assay testing, and geological consulting costs. 
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Figure 10: Cross Section Drill Hole 20LB0057 (View to Northwest) 
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Figure 11: Cross Section Drill Hole 20LB0058 (View to Northwest) 
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Figure 12: Cross Section Drill Hole 20LB0059 (View to Northwest) 
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Sample Preparation, Analyses and Security 

Core Logging, Sampling and Sample Preparation   

Core from a total of 999.5 m of drilling was collected from the Labrador West Property diamond drilling program and 

logged, sampled, and tested for magnetic susceptibility (Mag Sus) using a KT-10 magnetic susceptibility meter. 

Geotechnical logging included recording of core box tags and calculation of total core recovery (TCR) and rock quality 

designation (RQD). Drill core was generally continuously sampled based on an average core sample length of 2 m 

through competent sections of core, and 1.5 m through iron oxide rich zones and incompetent sections of core. Larger 

sample intervals (>3 m) were also used in some instances and correspond to areas of significant core loss within the 

sample interval. Every sample had a water immersion specific gravity (SG) test performed (Figure 13). No bulk density 

samples were collected from rubbly core or strongly weathered core. All core was photographed both dry and wet, 

with digital images being securely stored on an Imago Incorporated (Imago) cloud-based server accessible to both 

High Tide and Mercator. Photos were also securely stored on the Mercator cloud-based server.  

Figure 13: Water Immersion Specific Gravity Station 

 

Core samples were sawn in half longitudinally using a VANCON 240-volt core saw (Figure 14). The core was cut in 

half so that the half retained in the box for archival purposes was that which contained the china marker writing applied 

during the logging process. The other half core for each sampled interval was placed into a numbered plastic sample 

bag along with a sample number tag and the bag was sealed using a zip tie. QAQC samples to be inserted in the 

sampling stream were prepared in advance. A paper sample tag corresponding to the sample number was placed inside 

the sample bag prior to sealing of the bag with the zip tie. The bagged core samples were grouped and then placed in 

labelled rice bags for shipment to the laboratory. Rice bags were placed on wooden pallets, shrink wrapped and 

delivered to the transport company Procam International Inc. (ProCam) located in Labrador City. Procam is a 

commercial shipping firm independent of High Tide, Avidian and Mercator. 
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Figure 14: Core Saw Setup 

 

Procam delivered the palleted core samples to Activation Laboratories Ltd. (Actlabs) in Ancaster, Ontario, where they 

were prepared and analyzed. Iron content was measured using the Lithium Metaborate fusion technique. Prior to 

fusion, the loss on ignition (LOI), which includes H2O+, CO2, S and other volatiles, is determined from the weight 

loss after roasting the sample. The fusion disk is made by mixing the roasted sample with a combination of lithium 

metaborate and lithium tetraborate. Samples are fused in Pt crucibles using an automated crucible fluxer and 

automatically poured into Pt molds for casting. Samples are analyzed on a Panalytical Axios Advanced wavelength 

dispersive XRF.  

Sample preparation at Actlabs was through the laboratory’s standard rock preparation protocol that begins with jaw 

crushing followed by pulverization of a sample split (250g) to generate a pulp having 95% passing 0.074 mm grain 

size.  
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Sample Analysis   

Iron content of core samples was determined at Actlabs using X-Ray Fluoresence (XRF) methods after lithium 

metaborate fusion of a sample pulp. As noted earlier, Actlabs is a commercial analytical services firm that is ISO 

17025 registered and CALA accredited. It is fully independent of High Tide, Avidian and Mercator.  

Prior to fusion, loss on ignition (LOI), which includes H2O+, CO2, S and other volatiles, was determined from the 

weight loss after roasting of the sample. The fusion disk was made by mixing the roasted sample with a combination 

of lithium metaborate and lithium tetraborate. Samples were fused in Pt crucibles using an automated crucible fluxer 

and automatically poured into Pt molds for casting. Samples were analyzed on a Panalytical Axios Advanced 

wavelength dispersive XRF.  

QAQC Program  

Program Summary 

The Company’s QAQC sample insertion rates were established by Mercator, with certified reference material prepared 

previously for the Company by Smee & Associates Consulting Ltd. of North Vancouver, BC, Canada used for both 

blanks and standards. These were inserted at a rate of every alternating 10th sample. Standards A, B, and C were 

selected in random order and inserted in the sample stream. A certified blank (referred to as Standard D) was also 

systematically inserted in the sample stream. Duplicate core splits were taken every 45th or 95th sample (or from a 

nearby core sample section more amenable to sampling). Standards and blanks were pre-made and blindly inserted 

into the core sample numbering sequence. Details of each insertion were recorded into the original sample booklet 

and then entered into the project digital database. Any out of sequence samples collected were identified by flagging 

tape inside the core box prior to cutting and also recorded in the original sample booklet and then the project digital 

database. Results of the QAQC program was monitored by Mercator on an on-going basis. As detailed below in 

Section 11.3.2, acceptable QAQC program results were returned for all of the 2020 drilling program analyses.   

QAQC Program Results 

The certified mean values for total iron (Total Fe) provided for the four certified reference materials provided by Smee 

and Associates Consulting Ltd. are presented in Table 9. Standards A, B and C were submitted as blind certified 

reference standards whereas Standard D, which has a much lower Fe content, was submitted as a blind blank sample. 

In total, 26 blind certified reference standards and 26 blind blank samples were submitted to Actlabs to be analyzed. 

Reference samples were systematically inserted into the laboratory sample shipment sequence by Mercator staff 

following the insertion procedure described above. Records of reference standard and blank insertions were 

maintained as part of the core sampling and logging QAQC protocols.  

Table 9: Certified Mean Total Fe % for Standards  

Reference Material Certified Mean Total Fe % Number of Samples Submitted 

Standard A 21.02 ± 0.25 8 

Standard B 20.35 ± 0.31 10 

Standard C 25.40 ± 0.22 8 

Standard D 4.31 ± 0.08 26 

 



 

53 

The Total Fe results for the three submitted reference standards are plotted in Figures 15 to 17. All Total Fe results 

for Standard A and Standard B fall within two standard deviations of the respective mean certified values and the 

majority of Total Fe results for Standard C also fall within two standard deviations of mean certified value. Standard 

A returned values averaging 21.05% Total Fe, or 0.2% above the mean certified value; Standard B returned values 

averaging 20.40% Total Fe, or 0.2% above the mean certified value; and Standard C returned values averaging 25.47% 

Total Fe, or 0.3% above the mean certified value. Only one sample of Standard C returned a value (25.74% Total Fe) 

slightly above the two standard deviations range. The time sequence represented by all reference standard analyses 

shows that results progressively trend from generally above certified mean values early in the program to slightly 

below mean values in the latter part of the program. However, this trend occurs largely within the two standard 

deviations control limits. A clear explanation for the trend is not readily apparent but it is not considered to have 

imparted a significant bias within the core data set. Further investigation of this trend is warranted.   

The Total Fe results for the submitted blank material (Standard D) are plotted in Figure 18. The Total Fe results for 

the blank samples are systematically high with only 6 of the 26 submitted blank samples returning values below the 

certified mean value. The average returned value is 4.38% Total Fe which is approximately 1.62% above the certified 

mean value for Standard D of 4.31 % +-.08%. Eight of the submitted blank samples returned values above two standard 

deviations of the certified mean value with the highest value being 4.63%, or approximately 7.42% above the certified 

mean value but still within the mean +/- 3 standard deviations limits for the blank sample material. Overall, results of 

the blank sample program are interpreted as indicating that sample preparation stage cross contamination is not a 

significant issue within the 2020 core sample dataset. However, spiking of results above the 2 standard deviations 

control limits is locally notable and should be investigated further to assess potential explanations for such results. 

Spiking could represent a non-systematic, low-level cross contamination effect but also might indicate heterogeneity 

within the volume of previously prepared blank sample material submitted for analysis.   

Figure 15: Standard A Sample Results for Total Fe (N= 8) 
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Figure 16: Standard B Sample Results for Total Iron (N= 10) 

 

 

Figure 17: Standard C Sample Results for Total Iron (N= 8) 
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Figure 18: Blank (Standard D) Sample Results for Total Iron (N= 26) 

 

The Company also carried out a duplicate quarter core and pulp check sampling program by summitting quarter core 

samples and by requesting Actlabs to create and analyze duplicate pulp splits on requested samples. This was done to 

check on laboratory precision during the 2020 diamond drilling program. A total of 5 duplicate analyses of quarter 

core and pulp splits were processed during the 2020 drilling program. Duplicate quarter core and pulp splits were 

systematically analyzed within the laboratory sample sequence to ensure at least one duplicate pulp was analyzed for 

every 95th sample. Total Fe results for duplicate – original pairs are presented in Figure 19 and 20. The correlation 

coefficient (R2) between the duplicate – original pairs for Total Fe is 1.00 and the distribution of the results group 

along the 1:1 equality line. While the dataset is limited in extent, the high correlation factor indicates that good 

precision exists for the Total Fe results.   
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Figure 19: Duplicate Quarter Core Duplicate Sample Results for Total Fe% (N = 5) 

 

Figure 20: Duplicate Pulp Split Sample Results for Total Iron (N = 5) 
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Authors’ Opinion on Sample Preparation, QAQC Protocols, and Analytical Methods  

The Technical Report authors are of the opinion that results of the various data validation program components 

discussed above indicate that industry standard levels of technical documentation and detail are evident in records of 

the exploration programs carried out by the Company to date on their exploration licences in Labrador West Property. 

Site visit field observations also show that lithological and other field attributes were being accurately recorded by 

field staff and that industry standard QAQC protocols were consistently applied from core logging and sampling to 

laboratory analysis for the 2020 diamond drilling program. Results of the 2020 core drilling QAQC program are 

interpreted as indicating that associated data are of acceptable quality.    

Data Verification 

Data verification procedures carried out by the Technical Report authors for the Labrador West Property consisted of 

three main components: (1) review of public record and internal source documents cited by the Company with respect 

to key geological interpretations, previously identified geochemical or geophysical anomalies, or historical drilling 

results that support the arguments for iron ore potential on the Labrador West Property; and (2) completion of various 

site visits to the immediate drilling area 11LB0027 and north eastern property area of historic hole 10LB001; and (3) 

validation of digital drilling files against source information such as laboratory reports and field data. During this 

verification process diamond drilling, core sampling, and QAQC procedures were observed to assess the relative 

quality of exploration data to be used for geological interpretation and modelling purposes.  

Several site visits were conducted, and no issues were identified that impact the findings and conclusions of this report. 

Technical Report author Alan Philippe completed a personal inspection (site visit) of the Labrador West Property 

between July 26th to September 3rd, 2020. This site visit was completed for the purposes of site inspection, ground 

truthing, review and supervision of active drilling activities (diamond drilling program) and to satisfy NI 43-101 

“personal inspection” requirements. During his personal inspection, Mr. Philippe visited the Labrador West Property 

and verified the geology, mineralization, local infrastructure, and accessibility into the project area for future 

exploration and drilling activities by the Company.  

During the site visit the report author completed the following tasks and inspections: 

• completion of diamond drilling program, core logging, and sampling  

• numerous site visits during drilling operations  

• field checking of historical drill holes, prospecting on the northeastern part of the property around historical 

drill hole 10LB0011. 

• reviewing four historical drill holes in the immediate area of the 2020 drilling program (11LB0027, 

11LB0029, 11LB0030, 12LB0045)  

• select quarter core samples were taken from each of the historical drill holes examined. 

The personal inspection completed by the Technical Report author Alan Philippe between July 26th to September 17th, 

2020, confirmed the following: 

• The 2020 drilling program was executed according to CIM Mineral Exploration Best Practice Guidelines. 

• Historical drill holes are in the approximate correct positions as recorded by Rio Tinto based on handheld 

GPS. 

 

In addition, based on a detailed review of the available historical rock and soil geochemistry data, geophysical data, 

past drilling programs, and QA/QC procedures, including exploration and drilling programs recently completed on 
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the Labrador West Property by Altius and Rio Tinto, the Technical Report author is satisfied this meets the data 

verification requirements under NI 43-101. The Company’s drilling program was designed according to CIM Mineral 

Exploration Best Practice Guidelines and no issues or fatal flaws were detected during the personal inspection. 

Mercator staff were responsible for data compilation and implementing the exploration program designed by the 

Company. Mercator staff also interpreted the data sets for drill targeting and modelling purposes using mining industry 

standards and CIM Mineral Exploration Best Practice Guidelines.  

Review of field procedures showed that a coordination error internal to the Company at the start of the 2020 drilling 

program resulted in drill holes 20LB0056 and 20LB0057 being completed at locations that did not optimize their 

distribution relative to the previously drilled historical drill holes and other planned 2020 holes. Notwithstanding this 

issue, both holes were completed within the property limits and provide good quality geological and analytical 

information that can be used by the Company to assess the property’s iron potential. The net effect of this factor was 

that spacing between these two holes and neighbouring historical holes was reduced from originally planned 

separations. 

Core review by Mercator staff during logging procedures identified that core loss from some cored sections is 

substantial. These intervals were clearly logged are readily apparent from the Total Core Recovery (TCR) values 

recorded in the core logs and drilling database. While localized, these intervals have greater uncertainty with respect 

to associated analytical results due to associated reduced core volumes and a potential sampling bias introduced by 

the core loss factor. Importantly, core loss is not considered to be an issue that pervasively affected the 2020 drilling 

program. Observed core loss levels are consistent with those recorded earlier for historical core drilling by Rio Tinto 

in the Labrador West Property area.   

Review of Supporting Documents and Assessment Reports 

The Technical Report authors obtained copies of relevant historical assessment work reporting as part of the data 

validation procedures. In addition, internal documents such as technical presentations summarizing exploration 

program results were also made available. Key aspects of this historical reporting are in part referenced in this technical 

report and were obtained through online searching of historic assessment reports available through the provincial 

government GeoAtlas interactive online database.  

Results of the reference documentation checking program showed that in all instances considered, digital and written 

records presented by the Company and Mercator accurately reflect content of referenced source documents. 

Review of Drilling Procedures and Data Results 

The Technical Report authors verified the data collection and QAQC procedures during the diamond drilling program 

in the field including collar locations, sampling procedures, and the insertion of certified standards, blanks, and 

duplicates. A complete validation of the geological and assay database was also completed including checking for 

overlapping intervals, missing collar data, negative widths, and results past the specified maximum depth in the collar 

table. Downhole survey data was checked for overlapping intervals, surveys beyond drill hole depths, duplicate entries, 

survey intervals past the specified maximum depth in the collar table and/or any abnormal dips and azimuths. There 

were no issues identified with the geological, collar, assay, and downhole survey records other than those issues 

identified above. 

The QAQC program applied to the 2020 core drilling program included submission of certified reference materials 

(standards), blank samples, quarter core duplicate samples and duplicate pulp split samples. Results of all programs 

were described previously in report section 11. As detailed in that report section, the report authors have interpreted 

the QAQC program results as indicating that analytical data for the 2020 drilling program are of acceptable quality.   
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Authors’ Opinion on Data Verification  

The Technical Report authors stated therein that they are of the opinion that results of the various data validation 

program components discussed above indicate that industry standard levels of technical documentation and detail are 

evident in records of the exploration programs carried out by the Company to date on their exploration licences in 

Labrador West Property. The site visit field observations show that lithological and other field attributes were 

accurately recorded by field staff and that industry standard QAQC protocols have been consistently applied for all 

aspects of the Company’s diamond drilling core sampling program.   

Adjacent Properties 

The Labrador West Property is located 20 km northeast of the Carol Lake iron ore mining operations (Carol Lake) 

operated by IOC. Labrador Iron Ore Royalty Corporation (LIORC), directly and through its wholly-owned subsidiary 

Hollinger-Hanna Limited, holds a 15.10% equity interest in IOC. LIORC receives a 7% gross overriding royalty and 

Hollinger-Hanna receives a 10 cent per tonne fee on all iron ore products produced and sold by IOC. The remaining 

major IOC shareholders include Rio Tinto (58.72%) and Mitsubishi Corporation (26.18%). 

The IOC iron ore deposits in the Carol Lake area occur as specular hematite and magnetite, generally in the ratio of 

65%:35% (LIORC, 2020). The mineral reserve and mineral resource deposits, with an average iron grade of 

approximately 38%, occupy the middle iron unit of the Sokoman Formation overlain by waste rock. The deposits are 

intricately folded and overturned. The iron ore mineral reserve and mineral resource deposits at Carol Lake are close 

to the surface and thereby facilitate open-pit mining. 

The total estimated iron ore mineral reserves and resources at the IOC Carol Lake mine operations as of December 

31, 2019, as disclosed by LIORC in its 2019 Annual Information Form. These were prepared in accordance with NI 

43-101 and the CIM Standards (2014) and are as follows: 

 Tonnes 
(in millions) 

Average Iron Ore Grade  
(Fe %) 

Mineral Reserves   

Proven Reserves 560 38.6 

Probable Reserves 693 38.1 

Total Proven and Probable Reserves 1,253 38.4 

Mineral Resources   

Measured Resources 151 40.9 

Indicated Resources 669 38.4 

Total Measured and Indicated Resources 820 38.8 

Inferred Resources 972 38.0 

Notes: 
(1) Source of information: Labrador Iron Ore Royalty Corporation (LIORC) Annual Information Form (AIF) for year-ended 

2019, dated March 5, 2020 and filed on SEDAR under LIORC. 

(2) Mineral Resources exclude Mineral Reserves. Mineral resources are reported on an in-situ basis and mineral reserves are 

reported on an as-mined (i.e. net of dilution and mining losses) basis. In-situ and as-mined material is reported on a dry 

basis. 

IOC has the nominal capacity to process up to 55 million tonnes of iron ore annually, and in 2019 a total of 43 million 

tonnes of iron ore was mined from three operating pits at Carol Lake (LIORC, 2020). IOC’s concentrating plant in 

Labrador City has a nominal capacity to produce approximately 23.3 million tonnes of iron ore concentrate per year, 



 

60 

depending on iron ore quality, for either direct shipping or as feed to IOC’s pellet plant. In 2019, approximately 19.0 

million tonnes of iron ore concentrate were produced by IOC (LIORC, 2020). 

Please note: the adjacent property discussed in this section contains broadly similar geology and structure to the 

Labrador West Property. However, the Technical Report authors have not independently verified the technical 

information for this adjacent property and information related to the adjacent property is not necessarily indicative of 

the mineralization potential on the Labrador West Property. Furthermore, the mineral resource and mineral reserve 

estimates completed by the owner of this adjacent property and disclosed above have not been verified by the 

Technical Report authors and are not necessarily indicative of the mineralization potential of the Labrador West 

Property. As per Section 2.4(a) of NI 43-101, the source and date of these mineral resource and reserve estimates have 

been disclosed in the Technical Report. 

Interpretation and Conclusions 

Interpretations 

The Technical Report summarizes the results of the historical data compilation and 2020 core drilling program for the 

Labrador West Property. A total of four NQ-diameter diamond drill holes totaling 999.5 m were completed by the 

Company between July and September 2020 and were designed to test the lithological and iron grade continuity 

between several key and widely spaced historical Rio Tinto drill holes completed on the property from 2010 to 2012. 

The 2020 core drilling program intercepted rocks of the Sokoman Formation which can be informally divided into 

three iron formation lithofacies characterised by different mineralogy and textures. These three lithofacies are not 

exclusive and there is overlap in mineral assemblages. Iron formation facies present in this part of the Labrador Trough 

are known to be heterogeneous and bands with differing composition and mineralogy can occur at the sub-centimetre 

scale. Bedrock sequences encountered during the 2020 core drilling program are predominantly comprised of oxide 

facies iron formation units containing abundant specular hematite and/or magnetite that are variably interbedded with 

typically altered lithologies that assign to silicate and carbonate iron formation facies.  

Rio Tinto completed a total of 18 historical drill holes on the Labrador West Property and also completed LiDAR and 

airborne magnetic, electromagnetic, and gravity surveys. Based on results of these programs it was concluded that 

discovering an economically viable iron deposit in the area tested would require careful assessment of stratigraphic 

and lithological factors as well as structural factors such as folding and/or faulting that may have the effect of 

upgrading thinner mineralized units into structurally thickened, more economically attractive packages. The Technical 

Report authors are of the opinion that results of the 2020 core drilling program substantiate these conclusions. 

Discovering thick zones of predominantly oxide facies iron formation in the Labrador West Property area is of  highest 

priority and will require further interpretation of currently available core drilling, gravity, magnetic, and geological 

mapping data plus completion of additional core drilling in the area tested in most detail to date. The Technical Report 

authors have recommended completion of such continued programs below under the heading “Recommendations”. 

All four drill holes completed in 2020 by the Company intersected high grade intervals of predominantly oxide facies 

iron formation, with variably interbedded units of carbonate and silicates facies iron formation lithologies.  These 

results are directly comparable to the positive results returned previously for the four historical Rio Tinto drill holes 

that are located in the immediate area of the 2020 core drilling program.   

Conclusions 

Detailed evaluation of the historical Rio Tinto datasets and the 2020 core drilling results have resulted in the 

development of high priority targets for future drilling programs. Deposit infill drilling, deposit extension drilling and 

new target assessment drilling within the Labrador West Property area are all warranted at this time. To date, 

exploration has been focused on the assessment of the thickening of synclinal structures within the Labrador West 

Trough and this will continue to be an important exploration tool on Labrador West Property. The 2020 diamond 
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drilling results have defined substantial thicknesses and Total Fe grades for the areas drilled to date and these results 

correlate well with those for nearby Rio Tinto historical drill holes.  In combination, the associated drilling datasets 

are of sufficient quality and scope to contribute to a maiden mineral resource estimate for Labrador West Property 

prepared in accordance with NI 43-101 and CIM Standards (2014). 

The Technical Report authors noted they do not foresee any significant risks and uncertainties that could reasonably 

be expected to affect the reliability or confidence in the exploration information disclosed in the Technical Report.     

Recommendations 

As summarized above under the heading “Interpretation and Conclusions”, in 2020 the Company successfully drilled 

a part of its Labrador West Property. Results of this program are highly comparable to those of historical diamond 

drilling carried out in the area during the 2010-2012 period by Rio Tinto.  

The recommended Phase 1 program is comparable in content to the 2020 core drilling program and includes further 

infill diamond drilling in the main deposit area followed by preparation of a maiden Mineral Resource Estimate (MRE) 

for the Labrador West Property in accordance with NI 43-101 and the CIM Standards (2014).  

Phase 2 will be contingent on the results of Phase 1 drilling and will include additional infill drilling and drill core 

bulk sampling for metallurgical testing to determine mineralization quality, beneficiation attributes, deleterious 

element issues, and potential concentrate grades. The results from these drilling programs and bulk 

sampling/metallurgical testing would be incorporated into a Preliminary Economic Assessment (PEA) for the 

Labrador West Property. 

Table 10 below outlines the next phase of development for the Labrador West Property and the estimated costs 

associated with these programs. 

Table 10: Recommended Work Program Budget for Labrador West Property 

Phase 1 Task Estimated Cost  

 

Diamond Drilling – deposit infill only (1,000 metres) $500,000 

Mineral Resource Estimate and NI 43-101 Technical Report $75,000 

Total  $575,000 

Phase 2 Task Estimated Cost  

 

Diamond Drilling – deposit extension and new target assessment (2,500 

metres) 
$800,000 

Metallurgical Testing $75,000 

Preliminary Economic Assessment (PEA) for Labrador West $150,000 

Coring bulk sampling plus follow up metallurgical testing study $100,000 

Total  $1,125,000 

Note: Phase 2 is contingent on the results of the Phase 1 program 
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USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS 

Proceeds 

In connection with the distribution of the Subscription Receipts, the Company raised an aggregate of $1,099,809.45. 

Management of the Company believes it has sufficient resources to continue operations for the next twelve months, 

in the absence of additional financing. 

The ROC Shares will be distributed to Avidian shareholders as a return of capital and accordingly, no proceeds will 

be received by the Company nor Avidian in respect of the distribution of ROC Shares.  

Total Available Funds 

As at December 31, 2021, the Company has net working capital of approximately $1,629,816, excluding the Escrowed 

Funds which amount to approximately $1,094,365. 

Principal Purposes 

The funds available will be used for the purposes listed below:  

Item Estimated Cost 

Complete Phase 1 work program on Labrador West Property(1) $575,000 

Estimated general and administrative expenses for 12 months $400,000 

Maintenance payments for the Labrador West Property  $20,000 

Access payments for the Labrador West Property  $5,000 

Reserve for contingencies and funding of Phase 2 work programs on Labrador West Property as 

recommended by the Qualified Person 

$1,724,181 

Total $2,724,181 

Notes: 
(1) See “MATERIAL PROPERTY – Recommendations”. 

 

The Company expects to incur approximately $400,000 in general and administrative costs on an annual basis to cover 

the expenses of operating as a public issuer over the next twelve (12) months. A breakdown of the estimated general 

and administrative costs for that period is as follows: 

Item Estimated Cost for Twelve Month Period 

Personnel & Board of Directors $270,000 

Legal & Audit Fees $30,000 

Investor Relations $80,000 

Transfer Agent & Regulatory Fees $20,000 

Total Estimated 12 Month General and Administrative Expenses $400,000 

The Company intends to spend its available funds as stated in this prospectus. There may be circumstances, however, 

where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary. 

Over the next twelve months, payments will be made to related parties as follows:  

• Steve Roebuck, Director, Interim CEO, President & VP Exploration of the Company, will receive 

consulting fees of $7,500 per month pursuant to the Roebuck Consulting Agreement; and  
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The Chief Financial Officer and each director sitting on the board of directors of the Company will receive 

compensation from the Company in the amount of approximately $1,000 per month.  

Other than the fees set forth above, the Company has no plans to provide fees or salaries to any of its named directors 

and officers over the next twelve (12) months. 

Total Other Funds Available 

There are no other funds available to the Company, other than as set out above.  

Unallocated Funds in Trust or in Escrow 

There are no unallocated funds in trust or in escrow.  

Negative Operating Cash Flow 

Since inception, the Company has had negative operating cash flow and incurred losses. The Company's negative 

operating cash flow and losses are expected to continue for the foreseeable future. The Company cannot predict when 

it will reach positive operating cash flow, if ever. Due to the expected continuation of negative operating cash flow, 

the Company will be reliant on future financings in order to meet its cash needs. There is no assurance that such future 

financings will be available on acceptable terms or at all. See “Risk Factors”. 

Business Objectives and Milestones 

The primary business objective of the Company is to explore and, if warranted, develop, iron and other mineral 

projects in Canada, with a concerted focus in the southern Labrador Trough region and specifically at the Labrador 

West Property. The Company’s principal focus in 2022 is to explore and, if warranted, develop the Labrador West 

Property. In the near term, planned activities at the Labrador West Property include the completion of Phase I 

recommended program set forth in the Technical Report.  

The Company expects to accomplish the following objectives or milestones using the total available funds:  

 Event Time Frame 

1. Complete the Listing of the Common Shares on the CSE   Q1 2022  

2. Complete Phase 1 work program on the Labrador West Property Q1 2022 – Q3 2022  

3. Complete Phase 2 contingent drilling on the Labrador West Property, if 

warranted 
Q3 2022 – Q4 2022  

 

For details on the expected costs of the Phase 1 work program and the Phase 2 contingent drilling, see “MATERIAL 

PROPERTY – Recommendations” and “USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS – Principal Purposes.”  

  

DIVIDENDS 

The Company has never declared or paid dividends since its incorporation and it does not foresee paying dividends in 

the near future. The Company currently intends to retain any future earnings to fund the development and growth of 

its business and will pay dividends and/or distributions, if any, in the future as the Board see fit. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Financial information in this Prospectus, unless otherwise indicated, is presented in Canadian dollars and 

derived from information contained in the Company’s financial statements and related notes thereto included 

in this Prospectus, which were prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

The following management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) includes financial information from, and should be 

read in conjunction with, the audited and unaudited financial statements and the notes thereto included in this 
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prospectus, as well as the disclosure contained throughout this Prospectus. This section may contain forward-looking 

information that involves risk, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors that could cause actual results, performance 

or achievements to differ materially from the results discussed or implied in such forward-looking information. See 

“Special Note Regarding Forward-looking Information”. 

Selected Financial Information 

The following table sets forth selected financial information with respect to the Company as at and for the years ended 

June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the six-month period ended December 31, 2021. The selected financial information has 

been derived from the audited financial statements of the Company for the financial periods indicated. The following 

should be read in conjunction with the said financial statements and related notes thereto, which are included in this 

Prospectus. 

 

 

Six-months ended 

December 31, 2021  

 

 

Year ended June 30, 2020  

 

Year ended June 30, 2021  

 

Total Revenue $nil $nil $nil 

Net Income (Loss) $(2,264,815) $(1,340,165) $(927,058) 

# Shares Outstanding 60,142,848 32,066,666 46,715,341 

Net Income (Loss) per Share 

(Basic) 
$(0.04) $(0.05) $(0.03) 

Net Income (Loss) per Share 

(Diluted) 
$(0.04) $(0.05) $(0.03) 

Total Assets $3,093,619 $789,173 $2,479,936 

Total Financial Liabilities $1,463,803 $1,210 $196,606 

Total Shareholder’s Equity $1,629,816 $787,963 $2,283,330 

 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

The following table sets out selected quarterly information for the eight most recently completed quarters, for which 

financial statements are included herein. 

 

Dec. 31, 

2021 

Sept. 30, 

2021 

June 30, 

2021 

March 31, 

2021 

Dec. 31, 

2020 

Sept. 30, 

2020 

June 30, 

2020 

March 31, 

2020 

Revenue $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 

Loss $2,000,335 $264,480 $43,510 $116,361 $96,271 $670,916 $(4,912) $59,344 

Loss per 

Share 

(Basic) 

$0.04 $0.00 $0.00 $0.01 $0.00 $0.02 $0.00 $0.00 

Loss per 

Share 

(Diluted) 

$0.04 $0.00 $0.00 $0.01 $0.00 $0.02 $0.00 $0.00 

 
Annual MD&A for the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

The following MD&A is dated as of the date of this Prospectus and discloses specified information up to that date. 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS. 
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For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board, considers the materiality of 

information. Information is considered material if: (i) such information results in, or would reasonably be expected to 

result in, a significant change in the market price or value of the Company’s Common Shares; or (ii) there is a 

substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in making an investment decision; or (iii) 

if it would significantly alter the total mix of information available to investors. Management, in conjunction with the 

Board, evaluates materiality with reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market sensitivity.  

Overall Performance 

The Labrador West Property is at an early stage of exploration. As such, the Company’s only source of funds is derived 

from the issuance of equity, plus whatever interest it may earn from cash balances and the investment of that portion 

of the proceeds of such equity issuances not otherwise immediately required for exploration purposes, in short-term 

investments and money market instruments. 

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded a net loss of $927,058 (2020 – $1,340,165). The decreased 

loss in fiscal 2021 was due to a decrease in exploration expenditures to $775,510 (2020 – $1,285,303).  However, 

there was an increase in corporate overhead costs to $151,548 (2020 – $54,862).  The decrease in exploration costs 

was the result of the Company incurring one-time acquisition costs for the Labrador West Property of $921,105 in 

fiscal 2020 compared to a recovery of $3,550 in fiscal 2021. Although property acquisition costs were significantly 

lower in fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020, there was significantly more evaluation expenditures in fiscal 2021 as 

the Labrador West Property had a total of $763,505 (2020 - $279,598) in evaluation expenditures.  The main reason 

for this increase can be attributed to the drill program performed in fiscal 2021. Additionally, the Company incurred 

evaluation expenditures of $159,587 (2020 - $nil) on its newly acquired Lac Pegma Property.  The majority of the 

expenditures that pertain to the Lac Pegma Property were incurred for a geophysics survey and services from 

geologists to compile historical data. 

On August 20, 2019, the Company entered into the Labrador West Option Agreement. See “DESCRIPTION OF THE 

BUSINESS – Three Year History”.  

Selected Annual Information 

See “MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS – Selected Financial Information”. 

Discussion of Operations 

The Company commenced operations on October 18, 2018. As the focus of management during the period from 

incorporation to the date hereof was on organizing the Company, negotiating with Altius, acquiring interest in the 

Licences and commencing exploration on the Labrador West Property, no revenues were realized. During this period, 

the Company completed various private placement financings and issued common shares to the founders of the 

Company.  

Pursuant to the Labrador West Option Agreement with Altius dated August 20th, 2019, the Company acquired an 

option to acquire a 100% title and interest to twenty-eight (28) mineral claims that comprises part of the Labrador 

West Property. Altius is the legal and beneficial owner of 100% of the mineral claims that comprise the Labrador 

West Option Agreement. The Company subsequently staked an additional seventy-one (71) mineral claims 

surrounding the Labrador West Property at the recommendation of Altius, which together with the original twenty-

eight (28) mineral claims make up the greater Labrador West Property. As the additional seventy-one (71) mineral 

claims fall within the Altius’ area of interest, they are subject to the terms of the Labrador West Option Agreement, 

and upon exercise of the Labrador West Option, will be subject to the Royalty Agreement. The Labrador West Option 

is exercisable by the Company until December 31, 2022.  

Pursuant to the Royalty Agreement dated August 20, 2019 between the Company and Altius Royalty, the Labrador 

West Property is subject to a 2.75% royalty payable by the Company to Altius Royalty on the following basis:  

(a) For all products and minerals other than Iron Ore, a net smelter royalty payable in perpetuity, which shall be 

calculated by multiplying the applicable Royalty Rate in effect for such period by the amount of all net 

smelter returns attributable to such period; and  
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(b) For all products and minerals comprising Iron Ore, a gross sales royalty payable in perpetuity, which shall 

be calculated by multiplying the applicable Royalty Rate in effect for such period by the amount of all 

proceeds calculated solely with respect to products and minerals comprising Iron Ore attributable to such 

period, which shall not include certain permissible deductions, as more particularly described in the Royalty 

Agreement;  

On November 5th, 2021 the Company issued Altius a total of 13,427,507 Common Shares in respect of the Payment 

Shares that pertain to the Labrador West Option Agreement. The Payment Shares were issued at a deemed price per 

Payment Share of $0.15 for a total value of $2,014,126.05.  For accounting purposes, the shares are valued based on 

the value of shares issued in the most recent private placement which was estimated at $0.12 for a total value of 

$1,611,301.  The value of the shares was estimated based on the estimated value of shares issued in the subscription 

receipt financing. 

See “DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS – Three Year History – Acquisition of the Labrador West Property” and 

“DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS – Three Year History – Royalty on the Labrador West Property”. 

On February 2nd, 2021, the Company entered into a purchase agreement with Globex to acquire a 100% interest in the 

Lac Pegma Property, subject to a 2% gross metals royalty.  

See “DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS – Three Year History – Lac Pegma Copper-Nickel-Cobalt Deposit”. 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

See hereinabove “MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS – Summary of Quarterly Results”. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

The Company is an exploration-stage company and does not generate revenues. As such, it finances all of its 

operations and the exploration of its mineral properties entirely through the issuance of share capital. Although the 

Company has to date been successful in its attempts to raise capital, there can be no assurance that its future efforts 

will likewise be successful. The mineral exploration business is high risk and the vast majority of exploration projects 

will not result in producing mines. The success of future financings will depend on a variety of factors including 

geological success – i.e. obtaining superior results from exploration; a positive investment climate encompassing 

strong metal prices, solid stock market conditions, and a “risk-on” appetite among investors; and the Company’s track 

record and the ability and experience of management. If such financing is unavailable, the Company may be unable 

to retain its mineral interests and execute its business plans. 

As at June 30, 2021, the Company had net working capital of $2,283,330 compared to $787,963 at June 30, 2020. As 

at December 31, 2021, the Company has net working capital of approximately $1,629,816 excluding the Escrowed 

Funds.  

On September 14, 2021 and September 16, 2021, the Company raised an additional $1,099,809.45 pursuant to the 

Offering, which except for 50% of the Cash Commission of $5,263.84, will be held in escrow until the satisfaction of 

the Escrow Release Conditions.  

Notwithstanding considerable uncertainty in the global economic outlook, management has been encouraged by 

market interest in the Company’s properties and its proposed exploration plans. Markets appear receptive and 

management views the outlook for 2021 and 2022 as promising. Accordingly, subject to CSE and regulatory 

approvals, the Company intends to seek a listing on the CSE. See “RISK FACTORS”. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements.  

Transactions with Related Parties 

Years Ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020  
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The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties during the periods ended June 30, 2021 and 

2020:  

With key management personnel of the Company: 

June 30, 2020 

$ 

June 30, 2021 

$ 

Management fees  25,380 103,750 

Exploration and evaluation expenses paid  Nil 57,825 

TOTAL 25,380 161,575 

 
In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for 

planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, including directors (executive 

or non-executive) of the Company. 

Second Quarter fiscal 2022  

The net loss of the Company for the six-months ended December 31, 2021 was $2,264,815 as compared to the net 

loss for the six-months ended December 31, 2020 of $767,187. The increased loss in the period ended December 31, 

2021 was due to an increase in exploration expenditures to $2,021,669 (2020 – $695,483).  The primary reason for 

the increase in exploration expenditures is the on-time acquisition cost related to Labrador West in the amount of 

$1,611,301. Additionally, the Company incurred evaluation expenditures, of $275,461 (2020 - $nil) on its newly 

acquired Lac Pegma Property.  The majority of the expenditures that pertain to the Lac Pegma Property were incurred 

for services from geologists to compile historical data. 

Proposed Transactions 

As at the date of this Prospectus, there are no proposed transactions currently contemplated by the Company. See 

“Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information”. 

Changes in Accounting Policies  

During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Corporation adopted a number of new IFRS standards, interpretations, 

amendments and improvements of existing standards. These included IAS 1 and IFRS 3. These new standards and 

changes did not have any material impact on the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements.  

Financial Instruments 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Unless otherwise 

noted, it is management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks 

arising from these financial instruments. The fair values of these financial instruments approximate their carrying 

values unless otherwise stated. 

Quarterly Highlights, Qualifications and Forward-Looking Statements 

The Company’s MD&A provides an analysis of the Company’s financial results for the period from June 30, 2021 to 

December 31, 2021 and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements of the Company for such period, 

and the notes thereto. The Company’s MD&A is attached to this Prospectus as Schedule “B”.  

Certain information included in the Company’s MD&A is forward-looking and based upon assumptions and 

anticipated results that are subject to uncertainties. Should one or more of these uncertainties materialize or should the 

underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary significantly from those expected. See “Cautionary 

Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” for further detail. 

Additional information relating to the Company may be found on the Company’s profile on SEDAR at 

www.sedar.com. 

Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data 
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The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares, of which 46,715,341 Common Shares 

were issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable as at June 30, 2021. On November 5th, 2021 13,427,507 

Common Shares were issued to Altius in respect of the Payment Shares, accordingly 60,142,848 Common Shares are 

issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable as of the date hereof. As of the date hereof, 7,332,063 Common 

Shares of the Company are reserved for issuance upon the deemed exchange of 7,332,063 issued and outstanding 

Subscription Receipts for Units, and upon such exchange, 67,474,911 Common Shares will be issued and outstanding. 

1,247,917 Warrants were outstanding as at June 30, 2021 and 1,247,917 Warrants are outstanding as of the date hereof. 

Following the deemed exchange of Subscription Receipts for Units, an additional 3,666,031 Subscription Receipt 

Warrants will be outstanding. An additional 101,376 Common Shares are reserved for issuance in respect of the Broker 

Warrants and 1,246,004 Common Shares are reserved for issuance in respect of the Milestone Shares. See 

“CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION” and “OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES”.  

Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue 

The following table sets out a breakdown of all material components of certain costs to the Company for the years 

ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the six-months ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Mineral Properties – Exploration and Evaluation 

The following tables set out the total deferred exploration costs recorded by the Company for the Labrador West 

Property as at the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the six-months ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Labrador West Property 

For the six-

months ended 

December 31, 

2021 

$ 

For the six-

months ended 

December 31, 

2020 

$ 

For the year 

ended June 30, 

2021 

$ 

For the year 

ended June 30, 

2020 

$ 

Acquisition 1,611,301 (3,550) (3,550) 921,105 

Administration  3,216 1,588 3,363 3,454 

Assaying  Nil 18,228 18,478 18,255 

Drilling Nil 302,138 302,138 Nil 

Geologists  102,279 179,436 216,811 125,311 

Hotels & Meals 2,912 38,750 38,750 25,594 

Helicopter chartering Nil 140,431 140,431 75,409 

In-country logistics  26,500 18,462 43,534 31,575 

TOTAL 1,746,208 695,483 759,955 1,200,703 

 

The decrease in exploration and evaluation expenditures for the year ended June 30, 2021 as compared to the year 

ended June 30, 2020 was the result of the Company incurring one-time acquisition costs for the Labrador West 

Property of $921,105 in the year ended June 30, 2020. Except for the cost of the acquisition of the Labrador West 

Property, the exploration and evaluation expenditures in the year ended June 30, 2021 was greater than the year ended 

June 30, 2020 primarily due to the drill program and the costs associated with facilitating the drill program that was  

performed on the Labrador West Property.  The increase in exploration and evaluation expenditures for the six months 

ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the six months ended December 31, 2020 was the result of the Company 

incurring one-time acquisition costs for the Labrador West Property of $1,611,301 in the six months ended December 

31, 2021. Except for the cost of the acquisition of the Labrador West Property, the exploration and evaluation 

expenditures in the six months ended December 31, 2020 was greater than the six months ended December 31, 2021 

primarily due to the drill program and the costs associated with facilitating the drill program that was  performed on 

the Labrador West Property.   
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The following tables set out the total deferred exploration costs recorded by the Company for the Lac Pegma Property 

as as at the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the six-months ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Lac Pegma Property 

For the six-

months ended 

December 31, 

2021 

$ 

For the six-

months ended 

December 31, 

2020(1) 

$ 

For the year 

ended June 30, 

2021 

$ 

For the year 

ended June 30, 

2020(1) 

$ 

Acquisition Nil Nil 32,558 Nil 

Assaying  9,303 Nil 3,000 Nil 

Geologists  266,158 Nil 74,197 Nil 

Geophysical Nil Nil 82,390 Nil 

TOTAL 275,461 Nil 192,145 Nil 

              Notes: 

(1) The Lac Pegma Property was acquired during the year ended June 30, 2021 

General and Administrative Expenses 

The following tables set out the general and administrative expenses of the Company for the years ended June 30, 

2021 and June 30, 2020:   

 For the six-months ended 

December 31, 2021 

($) 

For the year ended June 30, 

2021 

($) 

For the year ended June 30, 

2020 

($) 

Professional fees 86,356 35,000 Nil 

Consulting fees 45,000 103,750 50,000 

Office expenses 20,959 2,731 598 

Investor relations 67,680 7,500 Nil 

Travel 19,311 877 3,275 

Transfer agent 3,840 1,690 989 

Total 243,146 151,548 54,862 

The increase in general and administrative expenses of the Company for the year ended June 30, 2021 as compared to 

the year ended June 30, 2020 was principally related to the costs associated with the drilling and preparation of the 

Technical Report in regard to the Labrador West Property, and the acquisition of the Lac Pegma Property.   The 

increase in general and administrative expenses of the Company for the six months ended December 31, 2021 as 

compared to the six months ended December 31, 2020 was principally related to the costs associated with the listing 

process for the Company. 

Additional Disclosure for Junior Issuers 

As set out in the section titled “USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS”, the Company anticipates having general net working 

capital of approximately $1,700,000 following completion of the recommended Phase I program and after meeting 

the budgeted administrative costs for the next 12 months of $400,000. Other than as disclosed in this Prospectus, the 

Company does not anticipate incurring any other material capital expenditures. 

Assuming that the Company has expended its exploration expenses in accordance with the recommendations of the 

Qualified Person, on the Labrador West Property, the Company will have achieved one of its material stated business 

objectives which is to determine whether the Labrador West Property contains economically viable iron deposits and 
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whether the results warrant the Company carrying out the recommended Phase 2 program on the Labrador West 

Property as discussed hereinabove under the subsection titled “Recommendations”.   

If the results on the Labrador West Property do not warrant the Company incurring further exploration expenditures, 

then the Company anticipates that it would have sufficient funds to meet its budgeted administrative costs for the next 

calendar year. However, if a further work program is recommended on the Labrador West Property, the Company 

may be required to raise additional funding to carry out additional exploration programs on its Labrador West Property. 

In addition, should the opportunity to acquire other mineral exploration properties be presented to the Company, 

whether located in Newfoundland and Labrador or elsewhere, then the Company would have to determine the 

appropriate method of acquiring those properties. In the event that Common Shares could not be used to acquire the 

said properties, then the Company may have to look to raise further capital. See "RISK FACTORS". 

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES 

Disclosure of Outstanding Security Data 

The Company has one class of shares outstanding, being the Common Shares. The authorized capital of the Company 

consists of: (i) an unlimited number of voting and participating Common Shares without par value. All Common 

Shares of the Company rank equally as to dividends, voting powers and participation in assets.  

As of the date of this Prospectus, 60,142,848 Common Shares were issued and outstanding and upon the conversion 

of the Subscription Receipts into Units, 67,474,911 Common Shares will be issued and outstanding. As of the date 

hereof, 13,593,390 Common Shares of the Company are reserved for issuance upon the exchange of the Subscription 

Receipts for Units, the issuance of the Milestone Shares, and upon the exercise of all Warrants, Subscription Receipt 

Warrants and Broker Warrants that have been issued by the Company.  

Common Shares 

The holders of the Common Shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend and vote at all meetings of the 

shareholders of the Company and each Common Share shall confer the right to one vote in person or by proxy at all 

meetings of the shareholders of the Company. The holders of the Common Shares, subject to the prior rights, if any, 

of any other class of shares of the Company, are entitled to receive such dividends in any financial year as the Board 

of the Company may by resolution determine. In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the 

Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the Common Shares are entitled to receive, subject to the 

prior rights, if any, of the holders of any other class of shares of the Company, the remaining property and assets of 

the Company. The Common Shares do not carry any pre-emptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights, nor 

do they contain any sinking or purchase fund provisions. 

Listing of the Common Shares is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the Exchange. 

Warrants to Purchase Common Shares 

As of the date hereof, the Company has warrants outstanding to purchase 1,247,917 Common Shares at an exercise 

price of $0.15, which expire on December 30th, 2022. In addition, upon the exchange of the Subscription Receipts to 

Units, the Company issued 3,666,031 Subscription Receipt Warrants to purchase 3,666,031 Common Shares at an 

exercise price of $0.20 which will expire thirty-six (36) months from the date of issue, subject to the right of the 

Company to accelerate the expiry date in certain circumstances. Upon satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions, 

the Company issued 67,584 Broker Warrants to purchase 67,584 Units at a price of $0.15 for a period of thirty-six 

(36) months from the date of issue. See “Prior Sales”. 

Options to Purchase Common Shares 

The Board of Directors of the Company adopted a stock option incentive plan and a restricted unit incentive plan. As 

of the date hereof, the Company has not issued any Options nor RSUs. See also “Options to Purchase Securities”. 
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Subscription Receipts  

Pursuant to the Offering, the Company issued 7,332,063 Subscription Receipts which upon the Release Event, will be 

automatically exchanged for Units of the Company. Each Unit is comprised of one (1) Common Share and one half 

of one (0.5) Subscription Receipt Warrant, with each Subscription Receipt Warrant entitling the holder to purchase 

one (1) Common Share at a price of $0.20 for a period of thirty-six months (36) months from the Exchange Date. In 

connection with the Offering, the Company issued 67,584 Broker Warrants to Finders upon the satisfaction of the 

Escrow Release Conditions, with each Broker Warrant entitling the holder to purchase one (1) Unit at a price of $0.15 

for a period of thirty-six (36) months after the closing date of the Offering.  

Upon conversion of the Subscription Receipts into Units, holders of the Subscription Receipt Shares and Subscription 

Receipt Warrants underlying the Units are entitled to all of the same rights as holders of Common Shares and Warrants, 

as the case may be.  

The Company has granted to each holder of a subscription receipt a contractual right of rescission of the prospectus-

exempt transaction under which the subscription receipt was initially acquired. The contractual right of rescission 

provides that if a holder of a subscription receipt who acquires another security of the issuer on exchange of the 

subscription receipt as provided for in the prospectus is, or becomes, entitled under the securities legislation of a 

jurisdiction to the remedy of rescission because of the prospectus or an amendment to the prospectus containing a 

misrepresentation, 

a) the holder is entitled to rescission of both the holder’s exchange of its subscription receipt and the private 

placement transaction under which the subscription receipt was initially acquired, 

b) the holder is entitled in connection with the rescission to a full refund of all consideration paid to the 

underwriter or issuer, as the case may be, on the acquisition of the subscription receipt, and 

c) if the holder is a permitted assignee of the interest of the original subscription receipt subscriber, the 

holder is entitled to exercise the rights of rescission and refund as if the holder was the original 

subscriber. 

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s capitalization since December 31, 2021 and as of the 

date of this Prospectus. 

As of the date hereof, the Company has 60,142,848 Common Shares, 1,247,917 Warrants, 7,332,063 Subscription 

Receipts, 3,666,031 Subscription Receipt Warrants and 67,584 Broker Warrants and the obligation to issue 1,246,004 

Milestone Shares. The Company adopted a 10% rolling stock option plan on September 22, 2021 and a fixed restricted 

share unit plan on September 22, 2021, under which as of the date hereof the Company is able to grant up to 6,014,284 

incentive stock options and 4,600,000 restricted share units (“RSUs”), respectively. The Company has granted nil 

options and nil RSUs as of the date of this Prospectus.  

Description As at date hereof As at December 31, 2021 

Common Shares 60,142,848(1) 60,142,848(1) 

Warrants 1,247,917 1,247,917 

Subscription Receipts  7,332,063 7,332,063 

Stock Options Nil Nil 

RSUs Nil Nil 

Broker Warrants (2) Nil Nil 

Reserved for Milestone Shares  1,246,004 1,246,004 

Notes  
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(1) 13,427,507 Common Shares were issued to Altius on November 5th, 2021 in respect of the Payment Shares pursuant to the Labrador West 
Option Agreement.  

(2) 67,584 Broker Warrants will be issued to persons who acted as Finders to the Offering upon satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions.  

 

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

Options 

The Board adopted a stock option plan on September 22, 2021 (the “Stock Option Plan”). The purpose of the Stock 

Option Plan is to advance the interests of the Company by encouraging the directors, officers, employees, management 

corporation employees and consultants of the Company, and of its subsidiaries and affiliates, if any, to acquire 

Common Shares in the share capital of the Company, thereby increasing their proprietary interest in the Company, 

encouraging them to remain associated with the Company and furnishing them with additional incentive in their efforts 

on behalf of the Company in the conduct of its affairs. The Stock Option Plan provides that, subject to the requirements 

of the CSE, the aggregate number of securities reserved for issuance will be 10% of the number of the Company’s 

Common Shares issued and outstanding at the time such options are granted. The CSE policies provide that the term 

of a stock option may not be amended once it has been issued. If an option is cancelled prior to its expiry date, the 

Company must post notice of the cancellation and shall not grant new options to the same person until thirty (30) days 

have elapsed from the date of cancellation.  

The Stock Option Plan will be administered by the Board, which will have full and final authority with respect to the 

granting of all Options thereunder.  

Eligible Optionees 

To be eligible to receive a grant of Options under the Stock Option Plan, regulatory authorities require an Optionee to 

be either a director, officer, employee, consultant or an employee of a corporation providing management or other 

services to the Company or a subsidiary at the time the Option is granted (each, a “Participant”). 

Options may be granted only to an individual eligible, or to a non-individual that is wholly-owned by individuals 

eligible, for an Option grant. If the Option is granted to a non-individual, it will not permit any transfer of its securities, 

nor issue further securities, to any individual or other entity as long as the Option remains in effect. 

Restrictions 

The Stock Option Plan is a 10% rolling plan and the total number of Common Shares issuable upon exercise of Options 

under the Stock Option Plan cannot exceed 10% of the Company's issued and outstanding Common Shares on the 

date on which an Option is granted, less Common Shares reserved for issuance on exercise of Options then outstanding 

under the Stock Option Plan. The aggregate number of Common Shares which may be issued under the Stock Option 

Plan to any one particular Participant shall not exceed 50% of the said aggregate number of Common Shares allocated 

to and made available under the Stock Option Plan. Any Options issued under the Stock Option Plan must comply 

with the provisions of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exempt Distributions and any successor instrument.   

Material Terms of the Stock Option Plan 

The following is a summary of the material terms of the Stock Option Plan: 

(a) persons who are bona fide employees, officers or directors of the Company or its Affiliates, or who are 

providing services to the Company or its Affiliates, are eligible to receive grants of Options under the 

Stock Option Plan; 

(b) consultants who are engaged to provide services to the Company or a subsidiary of the Company under a 

written contract and spend or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs and 

business of the Company or its subsidiaries, are eligible to receive grants of Options under the Stock 

Option Plan; 
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(c) The judgement of the Board in designating Participants and the extent of their participation in the Stock 

Option Plan shall be final and conclusive, provided, however, that each designated Participant shall have 

the right not to participate in the Stock Option Plan; 

(d) The rights of any Participant under the Stock Option Plan are personal to the said Participant and are not 

assignable and not transferrable otherwise than (a) by will or by laws governing the devolution of property 

in the event of death of the Participant or (b) with the approval of the Board of Directors, to a Permitted 

Assign (as defined in the Stock Option Plan); 

(e) The Company shall pay all costs of administering the Stock Option Plan;    

(f) The exercise price of the shares purchased pursuant to stock options granted hereunder shall be 

determined in the discretion of the Board at the time of the granting of the stock option, provided that the 

exercise price shall not be lower than the “Market Price”. “Market Price” of a Common Share means, on 

any given day: (i) where the Share is not listed on an recognized stock exchange, the fair market value of 

a Common Share on that day determined by the Board, in good faith; and (ii) where the Common Share 

is listed on a recognized stock exchange, the closing price of the Common Share on the stock exchange 

on the trading day immediately prior to the date the stock option is granted, or if, there is no reported trade 

of the Common Shares on the stock exchange on such date, the arithmetic average of the closing bid and 

the closing ask for the Common Share on the stock exchange on such date. For greater certainty, the 

Corporation will not grant options with an exercise price lower than the greater of the closing market 

prices of the Shares on (a) the trading day prior to the day of the grant of the stock options, and (b) the 

date of grant of the stock option; 

(g) all Options granted under the Stock Option Plan expire on a date not later than ten (10) years after the 

issuance of such Options; 

(h) if an optionee becomes physically or mentally disabled, retires with the consent of the Company or dies, 

any option granted may be exercised up to the full amount of the optioned shares by the Participant of the 

legal representative of the Participant, as the case may be up to and including nine (9) months following 

the disability, retirement or death, after which such option shall expire and terminate;   

(i) In the event the Participant's employment by or engagement with (as a director or otherwise) the Company 

is terminated by the Company or the Participant for any reason other than the Participant's physical or 

mental disability, retirement with the consent of the Company or death before exercise of any options 

granted hereunder, the Participant shall have ninety (90) days from the date of such termination to exercise 

only that portion of the option such Participant is otherwise entitled to exercise at that time and thereafter 

such Participant's option shall expire and all rights to purchase shares hereunder shall cease and expire; 

(j) in the case of an Optionee being dismissed from employment or service for cause, the Optionee shall have 

ninety (90) days from the date of such termination to exercise only that portion of the Options such 

Optionee is otherwise entitled to exercise at that time and thereafter such Options shall expire and all 

rights to purchase shares hereunder shall cease and expire and be of no further force or effect; 

(k) the exercise price of each Option will be set by the Board on the effective date of the Option and will not 

be less than the Market Price (as defined in the Stock Option Plan); 

Options Granted 

The following table sets forth the Options issued as of the date of this Prospectus, along with the material terms of the 

grants:  

Holder of Options 

Number of 

Holders Date of Grant 

Expiration 

Date Quantity 

Exercise 

Price 

Executive Officers Nil N/A N/A Nil N/A 

Consultants Nil N/A N/A Nil N/A 
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Holder of Options 

Number of 

Holders Date of Grant 

Expiration 

Date Quantity 

Exercise 

Price 

Directors (other than those who are also 

executive officers) 
Nil N/A N/A Nil N/A 

 

Restricted Share Units  

The Board adopted a restricted share unit plan on September 22, 2021 (the “RSU Plan”). The RSU Plan is available 

to directors, employees and consultants which are collectively referred to in the RSU Plan as service providers of the 

Company, as determined by the Board (the “Eligible Grantees”).  

The RSU Plan is intended to complement the Stock Option Plan by allowing the Company to offer a broader range of 

incentives to diversify and customize the rewards to Eligible Grantees and to promote long term retention and greater 

alignment with the competitive market. The following information is intended to be a brief description and summary 

of the material features of the RSU Plan. 

a) The RSU Plan provides for a fixed maximum limit whereby the total number of Common Shares to be 

allocated and made available under the RSU Plan cannot exceed 4,600,000 Common Shares.  

b) The number of Common Shares issued or to be issued under the RSU Plan and all other security-based 

compensation arrangements, at any time, shall not exceed 20% of the total number of the issued and 

outstanding Common Shares of the Company. 

c) Neither awards nor any rights under any such awards shall be assignable or transferable. If any Common 

Shares covered by an award are forfeited, or if an award terminates without delivery of any Common 

Shares subject thereto, then the number of Common Shares counted against the aggregate number of 

Common Shares available under the RSU Plan with respect to such award shall, to the extent of any such 

forfeiture or termination, again be available for making awards under the RSU Plan.  

d) The RSU Plan shall terminate automatically after ten years and may be terminated on any earlier date or 

extended by the Board. 

The Board may at any time, in its sole discretion and without the approval of Shareholders, amend, suspend, 

terminate or discontinue the RSU Plan and may amend the terms and conditions of any awards thereunder, subject 

to (a) any required approval of any applicable regulatory authority or the stock exchange on which the Common 

Shares are listed, and (b) approval of  Shareholders of the Company, where required by law or by the stock exchange 

on which the Common Shares are listed, provided that Shareholder approval shall not be required for the following 

amendments and the Board may make changes which may include but are not limited to: (i) amendments of a 

‘housekeeping nature’; (ii) changes to vesting provisions; or (iii) changes to the term of the RSU Plan or awards 

made under the RSU Plan provided those changes do not extend the restriction period of any restricted share unit 

(“RSU”) beyond the original expiry date or restriction period. The Board may amend, modify, or supplement the 

terms of any outstanding award. 

 

Restricted Share Units 

The RSU Plan provides that the Board of the Company may, from time to time, in its sole discretion, grant awards of 

RSUs to Eligible Grantees. Each RSU shall represent one Common Share of the Company. The Board may, in its sole 

discretion, establish a period of time (a “Vesting period”) applicable to such RSUs. Each award of RSUs may be 

subject to a different Vesting period. The Board may, in its sole discretion, prescribe restrictions in addition to or other 

than the expiration of the Vesting period, including the satisfaction of corporate or individual performance objectives, 

which may be applicable to all or any portion of the RSUs. The performance criteria will be established by the Board 

in its sole discretion. The Board may, in its sole discretion, revise the performance criteria. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, (i) RSUs shall vest in full from a period beginning on the grant date to the date which is not later than three 

(3) years from the grant date; (ii) RSUs for which vesting may be accelerated by achieving performance targets shall 

vest in full from a period beginning on the grant date to the date which is not later than three (3) years from the grant 
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date; and, (iii) at the election of an outside director at the time the Award is granted, RSUs may vest in full from a 

period beginning on the grant date to the date which is not later than three (3) years from the grant date, and (b) if no 

election is made, upon the earlier of a change of control in accordance with Section 11.2 of the RSU Plan or his or her 

resignation from the Board. 

Upon the expiration or termination of the Vesting period and the satisfaction of any other restrictions prescribed by 

the Board, the RSUs shall vest and shall be settled in either cash or Common Shares, as the Committee may so 

determine, unless otherwise provided in the award agreement. 

A cash payment shall be in the amount equal to the “Market Price” per share as defined in the policies of the applicable 

stock exchange as the trading day prior to the date of vesting, and certified funds shall be paid for the RSUs valued at 

the Market Price. A Common Share payment shall be for Common Shares issued by the Company from treasury and 

a share certificate for that number of Common Shares equal to the number of vested RSUs shall be free of all 

restrictions. The cash payment or Common Shares shall be delivered to the Grantee or the Grantee’s beneficiary or 

estate, as the case may be. 

If a grantee’s employment is terminated with cause, the Company may, within thirty (30) days, annul an award if the 

grantee is an employee of the Company or an affiliate thereof. If a grantee’s employment is terminated with or without 

cause, unless the Board otherwise provides in an award agreement or in writing after the award agreement is issued, 

any RSUs that have not vested and will not vest within thirty (30) days from the date of termination, or with respect 

to which all applicable restrictions and conditions have not lapsed, shall immediately be deemed forfeited. Upon the 

death of a grantee, any RSUs granted to said grantee which, prior to the grantee’s death, have not vested, will 

immediately vest and the grantee’s estate shall be entitled to receive payment in accordance with the terms of the RSU 

Plan. 

RSUs Granted 

As of the date hereof, the Company has granted nil RSUs under the RSU Plan. 

The following table sets forth the RSUs issued as of the date of this Prospectus, along with the material terms of the 

grants: 

Holder of Options 

Number of 

Holders Date of Grant 

Expiration 

Date Quantity 

Exercise 

Price 

Executive Officers Nil N/A N/A Nil N/A 

Consultants Nil N/A N/A Nil N/A 

Directors (other than those who are also 

executive officers) 
Nil N/A N/A Nil N/A 

 

PRIOR SALES 

The following table contains details of the prior sales of securities during the last twelve (12) months from the date of 

this Prospectus:  

Date Quantity Class of Securities Issue or Exercise Price 

November 5, 2021  13,427,507 Common Shares $0.12(1) 

To be determined  67,584 Broker Warrants(2)  $0.15 

September 16, 2021 3,960,331 Subscription Receipts(3)  $0.15 

September 14, 2021 3,371,732 Subscription Receipts(3) $0.15 

June 29, 2021 12,152,842 Common Shares  $0.18 
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Date Quantity Class of Securities Issue or Exercise Price 

December 30, 2020 2,495,833 Common Shares $0.12 

December 30, 2020 1,247,917 Warrant(4) $0.15 

(1) 13,427,507 Common Shares were issued to Altius in respect of the Payment Shares pursuant to the Labrador West Option Agreement. 
The Payment Shares were issued at a deemed price per Payment Share of $0.12. See also “DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS – Three 

Year History – Acquisition of Labrador West Property”, “PRINCIPAL SECURITY HOLDERS” and “ESCROWED SECURITIES” 

(2) Upon satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions, the Broker Warrants will be issued. Each Broker Warrant will be exercisable for a 
period of thirty-six (36) months from the date of issuance, with each Broker Warrant exercisable for one Unit. Each Unit is comprised 

of one Common Share and one half of one (0.5) Common Share purchase warrant, with each Broker Warrant exercisable at a price of 

$0.15 for a period of thirty-six (36) months from the date of issuance.  
(3) Upon satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions each Subscription Receipt will be deemed exchanged for one Unit, with each Unit 

comprised of one (1) Subscription Receipt Share and one half of one (0.5) Subscription Receipt Warrant. Each Subscription Receipt 

Warrant is exercisable at a price of $0.20 for a period of thirty-six (36) months from the date of issuance.  

(4) Each warrant is exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.15 for a period of twenty-four (24) months from the date of issuance.  

 
Trading Price and Volume 

None of the Company’s securities are traded or quoted on a marketplace and there is currently no public market for the 

Company’s securities. See “RISK FACTORS”.  

PRINCIPAL SECURITY HOLDERS  

As at the date of this Prospectus, to the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Company, no person beneficially 

owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises control or direction over, Common Shares carrying more than 10% of the 

voting rights attaching to all outstanding Common Shares, except as follows:  

Name of 

Shareholder  

Designation of 

Class  

Type of 

Ownership 

Number and 

Percentage of 

Common 

Shares on the 

date of this 

Prospectus  

Number of 

Common 

Shares to be 

distributed(1) 

Number and 

Percentage of 

Common 

Shares after the 

proposed 

Distribution is 

issued 

Percentage of 

Outstanding 

Common 

Shares held in 

Escrow 

Avidian Gold 

Corp.  

Common 

Shares  

Registered and 

Beneficial  

31,202,842 

(51.88%)(4)(9) 

9,360,852 21,841,990 

(32.37%)(2)(5) 
32.37%(3)(5)(6)(7) 

Altius 

Resources Inc.  

Common 

Shares  

Registered and 

Beneficial  

13,427,507 

(22.3%)(8)(9) 

N/A  13,427,507 

19.9%(2)(8) 

18.21%(3)(6)(8) 

Notes: 

(1) Common Shares to be distributed pursuant to the Distribution following the Listing.  

(2) On a non-diluted basis, including the exchange and conversion or deemed exchange and conversion of the Subscription Receipts into Units.  

(3) See “OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES” and “ESCROWED SECURITIES – Escrow under CSE Policies”. 

(4) On a non-diluted basis. Including the exchange and conversion of the Subscription Receipt into Units and the issuance of the Broker Warrants, 
Avidian will hold 42.32% of the Common Shares on a fully diluted basis as of the date of this Prospectus.  

(5) On a non-diluted basis. Assuming the exchange and conversion of the Subscription Receipt into Units and the issuance of the Broker Warrants, 

Avidian will hold 29.62% of the Common Shares on a fully diluted basis post Distribution.  
(6) Assuming the exchange and conversion of the Subscription Receipts into Units.  

(7) Calculated based on 21,841,990 Common Shares Avidian will hold post Distribution.   

(8) On a non-diluted basis. Assuming the exchange and conversion of the Subscription Receipt into Units, the issuance of the Broker Warrants and 
the issuance of the Milestone Shares, Altius will hold 19.9% of the Common Shares on a fully diluted basis.  

(9) Upon the conversion of the Subscription Receipts into Units, which is expected to occur prior to the Listing, Avidian and Altius will hold 

46.24% and 19.9% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares on a non-diluted basis, respectively, pre-Distribution.  
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SELLING SECURITY HOLDERS 

Common Shares will be qualified and distributed under this Prospectus, accordingly Avidian is a selling securityholder 

within the meaning of NI 41-101 pursuant to the distribution of the ROC Shares. Avidian is the only selling 

securityholder whose Common Shares are being qualified for distribution.  

 

The following table sets forth the name of each selling securityholder, the number and percentage of Common Shares 

owned, controlled and directed being distributed, the number and percentage of Common Shares being distributed, 

the number and percentage of Common Shares owned, controlled or directed after the distribution, and the type of 

ownership of the Common Shares. The ROC Shares will be distributed by Avidian in the manner contemplated under 

the heading “PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION” hereinafter.  

 
Name of 

Shareholder  

Designation of 

Class  

Type of 

Ownership 

Number and 

Percentage of 

Common 

Shares on the 

date of this 

Prospectus  

Number of 

Common 

Shares to be 

distributed(1) 

Number and 

Percentage of 

Common 

Shares after the 

proposed 

Distribution is 

issued 

Percentage of 

Outstanding 

Common 

Shares held in 

Escrow 

Avidian Gold 

Corp.  

Common 

Shares  

Registered and 

Beneficial  

31,202,842 

(51.88%)(4) 

9,360,852 21,841,990 

(32.37%)(2)(5) 
32.37%(3)(5)(6)(7) 

Notes: 

(1) Common Shares to be distributed pursuant to the Distribution following the Listing.  

(2) On a non-diluted basis, including the exchange and conversion or deemed exchange and conversion of the Subscription Receipts into Units.  
(3) See “OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES” and “ESCROWED SECURITIES – Escrow under CSE Policies”. 

(4) On a non-diluted basis. Assuming the exchange and conversion of the Subscription Receipt into Units and the issuance of the Broker Warrants, 

Avidian will hold 42.32% of the Common Shares on a fully diluted basis as of the date of this Prospectus.  

(5) On a non-diluted basis. Including the exchange and conversion of the Subscription Receipt into Units and the issuance of the Broker Warrants, 

Avidian will hold 29.62% of the Common Shares on a fully diluted basis post Distribution.  

(6) Assuming the exchange and conversion of the Subscription Receipts into Units.  
(7) Calculated based on 21,841,990 Common Shares Avidian will hold post Distribution 

 

Within the two years preceding the date of this Prospectus, Avidian purchased an aggregate of 21,202,842 Common 

Shares. Within the last 12 months preceding the date of this Prospectus, Avidian purchased 12,152,842 Common 

Shares at a price of $0.18 per Common Share. Avidian is both a principal security holder and a selling securityholder 

under this Prospectus.  
 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 

This Prospectus is being filed to qualify the distribution of 9,360,852 common shares in the capital of the Company 

by Avidian to shareholders of Avidian by way of a return of capital in the form of the ROC Shares. On, September 

7th, 2021, Avidian shareholders passed a resolution authorizing resolution authorizing (i) the re-designation of the 

Avidian’s common shares as class A common shares, (ii) the creation of a class of new common shares, and (iii) the 

exchange of each class A common shares for one new common share and a pro rata share of the Distribution, being 

the distribution to the shareholders of Avidian of 9,360,852 ROC Shares. The shareholders of record of Avidian on 

the Record Date will be eligible to receive the ROC Shares on a pro rata basis in proportion to the number of shares 

of Avidian held by them on the Record Date. 

As of the date hereof, there is no market through which these securities may be sold and purchasers may not be able 

to resell securities qualified under this Prospectus. The Company has made an application for listing its Common 

Shares on the CSE. Listing is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the CSE, including 

meeting all minimum listing requirements. See “RISK FACTORS”. 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not applied to 

list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the Toronto Stock 

Exchange, Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the United States 

of America. 
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This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any of the securities referenced 

herein within the U.S. or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons. None of the securities qualified hereunder 

have been or will be registered under the U.S. Securities Act or the securities laws of any state of the U.S. and may 

not be offered or sold within the U.S. or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons, except in transactions exempt 

from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws.  

ESCROWED SECURITIES 

Escrow under CSE Policies 

In accordance with the CSE Policies and NP 46-201, all Common Shares held by a Related Person (as that term is 

defined in CSE Policy 1 – Interpretation and General Provisions) as of the Listing Date are subject to escrow 

restrictions. Under the CSE Policies, the Related Persons of the Company are its directors and officers, the Company's 

promoter, and any person that beneficially owns, either directly or indirectly, or exercises voting control or direction 

over at least 10% of the total Common Shares. 

The CSE Policies require that the Escrow Securities be governed by the form of escrow prescribed by NP 46-201. 

Pursuant to the Escrow Agreement dated September 22, 2021, among the Company, the Escrow Agent, and the 

directors, officers and insiders of the Company, and the escrow agreement among the Company, the Escrow Agent, 

and Altius dated November 5, 2021 (the “Altius Escrow Agreement”), the Escrow Securities will be released in 

accordance with the following release schedule:  

Escrow Release Date Amount of Released Securities 

On the Listing Date 1/10 of the Escrow Securities 

6 months after the Listing Date 1/6 of the remaining Escrow Securities 

12 months after the Listing Date 1/5 of the remaining Escrow Securities 

18 months after the Listing Date 1/4 of the remaining Escrow Securities 

24 months after the Listing Date 1/3 of the remaining Escrow Securities 

30 months after the Listing Date 1/2 of the remaining Escrow Securities 

36 months after the Listing Date the remaining Escrow Securities 

 
Assuming there are no changes to the Escrow Securities initially deposited and no additional Escrow Securities are 

deposited, this will result in a 10% release on the Listing Date, with the remaining Escrow Securities being released 

in 15% tranches every 6 months thereafter. 

All the Escrow Securities are subject to the direction and determination of the CSE. Specifically, the Escrow Securities 

may not be sold, assigned, hypothecated, transferred within escrow or otherwise dealt with in any manner without the 

consent of the CSE. 

The following table sets forth particulars of the Escrow Securities that will be subject to escrow under the Escrow 

Agreement and the Altius Escrow Agreement as of the date of this Prospectus.  

Name  

 

 

 

Municipality of 

Residence 

Number of 

Common 

Shares Held 

in Escrow 

Number 

of 

Warrants 

Held in 

Escrow 

Number 

of 

Options 

Held in 

Escrow 

Percentage 

of 

Outstanding 

Common 

Shares held 

in Escrow(1) 

Steve Roebuck Millgrove, ON 3,048,888 nil nil 4.13% 

Brendan Purdy Toronto, ON 3,048,888 nil nil 4.13% 
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Carl Desjardins Montreal, QC 1,000,000 nil nil 1.36% 

Jean Francois Meilleur Montreal, QC 1,000,000 nil nil 1.36% 

PE Partners Ltd Montreal, QC 848,889 nil nil 1.15% 

Gus Palkovi Montreal, QC 100,000 nil nil 0.14% 

Etienne Gouin-Proulx Montreal, QC 100,000 nil nil 0.14% 

Avidian Gold Corp.  Toronto, ON 21,841,990(2) nil nil  29.62%(2) 

Altius Resources Inc. St. Johns, NFLD 13,427,507 nil nil 19.9% 

Total N/A 44,416,162 nil nil 61.93% 

           Notes: 

 (1) On a fully-diluted basis, assuming the exchange and conversion of the Subscription Receipts into Units and the issuance of the 

Broker Warrants.  

(2) As of the date of this Prospectus, Avidian holds 31,202,842 Common Shares. Following the Distribution, Avidian will hold 

21,841,990 Common Shares, which Common Shares will be subject to the Escrow Agreement.   
 

Under NP 46-201, a “principal” is: (a) a person who has acted as a promoter of the Company within two years of the 

date of this prospectus; (b) a director or senior officer of the Company at the time of this prospectus; (c) a person that 

holds securities carrying more than 20% of the voting rights attached to the Company’s outstanding securities 

immediately before and immediately after the Company’s initial public offering; and (d) a person that: (i) holds 

securities carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to the Company’s outstanding securities immediately 

before and immediately after the Company’s initial public offering; and (ii) has elected or appointed, or has the right 

to elect or appoint, one or more directors or senior officers of the Company. A principal’s spouse and their relatives 

that live at the same address as the principal will be deemed principals and any securities of the Company held by 

such a person will be subject to the escrow requirements. 

The automatic time release provisions under NP 46-201 pertaining to “established issuers” provide that 25% of each 

principal’s escrowed securities are released on the listing date, with an additional 25% being released in equal tranches 

at six-month intervals over 18 months. 

If, within 18 months of the listing date, the Company meets the “established issuer” criteria, as set out in NP 46-201, 

the Escrow Securities will be eligible for accelerated release according to the criteria for established issuers. In such 

a scenario that number of Escrow Securities that would have been eligible for release from escrow if the Company 

had been an “established issuer” on the listing date will be immediately released from escrow. The remaining Escrow 

Securities would be released in accordance with the time release provisions for established issuers, with all escrow 

securities being released 18 months from the listing date. 

Under the terms of the Escrow Agreement and the Altius Escrow Agreement, Escrow Securities cannot be transferred 

by the holder unless permitted under the Escrow Agreement or the Altius Escrow Agreement, as applicable. 

Notwithstanding this restriction on transfer, a holder of Escrow Securities may (a) pledge, mortgage or charge the 

Escrow Securities to a financial institution as collateral for a loan provided that no Escrow Securities will be delivered 

by the escrow agent to the financial institution; (b) exercise any voting rights attached to the Escrow Securities; (c) 

receive dividends or other distributions on the Escrow Securities; and (d) exercise any rights to exchange or convert 

the Escrow Securities in accordance with the Escrow Agreement or the Altius Escrow Agreement, as applicable. 

The Escrow Securities may be transferred within escrow to: (a) subject to approval of the Board, an individual who is 

an existing or newly appointed director or senior officer of the Company or of a material operating subsidiary of the 

Company; (b) subject to the approval of the Board, a person that before the proposed transfer holds more than 20% of 

the voting rights attached to the Company’s outstanding securities; (c) subject to the approval of the Board, a person 

that after the proposed transfer will hold more than 10% of the voting rights attached to the Company’s outstanding 

securities and that has the right to elect or appoint one or more directors or senior officers of the Company or any of 

its material operating subsidiaries; (d) upon the bankruptcy of a holder of escrowed securities, the securities held in 

escrow may be transferred within escrow to the trustee in bankruptcy or other person legally entitled to such securities; 

(e) upon the death of a holder of escrowed securities, all securities of the deceased holder will be released from escrow 

to the deceased holder’s legal representative; (f) a financial institution that the holder pledged, mortgaged or charges 
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to a financial institution as collateral for a loan on realization of such loan; and (g) a registered retirement savings plan 

(“RRSP”), registered retirement income fund (“RRIF”) or similar registered plan or fund with a trustee, where the 

annuitant of the RRSP or RRIF, or the beneficiaries of another plan or fund are limited to the holders spouse, children 

or parents, or if the holder is the trustee of such registered plan or fund, to the annuitant of the RRSP or RRIF, or a 

beneficiary of the other registered plan or fund or his or her spouse, children or parents. 

In addition, tenders of Escrow Securities pursuant to a business combination, which includes a take-over bid, issuer 

bid, statutory arrangement, amalgamation, merger or other reorganization similar to an amalgamation or merger, are 

permitted. Escrow Securities subject to a business combination will continue to be escrowed if the successor entity is 

not an “exempt issuer”, the holder is a principal of the successor entity; and the holder holds more than 1% of the 

voting rights of the successor entities’ outstanding securities. 

Under the terms of the Escrow Agreement and the Altius Escrow Agreement, 10% of each escrowed shareholder’s 

shares (a total of 4,441,616 Common Shares, nil Warrants and nil Options) will be released from escrow on the Listing 

Date. The remaining 39,974,546 Common Shares, nil Warrants and nil Options will be held in escrow immediately 

following the Listing Date.  

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

The following table sets forth the name and municipality of residence of each director and executive officer of the 

Company, as well as such individual's age, position with the Company, principal occupation within the five preceding 

years and period of service. Each of the directors of the Company will hold office until the close of the next annual 

meeting of shareholders and until such director's successor is elected and qualified, or until the director's earlier death, 

resignation or removal.  

Name and 

Municipality 

of Residence Age 

Position with 

Company 

Principal Occupation for Five Preceding 

Years 

[Company, Position, MM-YYYY – MM-

YYYY] 

Director/ 

Officer of 

the 

Company 

Since 

Number 

and 

Percent of 

Common 

Shares 

Held(1) 

Stephen 

Roebuck 
59 

Interim CEO, 

President & 

Director  

High Tide Resources Corp, President, February 

1, 2022 to Present 

High Tide Resources Corp, Interim CEO & 

Director, April 12, 2021 to Present 

High Tide Resources Corp., VP Exploration 01-

2019 to Present 

Avidian Gold, CEO 03-2021 to Present 

Avidian Gold, President 01-2020 to 03-2021 

Avidian Gold, VP Corporate Development 06-

2019 to 01-2020 

Geological Consultant, 03-2018 to 06-2019 

Enforcer Gold, CEO 08-2016 to 03-2018 

January 9, 

2019 

3,048,888  

5.07% 

Donna McLean  67 CFO 

Signature Resources Ltd., CFO 08-2021 - 

Present 

High Tide Resources Corp, CFO 02-2019 to 

Present  

Metalla Royalty & Streaming, CFO, 07-2012 to 

11-2019 

Aurania Resources, CFO, 03-2013 to 04-2019  

Firestone Ventures, CFO 03-2014 - Present 

Unigold, CFO, 03-2020 – Present  

Honey Badger Silver, CFO 01-2021 – Present  

Blue Thunder, CFO 02-2021 – Present   

February 4, 

2019 
Nil 

Steve 

Altmann(2)(3)  
59 Director  

MPA Morrison Park Advisors, Managing 

Director, 01-12 to present 

January 9, 

2021 
Nil 
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Carol 

Seymour(3)   
39 Director  

Altius Resources Inc., Senior Geologist, 03-

2011 to present  

Altius Resources Inc., Project Geologist, 03-

2007 to 03-2020 

April 12, 

2021 
Nil 

Joseph 

Poveromo 
74 Director  

President, Raw Materials & Ironmaking Global 

Consulting, 2009 - present 

May 1,  

2021 
Nil 

Serge 

Pelletier(3)   
61 Director  

Retired, 05-2020 to Present 

City of Lac Megantic – Reconstruction 

Manager, 05-2018 to 05-2020 

Retired, 01-2016 to 05-2018 

BHP, Manager Closed Sites North America 12-

2014 to 12-2016  

July 7, 

2021 
Nil 

Notes: 

(1) Based on 60,142,848 Common Shares issued and outstanding as at the date hereof.  

(2) Chair of the Audit Committee. 
(3) Member of the Audit Committee. 

 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the directors and executive officers of the Company, as a group, beneficially own, 

directly or indirectly, 3,083,888 Common Shares representing approximately 5.07% of the issued and outstanding 

Common Shares on a non-diluted basis. Upon the exchange and conversion of the Subscription Receipts and the issuance 

of the Broker Warrants, the directors and executive officers of the Company, as a group, beneficially own, directly or 

indirectly, 3,083,888 Common Shares representing approximately 4.18% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares 

on a fully diluted basis.  

Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions 

Other than as disclosed below, no individual set forth in the above table is, to the knowledge of the Company as at the 

date of this Prospectus, or has been, within 10 years before the date of this Prospectus, a director, chief executive 

officer or chief financial officer of any company (including the Company) that:  

(a) was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an order that denied the 

relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period 

of more than 30 consecutive days that was issued while such individual was acting in the capacity 

as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or 

(b) was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an order that denied the 

relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period 

of more than 30 consecutive days, that was issued after such individual ceased to be a director, chief 

executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while such 

proposed director was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial 

officer. 

Stephen Altmann was a director of Lydian International Limited (“Lydian”) from July 2014 to March 2020. On 

December 23, 2019, Lydian announced that certain of its subsidiaries had commenced proceedings under the 

Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada) (the “CCAA”) in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice. Trading in 

the securities of Lydian on the TSX was immediately suspended 

 

On December 23, 2019, Lydian International Limited, Lydian Canada Ventures Corporation, Lydian U.K. Corporation 

Limited (together, the “Applicants”) applied for and were granted protection under the CCAA. 

 

Pursuant to an order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (the “Court”) dated December 23, 

2019 (the “Initial Order”), Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc. was appointed monitor of the Applicants in the CCAA 

proceedings. The Initial Order granted a stay of proceedings until January 2, 2020 (the “Stay Period”) as against the 

Applicants and provided that during the Stay Period, no proceedings may be commenced or continued against or in 

respect of Lydian Armenia CJSC, Lydian International Holdings Limited, Lydian Resources Armenia Limited and 

Lydian U.S. Corporation (collectively, the “Non-Applicant Stay Parties”). 
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On January 2, 2020, the Court issued an order, among other things, extending the Stay Period in favour of the 

Applicants and the Non-Applicant Stay Parties to January 23, 2020 and on January 23, 2020, the Court issued an 

order, among other things, further extending the Stay Period in favour of the Applicants and the Non-Applicant Stay 

Parties to March 2, 2020. Mr. Altmann resigned as a director of Lydian in March 2020.  

 

No individual set forth in the above table (or any personal holding company of any such individual) is, as of the date 

of this Prospectus, or has been within ten (10) years before the date of this Prospectus, a director or executive officer 

of any company (including the Company) that, while such individual was acting in that capacity, or within a year of 

that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 

bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors 

or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

No individual as set forth in the above table (or any personal holding company of any such individual) has, within the 

ten (10) years before the date of this Prospectus, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 

bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with 

creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of such individual. 

No individual set forth in the above table (or any personal holding company of any such individual) has been subject 

to: 

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities 

regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority; 

or 

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be 

considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

Conflicts of Interest 

Certain of the officers and directors of the Company also serve as directors and/or officers of other companies involved 

in the mineral exploration and development business and consequently there exists the possibility for such officers or 

directors to be in a position of conflict. Any decision made by any of such officers or directors involving the Company 

will be made in accordance with their duties and obligations under the laws of Ontario and Canada. 

Management 

Set forth below is a description of the background of the officers and directors of the Company, including a description 

of each individual’s principal occupation(s) within the past five years. Each member of management will devote the 

time necessary to perform the work required in connection with the management of the Company, upon listing. 

Steve Roebuck, Interim Chief Executive Officer, President and Director – Age 59 

Steve Roebuck received his Bachelor of Science degree from Concordia University in 1994 and is a registered 

Professional Geoscientist with the Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of Newfoundland and 

Labrador (PEGNL). Steve has a diverse background with both open pit and underground production experience having 

worked for Royal Oak Mines and BHP Billiton in the Northwest Territories and exploration experience working for 

Placer Dome, Aur Resources and Advanced Explorations Inc (iron ore) in Quebec and Nunavut. More recently Steve 

has taken on executive roles having been President of Scorpio Gold and is currently President and CEO of Avidian 

and has extensive capital markets experience having raised over $15M for junior exploration companies. 

Donna McLean, Chief Financial Officer – Age 67 

Donna McLean has over 35 years experience working with numerous publicly-traded and private companies, 

specializing in the areas of financial reporting, controls and administration. She has held the positions of Chief 

Financial Officer and Controller for several mineral exploration companies, including Intrepid Mines Ltd., Metalla 

Royalty & Streaming Ltd. (formerly Excalibur Resources Ltd.), Firestone Ventures Inc. and Aurania Resources Ltd. 

Ms. McLean currently serves as CFO for Unigold Inc. and Signature Resources Ltd. Ms. McLean is founder and 
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President of DMc CORPORATE SERVICES INC., a private company that provides financial and administrative 

services to established and emergent businesses, operating in a variety of sectors and industries. 

Stephen Altmann, Director – Age 59  

Mr. Stephen Altmann is currently the Managing Director at Morrison Park Advisors, an independent investment 

banking advisory firm in Toronto, Canada where he provides strategic advice and financial analysis to mining 

companies globally in their evaluation and implementation of strategic transactions. He also has advised several First 

Nation members in Canada. As an investment banker, he has been at major bank-owned Canadian investment banks 

and at bulge-bracket US investment banks where he financed and provided financial and strategic advice, including 

guidance on mergers, acquisitions, asset sales and purchases, fairness opinions and valuations, and other advisory 

services to a large selection of domestic and international public companies, primarily in the mining sector. Steve 

holds a Masters of Business Administration and an Honours Bachelor of Science (Geophysics) degree. He has also 

been a senior executive and board member of publicly traded mining companies.  

Dr. Joseph Poveromo, Director – Age 74 

Dr. Joseph Poveromo received his Bachelor of Science in Chemical Engineering from RPI in 1968 and his MSc. 

(1971) and Ph.D. (1974) in Chemical Engineering from SUNY (Buffalo). He is President of Raw Materials & 

Ironmaking Global Consulting. Joe is an internationally recognized steel industry authority on the technical and 

economic aspects of ironmaking (blast furnace and direct reduction), ironmaking raw materials (iron ore, coke) 

including sintering and pelletizing processes, iron ore mining, processing & properties, steelmaking metallics 

(merchant pig iron, DRI, HBI). Joe has extensive experience working in the Labrador Trough having worked for 15 

years with ArcelorMittal Canada (the former Quebec Cartier Mining Company) as Director of Technology-

International. During his time with Bethlehem Steel he served on the Technical Committee of IOC (Iron Ore Company 

of Canada).  More recently, he has advised on a number of iron ore operations and projects in the region.  

Serge Pelletier, Director – Age 61  

Serge Pelletier is a mining engineer who graduated from Montana School of Mines in 1994. Upon graduation Serge 

joined BHP World Minerals at its New Mexico Operations.  Following two years in New Mexico, Serge and his family 

moved around the world for BHP; Mali, Australia, Canada (NWT), South Africa, Canada (Saskatoon), US (Houston) 

before retiring in 2016 as the Manager North America Closed Sites. In 2018, he took over the Reconstruction Office 

in Lac-Megantic, Quebec to help rebuild the town after the train derailment disaster of 2013.  During his career, Serge 

was involved in large mature mines, small operations, corporate office and exploration projects.  During his tenure 

with BHP, Serge worked extensively in community relations with multiple stakeholders including municipal, 

provincial, state and federal governments including First Nations.    

Carol Seymour, Director – Age 39 

Carol Seymour was born and raised in Labrador City and received a Bachelor of Science degree with Honors from 

Memorial University of Newfoundland in 2003. Since this time, she has been working as a geologist with Canadian 

junior mineral exploration companies where she has gained valuable work experience both in Canada and 

internationally in the mineral exploration field. Carol is a registered Professional Geoscientist with the Association of 

Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of Newfoundland and Labrador (PEGNL) and currently works as a senior 

geologist with Altius Resources Inc. Through her role with Altius and internships at the Iron Ore Company of Canada, 

she has gained extensive experience working throughout the Labrador Trough on various iron ore exploration projects 

and was the project geologist for Altius’ Kami and Julienne Lake iron ore projects.  

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

The Company does not have a formal compensation program. The Board meets to discuss and determine management 

compensation, without reference to formal objectives, criteria or analysis. The general objectives of the Company’s 

compensation strategy are to: (a) compensate management in a manner that encourages and rewards a high level of 
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performance and outstanding results with a view to increasing long-term shareholder value; (b) align management’s 

interests with the long-term interests of shareholders; (c) provide a compensation package that is commensurate with 

other mining companies to enable the Company to attract and retain talent; and (d) ensure that the total compensation 

package is designed in a manner that takes into account the constraints that the Company is under by virtue of the fact 

that it is a mining Company without a history of earnings. 

The Board, as a whole, ensures that total compensation paid to all Named Executive Officers (as hereinafter defined) 

is fair and reasonable. A “Named Executive Officer” (“NEO”) includes: (i) the Company’s Chief Executive Officer; 

(ii) the Company’s Chief Financial Officer; (iii) each of the three most highly compensated executive officers, other 

than the CEO and CFO, who were serving as executive officers as at the end of the most recently completed financial 

year of June 30, 2021, and whose total compensation was more than $150,000; and (iv) any additional individuals for 

whom disclosure would have been required except that the individual was not serving as an officer of the Company 

at the end of the most recently completed financial year. The Board relies on the experience of its members as officers 

and directors with other junior mining companies in assessing compensation levels. 

Cash Salary 

The Company’s compensation payable to the NEOs is based upon, among other things, the responsibility, skills and 

experience required to carry out the functions of each position held by each NEO and varies with the amount of time 

spent by each NEO in carrying out his or her functions on behalf of the Company. Base salary is used to provide the 

NEOs a set amount of money during the year with the expectation that each NEO will perform his responsibilities to 

the best of his ability and in the best interests of the Company. 

In particular the Chief Executive Officer’s compensation will be determined by time spent on: (i) the Company’s 

current mineral property; (ii) reviewing potential mineral properties that the Company may acquire and negotiating, 

on behalf of the Company; and (iii) new business ventures. The Chief Financial Officer’s compensation is primarily 

determined by time spent in reviewing the Company’s financial statements.  

Long Term Compensation and Option-Based Awards 

The Company has no long-term incentive plans other than its Stock Option Plan and RSU Plan. The Company’s 

directors, officers, employees and certain consultants are entitled to participate in the Stock Option Plan and the RSU 

Plan. The Stock Option Plan and RSU Plan are designed to encourage share ownership and entrepreneurship on the 

part of the senior management and other employees. The Board believes that the Stock Option Plan and the RSU Plan 

aligns the interests of the NEO and the Board with shareholders by linking a component of executive compensation 

to the longer-term performance of the Common Shares. 

Options and RSUs are granted by the Board. In monitoring or adjusting the Option and RSU allotments, the Board 

takes into account its own observations on individual performance (where possible) and its assessment of individual 

contribution to shareholder value, previous Option and RSU grants and the objectives set for the NEOs and the Board. 

The scale of Options and RSUs is generally commensurate to the appropriate level of base compensation for each 

level of responsibility. 

In addition to determining the number of Options and RSUs to be granted pursuant to the methodology outlined above, 

the Board also makes the following determinations: 

(a) parties who are entitled to participate in the Stock Option Plan and RSU Plan; 

(b) the exercise price for each Option granted, subject to the provision that the exercise price cannot be lower 

than the prescribed discount permitted by the CSE from the market price on the date of grant; 

(c) the date on which each Option or RSU is granted; 

(d) the vesting period, if any, for each Option or RSU; 

(e) The performance conditions, if any, for each RSU; 

(f) the other material terms and conditions of each Option or RSU grant; and 
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(g) any re-pricing or amendment to an Option or RSU grant. 

The Board makes these determinations subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Stock Option Plan and 

RSU Plan. The Board reviews and approves grants of Options and RSUs on an annual basis and periodically during a 

financial year. 

A summary of the Option and RSU grants to NEOs is provided below. See “EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION –  

Incentive Plan Awards”. 

Employment and Consulting Agreements 

The Company has entered into written consulting agreements with its Interim CEO.  

Steve Roebuck 

The Company has agreed to pay Steve Roebuck, Interim CEO a total of $7,500 per month pursuant to the Roebuck 

Consulting Agreement.  

Pursuant to the consulting agreement (the “Roebuck Consulting Agreement”) between the Company and Steve 

Roebuck, the Company will pay Mr. Roebuck a total of $7,500 per month, to provide the services of Vice President 

of Exploration, Interim CEO and Director of the Company. The Company may provide a discretionary bonus to Mr. 

Roebuck in an amount determined by the Chief Executive Officer after consultation with the compensation committee.  

The Company may terminate the Roebuck Consulting Agreement upon the occurrence of an event of default which 

means (i) a material failure of Mr. Roebuck to properly perform the consulting services, or (ii) the bankruptcy, 

insolvency or appointment of a receiver to Mr. Roebuck. If the Company terminates the Roebuck Consulting 

Agreement without an event of default, the Company must pay Mr. Roebuck a termination payment (“Roebuck 

Termination Payment”) equal to the sum of (i) thirty-six (36) months of consulting fees, any unpaid bonus, an 

amount equal to the average bonus paid to Mr. Roebuck over the previous thirty-six (36) months, and out-of-pocket 

expenses incurred prior to the date of termination. Mr. Roebuck may elect to terminate the Roebuck Consulting 

Agreement by giving a minimum of sixty (60) days written notice.  

Upon a change of control of the Company, as more particularly described in the Roebuck Consulting Agreement, Mr. 

Roebuck shall have the right, for a period of thirty (30) days following such change of control, to elect to terminate 

the Roebuck Consulting Agreement and the Company shall pay to Mr. Roebuck the Roebuck Termination Payment.  

Summary Compensation Table 

The following information is presented in accordance with National Instrument Form 51-102F6V – Statement of 

Executive Compensation – Venture Issuers, for the Company’s financial years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.  

Name and 

Position Year 

Salary, 

consulting 

fee, 

retainer or 

commission 

($) 

Bonus 

($) 

Committee 

or meeting 

fees 

($) 

Value of 

perquisites 

($) 

Value of all 

other 

compensation 

($) 

Total 

compensation 

($) 

Steve Roebuck, 

Interim CEO, and 

Director 

2021 $53,755 $nil $nil $nil $nil $53,755 

2020 $40,850 $nil $nil $nil $nil $40,850 

Donna McLean, 

CFO 

2021 $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 

2020 $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 

Todd Burlingame, 

Former 

President(1)  

2021 $25,000 $nil $nil $nil $nil $25,000 

2020 
$nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 
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Steve Altmann,  

Director 

2021 $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 

2020 $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 

Carol Seymour,  

Director  

2021 $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 

2020 $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 

Joseph Poveromo, 

Director 

2021 $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 

2020 $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 

Serge Pelletier,  

Director  

2021 $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 

2020 $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 
Notes: 

(1) Mr. Burlingame resigned from his role as President on February 1, 2022. Steve Roebuck was appointed to the role of President on the 
same date.  

 

Incentive Plan Awards 

The following table sets forth all outstanding share based and option-based awards to the NEOs as at the fiscal year 

ended June 31, 2021.  

Name and Position 

Type of 

compen-

sation 

security 

Number of 

underlying 

securities 

Exercise 

price per 

security 

($) 

Date of 

exercise 

Closing 

price per 

security 

on date of 

exercise 

($) 

Difference 

between 

exercise price 

and closing 

price on date of 

exercise 

($) 

Total 

value on 

exercise 

date 

($) 

Steve Roebuck, 

CEO and Director 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Donna McLean, 

CFO 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Todd Burlingame, 

Former President(1) 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Notes: 

(1) Mr. Burlingame resigned from his role as President on February 1, 2022. Steve Roebuck was appointed to the role of President on the 

same date. 

 
Termination and Change of Control Benefits 

See “EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION – Employment and Consulting Agreements” for details of the termination and 

change of control benefits for the Roebuck Consulting Agreement. 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

There is not as of the date of this Prospectus, nor has there been since the Company’s inception, any indebtedness of 

any director, executive officer, senior officer, employee or any former director, executive officer, employee or senior 

officer or any associate of any of them, to or guaranteed or supported by the Company either pursuant to an employee 

stock purchase program of the Company or otherwise, and no such individual is or has been indebted to any other 

entity where the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit, or similar arrangement 

or understanding by the Company.  
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AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Audit Committee’s Charter 

The directors of the Company have adopted a charter for the Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee Charter”), 

which sets out the Audit Committee’s mandate, organization, powers and responsibilities. The full text of the Audit 

Committee Charter is attached hereto as Schedule “A” to this Prospectus.  

Composition of the Audit Committee 

The members of the Audit Committee are Stephen Altmann (Chair), Serge Pelletier and Carol Seymour. Mr. Pelletier 

is considered to be independent within the meaning of National Instrument 52-110 - Audit Committees (“NI 52-110”), 

as adopted by the Canadian Securities Administrators. Pursuant to section 6.1 of NI 52-110, the Corporation as a 

venture issuer is exempt from the requirement that each audit committee member be independent. 

Each member of the Audit Committee is considered to be “financially literate” within the meaning of NI 52-110, 

which includes the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of 

complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the Corporation’s 

financial statements. 

 

Name of Member Independent(1) Financially Literate(2) 

Stephen Altmann NO YES 

Serge Pelletier YES YES 

Carol Seymour NO YES 

Notes: 

(1) To be considered independent, a member of the Audit Committee must not have any direct or indirect “material relationship” with the Company. 
A “material relationship” is a relationship which could, in the view of the Board, be reasonably expected to interfere with the exercise of a 

member’s independent judgment. 

(2) To be considered financially literate, a member of the Audit Committee must have the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements 
that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues 

that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements. 

Relevant Education and Experience 

Each of the members of the Audit Committee has extensive education and experience relevant to the performance of 

their responsibilities as members of the Audit Committee. Please see “DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS”. 

Audit Committee Oversight 

As the Company is not a reporting issuer, it was not required to, nor did it have, an Audit Committee at any time 

during the previous financial year. Since the Audit Committee was established, there has not been a recommendation 

of the Audit Committee to nominate or compensate an external auditor where such recommendation has not been 

adopted by the directors of the Company. 

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 

The Audit Committee has adopted specific policies and procedures for the engagement of non-audit services as 

described in the Audit Committee Charter. 

External Auditor Service Fees (By Category) 

The following table discloses the fees billed to the Company by its external auditor during the last two financial years.  

Financial Year Ending Audit Fees(1) Audit Related Fees(2) Tax Fees(3) All Other Fees(4) 
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June 30, 2021 $18,000 Nil $3,500 Nil 

June 30, 2020 $7,000 Nil Nil Nil 

Notes: 

(1) The aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered by the auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual financial statements. 

(2) The aggregate fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the 
Company’s financial statements and are not disclosed in the “Audit Fees” column. 

(3) The aggregate fees billed for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning services. 

(4) No other fees were billed by the auditor of the Company other than those listed in the other columns. 
 

Exemption 

Since the Company is a “Venture Issuer” pursuant to NI 52-110 (its securities are not listed or quoted on any of the 

Toronto Stock Exchange, a market in the United States of America, or a market outside of Canada and the United 

States of America), it is exempt from the requirements of Part 3 (Composition of the Audit Committee) and Part 5 

(Reporting Obligations) of NI 52-110. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The Board and senior management consider good corporate governance to be central to the effective and efficient 

operation of the Company. The Board is committed to a high standard of corporate governance practices. The Board 

believes that this commitment is not only in the best interest of the Company’s shareholders, but that it also promotes 

effective decision making at the Board level. 

The following is a description of the Company’s corporate governance practices. 

Board of Directors 

NI 58-101 defines an “independent director” as a director who has no direct or indirect “material relationship” with 

the issuer. A “material relationship” is as a relationship which could, in the view of the Board, be reasonably expected 

to interfere with the exercise of a member’s independent judgment. 

The Board believes that it functions independently of management, and reviews its procedures on an ongoing basis to 

ensure that it is functioning independently of management. The Board meets without management present, as 

circumstances require. When conflicts arise, interested parties are precluded from voting on matters in which they 

may have an interest. In light of the suggestions contained in National Policy 58-201 - Corporate Governance 

Guidelines, the Board convenes meetings, as deemed necessary, of the independent directors, at which non-

independent directors and members of management are not in attendance. 

The Board is currently comprised of five (5) directors being Steve Altmann, Steve Roebuck, Carol Seymour, Joseph 

Poveromo and Serge Pelletier. Mr. Pelletier and Mr. Poveromo are independent within the meaning of NI 58-101. Mr. 

Roebuck is not independent as he is an officer of the Company and thereby has a “material relationship” with the 

Company. Mr. Altmann is a director of Avidian and has been deemed by the Board to have a “material relationship” 

with the Company. Ms. Seymour is a senior geologist with Altius and therefore has been deemed by the Board to have 

a “material relationship” with the Company.  

Directorships 

The following table sets forth the directors of the Company who currently hold directorships with other reporting 

issuers:  

Name of Director Reporting Issuer 

Stephen Altmann 
Avidian Gold Corp.  

Mundoro Capital Inc. 
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Orientation and Continuing Education 

New members of the Board are provided with: (i) information respecting the functioning of the Board and its 

committees and a copy of the Company’s corporate governance documents; (ii) access to all documents of the 

Company, including those that are confidential; and (iii) access to management. 

The Board is responsible for providing a comprehensive orientation and education program for new directors which 

fully sets out: 

• the role of the Board and its committees; 

• the nature and operation of the business of the Company; and 

• the contribution which individual directors are expected to make to the Board in terms of both time and 

resource commitments. 

In addition, the Board is also responsible for providing continuing education opportunities to existing directors so that 

individual directors can maintain and enhance their abilities and ensure that their knowledge of the business of the 

Company remains current. Board members are encouraged to: (i) communicate with management and auditors; (ii) 

keep themselves current with industry trends and developments and changes in legislation with management’s 

assistance; (iii) attend related industry seminars; and (iv) visit the Company’s operations 

Ethical Business Conduct 

The Board has adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics (the “Code of Conduct”) to encourage and 

promote a culture of ethical business conduct amongst the directors, officers and employees of the Company. Copies 

of the Code of Conduct are available upon written request from the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The 

Board is responsible for ensuring compliance with the Company’s code of conduct. The Code of Conduct was adopted 

after the end of the previous financial year, and there have been no departures from the Company’s Code of Conduct 

since its adoption. 

In addition to those matters which, by law, must be approved by the Board, the approval of the Board is required for: 

• the Company’s annual business plan and budget; 

• material transactions not in the ordinary course of business; and 

• transactions which are outside of the Company’s existing business. 

To ensure the directors exercise independent judgment in considering transactions and agreements in which a director 

or officer has a material interest, all such matters are considered and approved by the independent directors. Any 

interested director would be required to declare the nature and extent of his interest and would not be entitled to vote 

at meetings of directors which evoke such a conflict. 

The Company believes that it has adopted corporate governance procedures and policies which encourage ethical 

behaviour by the Company’s directors, officers and employees. 

Nomination of Directors 

The Company has not established a nominating committee. The Board holds the responsibility for the appointment 

and assessment of directors. 

The Board seeks to achieve a balance of knowledge, experience and capability among its members. When considering 

candidates for director, the Board takes into account a number of factors, including the following (although candidates 

need not possess all of the following characteristics and not all factors are weighted equally): 

• personal qualities and characteristics, accomplishments and reputation in the business community; 
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• current knowledge and contacts in the countries and/or communities in which the Company does business 

and in the Company’s industry sectors or other industries relevant to the Company’s business; and 

• ability and willingness to commit adequate time to Board and committee matters, and be responsive to the 

needs of the Company. 

The Board will periodically assess the appropriate number of directors on the Board and whether any vacancies on 

the Board are expected due to retirement or otherwise. If vacancies are anticipated, or otherwise arise, or the size of 

the Board is expanded, the Board will consider various potential candidates for director. Candidates may come to the 

attention of the Board through current directors or management, stockholders or other persons. These candidates will 

be evaluated at regular or special meeting of the Board, and may be considered at any point during the year. 

Majority Voting Policy 

The Board believes that each director should have the confidence and support of the shareholders of the Company. To 

this end, the Board has unanimously adopted a majority voting policy (the “Majority Voting Policy”).  

Pursuant to the Majority Voting Policy, if, in an uncontested election of directors of the Company, any particular 

nominee for director receives a greater number of votes withheld than number of votes in favour of the nominee, then 

for purposes of this Policy the nominee shall be considered not to have received the support of the shareholders, even 

though duly elected as a matter of corporate law, and such nominee shall promptly tender his or her resignation to the 

Chairman of the Board following the meeting. For the purposes of the Majority Voting Policy, an “uncontested 

election” shall mean an election where the number of nominees for director shall be equal to the number of directors 

to be elected as determined by the Board. 

Compensation 

The Company has not established a compensation committee. The Board reviews the compensation of the directors 

and senior officers and makes recommendations regarding the granting of stock options to directors and senior officers, 

compensation for senior officers, and compensation for senior officers’ and directors’ fees, if any, from time to time. 

Senior officers and directors may be compensated in cash and/or equity for their expert advice and contribution 

towards the success of the Company. The form and amount of cash compensation will be evaluated by the Board, 

which will be guided by the following goals: 

• compensation should be commensurate with the time spent by senior officers and directors in meeting their 

obligations and reflective of the compensation paid by companies similar to the Company in size, business 

and stage of development; and 

• the structure of the compensation should be simple, transparent and easy for shareholders to understand. 

Shareholders will be given the opportunity to vote on all new or substantially revised equity compensation 

plans for directors as required by regulatory policies. 

The Board: 

• reviews and makes recommendations at least annually regarding the Company’s remuneration and 

compensation policies, including short and long-term incentive compensation plans and equity-based plans, 

bonus plans, pension plans (if any), executive stock option plans including the Stock Option Plan and 

grants and benefit plans; 

• has sole authority to retain and terminate any compensation consultant to assist in the evaluation of director 

compensation, including sole authority to approve fees and other terms of the retention; 

• reviews and approves at least annually all compensation arrangements with the senior executives of the 

Company; 

• reviews and approves at least annually all compensation arrangements with the directors of the Company; 

and 
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• reviews the executive compensation sections disclosed in annual management proxy circular distributed to 

the shareholders in respect of the Company’s annual meetings of shareholders. 

Other Board Committees 

The Board has no standing committees other than the Audit Committee.  

Assessment 

The Board does not consider formal assessments useful given the stage of the Company’s business and operations. 

However, the chairman of the Board meets annually with each director individually, which facilitates a discussion of 

his contribution and that of other directors. When needed, time is set aside at a meeting of the Board for a discussion 

regarding the effectiveness of the Board and its committees. If appropriate, the Board then considers procedural or 

substantive changes to increase the effectiveness of the Board and its committees. On an informal basis, the chairman 

of the Board is also responsible for reporting to the Board on areas where improvements can be made. Any agreed 

upon improvements required to be made are implemented and overseen by the Board. A more formal assessment 

process will be instituted as, if, and when the Board considers it to be necessary. 

RISK FACTORS 

An investment in the Company is speculative and involves a high degree of risk. Accordingly, prospective investors 

should carefully consider the specific risk factors set out below, in addition to the other information contained in this 

document, before making any decision to invest in the Company. The Board considers the following risks and other 

factors to be the most significant for potential investors in the Company, but the risks listed do not necessarily comprise 

all those associated with an investment in the Company and are not set out in any particular order of priority. 

Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to the Board may also have an adverse effect on the Company’s 

business. 

If any of the following risks actually occur, the Company’s business, financial condition, capital resources, results or 

future operations could be materially adversely affected. In such a case, the price of the Common Shares could decline 

and investors may lose all or part of their investment. 

Substantial Number of Authorized but Unissued Shares 

The Company has an unlimited number of Common Shares that may be issued by the Board without further action or 

approval of the Company’s shareholders. While the Board is required to fulfill its fiduciary obligations in connection 

with the issuance of such shares, the shares may be issued in transactions with which not all shareholders agree, and 

the issuance of such shares will cause dilution to the ownership interests of the Company’s shareholders. 

Dilution 

The financial risk of the Company’s future activities will be borne to a significant degree by purchasers of the Common 

Shares. If the Company issues Common Shares from its treasury for financing purposes, control of the Company may 

change and purchasers may suffer additional dilution. 

No Market for Securities 

There is currently no market through which any of the Common Shares may be sold and there is no assurance that 

such securities of the Company will be listed for trading on a stock exchange, or if listed, will provide a liquid market 

for such securities. Until the Common Shares are listed on a stock exchange, holders of the Common Shares may not 

be able to sell their Common Shares. Even if a listing is obtained, there can be no assurance that an active public 

market for the Common Shares will develop or be sustained after completion of the Offering. The holding of Common 

Shares involves a high degree of risk and should be undertaken only by investors whose financial resources are 

sufficient to enable them to assume such risks and who have no need for immediate liquidity in their investment. 

Common Shares should not be purchased by persons who cannot afford the possibility of the loss of their entire 

investment. 
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Negative Cash Flow from Operating Activities 

The Company has no history of earnings and had negative cash flow from operating activities since inception. The 

Labrador West Property is in the exploration stage and it is not known whether any potential mineral resources or 

reserves will be economically viable. Significant capital investment will be required to achieve commercial production 

from the Company’s existing projects. There is no assurance that the Labrador West Property will generate earnings, 

operate profitably or provide a return on investment in the future. Accordingly, the Company will be required to obtain 

additional financing in order to meet its future cash commitments. 

Current Market Volatility 

The securities markets in the United States and Canada have recently experienced a high level of price and volume 

volatility, and the market prices of securities of many companies have experienced wide fluctuations in price which 

have not necessarily been related to the operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such 

companies. There can be no assurance that continual fluctuations in price will not occur. It may be anticipated that 

any market for the Common Shares will be subject to market trends generally, notwithstanding any potential success 

of the Company. The value of the Common Shares distributed hereunder will be affected by such volatility. 

Use of Funds 

The Company has prepared a detailed budget setting out the way in which it proposes to expend the funds. However, 

the quantum and timing of expenditure will necessarily be dependent upon receiving positive results from the 

Company’s exploration activities on the Labrador West Property. As the Company conducts its exploration program, 

it is possible that results and circumstances may dictate a departure from the pre-existing budget. Further, the Company 

may, from time to time as opportunities arise, utilise part of its financial resources to participate in additional 

opportunities that arise and fit within the Company’s broader objectives, as a means of advancing shareholder value. 

No Production History 

The Labrador West Property is not a producing property and its ultimate success will depend on its operating ability 

to generate cash flow from producing properties in the future. The Company has not generated any revenue to date 

and there is no assurance that it will do so in the future. The Company’s business operations are at an early stage of 

development and its success will be largely dependent upon the outcome of the exploration programs that the Company 

proposes to undertake. 

Limited Operating History 

The Company has no properties producing positive cash flow and its ultimate success will depend on its ability to 

generate cash flow from producing properties in the future. The Company has not earned profits to date and there is 

no assurance that it will do so in the future. Significant capital investment will be required to achieve commercial 

production from the Company’s existing projects. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to raise the 

required funds to continue these activities. 

The Company has a limited operating history and its mineral properties are exploration stage properties. As such, the 

Company will be subject to all of the business risks and uncertainties associated with any new business enterprise, 

including under-capitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financial and other resources and 

lack of revenues. The current state of the Company’s mineral properties require significant additional expenditures 

before any cash flow may be generated. Although the Company possesses an experienced management team, there is 

no assurance that the Company will be successful in achieving a return on shareholders’ investment and the likelihood 

of success of the Company must be considered in light of the problems, expenses, difficulties, complications and 

delays frequently encountered in connection with the establishment of any business. There is no assurance that the 

Company can generate revenues, operate profitably, or provide a return on investment, or that it will successfully 

implement its plans.  

An investment in the Company’s securities carries a high degree of risk and should be considered speculative by 

purchasers. There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in achieving a return on shareholders’ 

investment and the likelihood of its success must be considered in light of its early stage of operations. You should 
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consider any purchase of the Company’s securities in light of the risks, expenses and problems frequently encountered 

by all companies in the early stages of their corporate development. 

Exploration, Mining and Operational Risks 

The business of exploring for and mining minerals involves a high degree of risk. Few properties that are explored are 

ultimately developed into producing mines. At present, it is not known whether the Labrador West Property has any 

mineral resources or reserves that are economically viable and the proposed exploration and drilling programs are an 

exploratory search for such mineral resources or reserves. 

The Company’s operations are subject to all the hazards and risks normally associated with the exploration, 

development and mining of minerals, any of which could result in risk to life, to property, or to the environment. The 

Company’s operations may be subject to disruptions caused by unusual or unexpected formations, formation 

pressures, fires, power failures and labour disputes, flooding, explosions, cave-ins, landslides, the inability to obtain 

suitable or adequate equipment, machinery, labour or adverse weather conditions. The availability of insurance for 

such hazards and risks is extremely limited or uneconomical at this time. 

In the event the Company is fortunate enough to discover a mineral deposit, the economics of commercial production 

depend on many factors, including the cost of operations, the size and quality of the mineral deposit, proximity to 

infrastructure, financing costs and Government regulations, including regulations relating to prices, taxes, royalties, 

land tenure, land use, importing and exporting minerals and environmental protection. The effects of these factors 

cannot be accurately predicted, but any combination of these factors could adversely affect the economics of 

commencement or continuation of commercial mineral production. 

Mining Claims 

The operations of the Company will require licenses and permits from various governmental authorities. There can be 

no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain all necessary licenses and permits that may be required to carry 

out the exploration and development of its projects in a timely manner or at all. 

The activities of the Company will be subject to government approvals, various laws governing prospecting, 

development, land resumptions, production taxes, labour standards and occupational health, mine safety, toxic 

substances and other matters. Although the Company intends to carry out its activities in accordance with all applicable 

rules and regulations, no assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or that existing 

rules and regulations will not be applied in a manner which could limit or curtail production or development. 

The Company's operations will also be subject to environmental regulations promulgated by government agencies 

from time to time. Environmental legislation provides for restrictions and prohibitions on spills, releases or emissions 

of various substances produced in association with certain mining industry operations, such as seepage from tailings 

disposal areas, which would result in environmental pollution. A breach of such legislation may result in imposition 

of fines and penalties. 

The future operations of the Company may require permits from various federal, state, provincial and local 

governmental authorities. Although Canada has a favourable legal and fiscal regime for exploration and mining, 

including a relatively simple system for the acquisition of mineral titles and relatively low tax burden, possible future 

government legislation, policies and controls relating to prospecting, development, production, environmental 

protection, mining taxes and labour standards could cause additional expense, capital expenditures, restrictions and 

delays in the activities of the Company, the extent of which cannot be predicted. Before development and production 

can commence on any properties, the Company must obtain regulatory and environmental approvals. There is no 

assurance that such approvals can be obtained on a timely basis or at all. The cost of compliance, with changes in 

governmental regulations, has the potential to reduce the profitability of operations. The Company is currently in 

compliance with all material regulations applicable to its exploration activities. 

Country Risks 

The Company's mineral properties are located in and its activities will be conducted Canada. Changes, if any, in 

mining or investment policies, or shifts in political attitude of Canada may adversely affect the Company's operations 
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or profitability. Failure to comply strictly with applicable laws, regulations and local practices relating to mineral right 

applications, and tenure, could result in loss, reduction or expropriation of entitlements, or the imposition of additional 

local or foreign parties as joint venture partners with carried or other interests. 

Mining Decision 

The Company may choose to initiate mining operations on any part of the Labrador West Property, without basing its 

production decision on a feasibility study, pre-feasibility study, preliminary economic assessment or mining study of 

mineral reserves demonstrating economic and technical viability, and therefore be subject to a higher risk of 

uncertainty. There is no assurance, given all of the known and potentially unknown risks associated with the Labrador 

West Property that the Company will be able to profitably carry on mining operations. In addition, there is no assurance 

continued exploration of the Labrador West Property will demonstrate adequate additional mineralization which can 

be mined economically, such that mining operations on the Labrador West Property may not be sustainable beyond 

currently estimated resources. 

Assurance of Title 

The Company has taken all reasonable steps to attempt to ensure that proper title to the all of the Company’s properties 

have been obtained and that all grants of such rights thereunder, if any, have been registered with the appropriate 

public offices. Despite the due diligence conducted by the Company, there is no guarantee that title to such properties 

will not be challenged or impugned. The Company’s mineral property interests may be subject to prior unregistered 

agreements or transfers or aboriginal land claims and title may be affected by undetected defects. 

Although the Company has or will receive title opinions for any properties in which it has a material interest, there is 

no guarantee that title to such properties will not be challenged or impugned. The Company has not conducted surveys 

on all of the claims in which it holds direct or indirect interests. The Company’s properties may be subject to prior 

unregistered agreements or transfers or native land claims and title may be affected by unidentified or unknown 

defects. Title insurance is generally not available for mineral properties and the Company’s ability to ensure that it 

has obtained secure claims to individual mineral properties or mining concessions may be constrained. A successful 

challenge to the Company’s title to a property or to the precise area and location of a property could cause delays or 

stoppages to the Company’s exploration, development or operating activities without reimbursement to the Company. 

Any such delays or stoppages could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition 

and results of operations. 

Possible Loss of Interests in Labrador West Property 

The Labrador West Option Agreement pursuant to which the Company acquired its interest in the Labrador West 

Property requires the Company to becomes listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, the TSX Venture exchange or the 

CSE or assign the Labrador West Option to a company that has its shares listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, the 

TSX Venture exchange or the CSE and to expend certain minimum amounts on the exploration of the Labrador West 

Property. Despite the Company making the necessary expenditures and preparing this prospectus for the purpose of 

listing on the CSE, if the Labrador West Option Agreement is repudiated, however unlikely, the Company may lose 

its interest in the Labrador West Property. 

Possible Failure to Obtain Mining Licences 

Even if the Company does complete the required exploration activities on the Labrador West Property, it may not be 

able to obtain or maintain the necessary licences or permits to conduct mining operations, and thus would realize no 

benefit from such exploration activities. 

Competition 

The Company competes with numerous other companies and individuals possessing greater financial resources and 

technical facilities than itself in the search for, and acquisition of, mineral claims, leases and other mineral interests, 

as well as the recruitment and retention of suitably qualified individuals. 
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Conflicts of Interest 

Some of the Company’s directors and officers act as directors and/or officers of other mineral exploration companies. 

As such, the Company’s directors and officers may be faced with conflicts of interests when evaluating alternative 

mineral exploration opportunities. In addition, the Company’s directors and officers may prioritize the business affairs 

of another Company over the affairs of the Company, however the Company’s directors and officers have a fiduciary 

duty to act in the best interests of the Company. 

Personnel 

The Company has a small management team and the loss of any key individual could affect the Company’s business. 

Additionally, the Company will be required to secure other personnel to facilitate its exploration program on the 

Labrador West Property. Any inability to secure and/or retain appropriate personnel may have a materially adverse 

impact on the business and operations of the Company. 

Volatility of Commodity Prices 

The market prices of commodities are volatile and are affected by numerous factors, which are beyond the Company’s 

control. These factors include international supply and demand, consumer product demand, international economic 

trends, currency exchange rate fluctuations, interest rates, inflation, global or regional political events, as well as a 

range of other market forces. Sustained downward movements in commodity prices could render less economic, or 

uneconomic, some or all of the exploration activities to be undertaken by the Company. 

Environmental Risks and Other Regulatory Requirements 

Inherent with mining operations is an environmental risk. The current or future operations of the Company, including 

exploration and development activities and commencement of production on the Labrador West Property, require 

permits from various governmental authorities. Such operations are governed by laws and regulations that govern 

prospecting, mining, development, production, taxes, labour standards, occupational health, waste disposal, toxic 

substances, land use, environmental protection, mine safety, and other matters. Companies engaged in the 

development and operation of mines and related facilities generally experience increased costs and delays in 

production as a result of needing to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permits. There can be no assurance 

that all permits that the Company requires for future, exploration, development, construction and operation of mining 

facilities and the conduct of mining operations will be obtainable on reasonable terms or that such laws and regulations 

would not have an adverse effect on the operations of the Company. 

The legal framework governing this area is constantly developing, therefore the Company is unable to fully ascertain 

any future liability that may arise from the implementation of any new laws or regulations, although such laws and 

regulations are typically strict and may impose severe penalties (financial or otherwise). The proposed activities of 

the Company, as with any exploration, may have an environmental impact which may result in unbudgeted delays, 

damage, loss and other costs and obligations including, without limitation, rehabilitation and/or compensation. There 

is also a risk that the Company’s operations and financial position may be adversely affected by the actions of 

environmental groups or any other group or person opposed in general to the Company’s activities and, in particular, 

the proposed exploration and mining by the Company in Newfoundland and Labrador.  

Enforcement of Judgments Against Foreign Persons or Companies 

The Company may have officers, directors, experts, and service providers that are resident outside of Canada. It may 

not be possible for investors to effect service of process within Canada. It may not be possible for investors to enforce 

judgments obtained in Canada against any person or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized 

under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for 

service of process. 

It may also be difficult for investors to enforce within Canada any judgments obtained against the Company, including 

judgments predicated upon the civil liability provisions of applicable Canadian securities laws or otherwise. 

Consequently, investors may be effectively prevented from pursuing remedies against the Company under Canadian 

securities laws or otherwise. 
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Dependence on the Labrador West Property  

The Company’s only material property for the purposes of NI 43-101 is the Labrador West Property, which is an early 

stage exploration project. The Labrador West Property is at an exploration stage and there are not yet any defined 

mineral resources that the Company has determined is economically viable. There is uncertainty relating to defining 

any mineral resources and there is no assurance that any defined mineral resources will be upgraded to mineral reserves 

with sufficient geological continuity and extractive characteristics to make them economic. 

Uninsured Risks 

The Company, as a participant in exploration and mining programs, may become subject to liability for hazards such 

as unusual geological or unexpected operating conditions that cannot be insured against or against which it may elect 

not to be so insured because of high premium costs or other reasons. The Company is currently uninsured against all 

such risks as such insurance is either unavailable or uneconomic at this time. The Company also currently has no key 

man insurance or property insurance as such insurance is uneconomical at this time. The Company will obtain such 

insurance once it is available and, in the opinion of the Board, economical to do so. The Company may incur a liability 

to third parties (in excess of any insurance coverage) arising from pollution or other damage or injury. 

The Company is not insured against most environmental risks. Insurance against environmental risks has not been 

generally available to companies within the mining and exploration industry. Without such insurance, and if the 

Company does become subject to environmental liabilities, the costs of such liabilities would reduce or eliminate the 

Company’s available funds or could result in bankruptcy. Should the Company be unable to fully fund the remedial 

costs of an environmental problem, it may be required to enter into interim compliance measures pending completion 

of the required remedy. 

Health and Safety Risks 

A violation of health and safety laws, or the failure to comply with the instructions of relevant health and safety 

authorities, could lead to, among other things, a temporary cessation of activities on the Labrador West Property or 

any part thereof, a loss of the right to prospect for minerals, or the imposition of costly compliance procedures. This 

could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operations and/or financial condition. 

Tax Issues 

Income tax consequences in relation to the securities offered will vary according to the circumstances of each 

purchaser. Prospective purchasers should seek independent advice from their own tax and legal advisers prior to 

subscribing for the securities. 

Additional Requirements for Capital 

Substantial additional financing will be required if the Company is to be successful in pursuing its ultimate strategy 

of discovering and extracting mineral resources. No assurances can be given that the Company will be able to raise 

the additional capital that it may require for its anticipated future operations. Commodity prices, environmental 

rehabilitation or restitution, revenues, taxes, transportation costs, capital expenditures, operating expenses, geological 

results and the political environment are all factors which will have an impact on the amount of additional capital that 

may be required. Any additional equity financing may be dilutive to investors and debt financing, if available, may 

involve restrictions on financing and operating activities. There is no assurance that additional financing will be 

available on terms acceptable to the Company, if at all. If the Company is unable to obtain additional financing as 

needed, it may be required to reduce the scope of its operations or anticipated expansion, forfeit its interest in the 

Labrador West Property, incur financial penalties, or reduce or terminate its operations. 

Public Health Crises such as the Covid-19 Pandemic 

The Company’s business, operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected by the 

outbreak of epidemics or pandemics or other health crises, including the current COVID-19 pandemic. To date, there 

have been a large number of restrictions, business closures, quarantines and a reduction in various activities in a 

number of countries including Canada, the United States, Europe and China. The pandemic has resulted in travel, 
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gathering and other public health restrictions. While these effects are expected to be temporary, the duration of the 

various disruptions to businesses locally and internationally and the related financial and other impacts cannot be 

reasonably estimated at this time. Such public health crises can result in volatility and disruptions in the supply and 

demand for gold and other minerals, global supply chains and financial markets, as well as declining trade and market 

sentiment and reduced mobility of people, all of which could affect commodity prices, interest rates, credit ratings, 

credit risk, share prices and inflation. The risks to the Company of such public health crises also include risks to 

employee health and safety, additional slowdowns or temporary suspensions of operations in geographic locations 

impacted by an outbreak, increased labor, transportation and fuel costs, regulatory changes, political or economic 

instabilities or civil unrest. At this point, the extent to which COVID-19 will or may impact the Company is uncertain 

and these factors are beyond the Company’s control. Any increase in the severity of the pandemic or future outbreaks 

of COVID-19, particularly if the number of COVID-19 cases in Newfoundland continues to rise, could have a material 

adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Smaller Companies 

The share price of publicly traded smaller companies can be highly volatile. The value of the Common Shares may 

go down as well as up and, in particular, the share price may be subject to sudden and large falls in value given the 

restricted marketability of the Common Shares. 

Liquidity of the Common Shares 

Listing on the Exchange should not be taken as implying that there will be a liquid market for the Common Shares. 

Thus, an investment in the Common Shares may be difficult to realise. Investors should be aware that the value of the 

Common Shares may be volatile. Investors may, on disposing of Common Shares, realise less than their original 

investment, or may lose their entire investment. The Common Shares, therefore, may not be suitable as a short-term 

investment. 

The market price of the Common Shares may not reflect the underlying value of the Company’s net assets. The price 

at which the Common Shares will be traded, and the price at which investors may realise their Common Shares, will 

be influenced by a large number of factors, some specific to the Company and its proposed operations, and some that 

may affect the sectors in which the Company operates. Such factors could include the performance of the Company’s 

operations, large purchases or sales of the Common Shares, liquidity or the absence of liquidity in the Common Shares, 

legislative or regulatory changes relating to the business of the Company, and general market and economic 

conditions. 

Force Majeure  

The Company’s projects now or in the future may be adversely affected by risks outside the control of the Company, 

including the price of gold on world markets, labour unrest, civil disorder, war, subversive activities or sabotage, fires, 

floods, explosions or other catastrophes, pandemics, epidemics or quarantine restrictions. 

 Infrastructure  

Exploration, development and processing activities depend, to one degree or another, on adequate infrastructure. 

Reliable roads, bridges, power sources and water supply are important elements of infrastructure, which affect access, 

capital and operating costs. The lack of availability on acceptable terms or the delay in the availability of any one or 

more of these items could prevent or delay exploration or development of the Company’s mineral properties. If 

adequate infrastructure is not available in a timely manner, there can be no assurance that the exploration or 

development of the Company’s mineral properties will be commenced or completed on a timely basis, if at all. 

Furthermore, unusual or infrequent weather phenomena, sabotage, government or other interference in the 

maintenance or provision of necessary infrastructure could adversely affect its operations.  

Exploration operations depend on adequate infrastructure. In particular, reliable power sources, water supply, 

transportation and surface facilities are necessary to explore and develop mineral projects. Failure to adequately meet 

these infrastructure requirements or changes in the cost of such requirements could affect the Company’s ability to 
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carry out exploration and future development operations and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 

business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or prospects.  

 Climate Change Risks  

The Company acknowledges climate change as an international and community concern and it supports and endorses 

various initiatives for voluntary actions consistent with international initiatives on climate change. However, in 

addition to voluntary actions, governments are moving to introduce climate change legislation and treaties at the 

international, national, state/provincial and local levels. Where legislation already exists, regulation relating to 

emission levels and energy efficiency is becoming more stringent. Some of the costs associated with reducing 

emissions can be offset by increased energy efficiency and technological innovation. However, if the current 

regulatory trend continues, the Company expects that this could result in increased costs at some of its operations in 

the future.  

The Company and the mining industry are facing continued geotechnical challenges, which could adversely impact 

the Company’s production and profitability. Unanticipated adverse geotechnical and hydrological conditions, such as 

landslides, floods, seismic activity, droughts and pit wall failures, may occur in the future and such events may not be 

detected in advance. Geotechnical instabilities and adverse climatic conditions can be difficult to predict and are often 

affected by risks and hazards outside of the Company’s control, such as severe weather and considerable rainfall. 

Geotechnical failures could result in limited or restricted access to mine sites, suspension of operations, government 

investigations, increased monitoring costs, remediation costs, loss of ore and other impacts, which could cause one or 

more of the Company’s projects to be less profitable than currently anticipated and could result in a material adverse 

effect on the Company’s business results of operations and financial position. 

General 

Although management believes that the above risks fairly and comprehensibly illustrate all material risks facing the 

Company, the risks noted above do not necessarily comprise all those potentially faced by the Company as it is 

impossible to foresee all possible risks. 

Although the directors of the Company will seek to minimise the impact of the risk factors, an investment in the 

Company should only be made by investors able to sustain a total loss of their investment. Investors are strongly 

recommended to consult a person who specialises in investments of this nature before making any decision to invest. 

PROMOTERS 

Avidian Gold Corp. took the initiative in the primary organization of the Company and accordingly is a promoter of 

the Company. Avidian holds 31,202,842 Common Shares, nil Warrants, nil Options and nil Subscription Receipts of 

the Company, which represents 51.88% of the Common Shares outstanding as of the date hereof, on a partially diluted 

basis. Assuming the exchange and conversion of the Subscription Receipt into Units, the issuance of the Broker 

Warrants and the occurrence of the Distribution, Avidian will hold 32.37% of the Common Shares on a partially 

diluted basis and 29.62% of the Common Shares on a fully diluted basis. See “PRINCIPAL SECURITY HOLDERS” 

and “SELLING SECURITY HOLDERS”. 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS 

There are no legal or regulatory proceedings that the Company is or has been a party to, or that any of its property is 

or has been the subject of, and none are known to be contemplated.  

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL 

TRANSACTIONS 

Except as disclosed herein and elsewhere in this Prospectus, no director or executive officer of the Company, and no 

associate or affiliate of the foregoing persons, has, or has had, any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction 
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or in any proposed transaction that has materially affected or will materially affect the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries.  

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ISSUER AND AGENT 

The Company is not a “related issuer” or a “connected issuer” of or to an Agent (as such terms are defined in National 

Instrument 33-105 – Underwriter Conflicts). The Company did not raise any proceeds using an Agent.  

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

The auditors of the Company are McGovern Hurley LLP, located at 251 Consumers Road, Suite 800, Toronto, 

Ontario, Canada M2J 4R3.  

The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Shares is Capital Transfer Agency ULC, located at 390 Bay Street, 

Suite 920, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5H 2Y2. 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

Except for contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, the only contracts which have been entered into 

by the Company as of the date hereof or which will be entered into prior to the Listing and which can reasonably be 

regarded presently as material are: 

1. The Labrador West Option Agreement dated August 20, 2019 between the Company and Altius, pursuant to 

which the Company acquired an option to acquire a 100% title and interest to the mineral claims that comprise 

mineral licence 026753M, which comprises part of the greater Labrador West Property. The option is exercisable 

by the Company until December 31, 2021 (extended to December 31, 2022 by the Amendment Agreement). In 

September 2019, the Company staked an additional seventy-one (71) mineral claims surrounding the Labrador 

West Property at the recommendation of Altius, which mineral claims comprise mineral licences: 027298M, 

027299M and 027300M. Together with mineral licence 026753M, the Licences make up the greater Labrador 

West Property. Since the additional seventy-one (71) mineral claims fall within the Altius’ area of interest, they 

are subject to the terms of the Labrador West Option Agreement, and upon exercise of the Labrador West Option, 

will be subject to the Royalty Agreement. The terms of the Labrador West Option Agreement were amended by 

the Amendment Agreement.  

See “DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS – Three Year History – Acquisition of the Labrador West Property” 

for complete details of the Labrador West Option Agreement.  

2. The Royalty Agreement dated August 20, 2019 between the Company and Altius Royalty, pursuant to which the 

Labrador West Property is subject to a 2.75% royalty payable by the Company to Altius Royalty on the following 

basis:  

a. For all products and minerals other than Iron Ore, a net smelter royalty payable in perpetuity, which 

shall be calculated by multiplying the applicable Royalty Rate in effect for such period by the 

amount of all net smelter returns attributable to such period; and  

b. For all products and minerals comprising Iron Ore, a gross sales royalty payable in perpetuity, which 

shall be calculated by multiplying the applicable Royalty Rate in effect for such period by the 

amount of all proceeds calculated solely with respect to products and minerals comprising Iron Ore 

attributable to such period, which shall not include certain permissible deductions, as more 

particularly described in the Royalty Agreement;  

3. The Amendment Agreement dated November 27th, 2020 between the Company and Altius, pursuant to which 

the Company and Altius agreed to amend certain terms and conditions of the Labrador West Option Agreement 

by deferring all obligations under the Labrador West Option by one (1) calendar year, including extending the 

time in which:  
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a. the Exploration Expenditures must be incurred by the Company; 

b. the Option may be exercised by the Company; and  

c. the Company must either list its common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange, the TSX Venture 

Exchange, or the CSE, or assign the Option to a company that has its shares listed on the Toronto 

Stock Exchange, the TSX Venture Exchange, or the CSE.  

The Company and Altius entered into the Amendment Agreement due to unforeseen and unavoidable 

ramifications of COVID-19. Except for the extensions related to the matters hereinabove, all other terms and 

conditions of the Labrador West Option Agreement remain unchanged. See “DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS – 

Three year History -– Acquisition of the Labrador West Property” for further details of the terms of the 

Amendment Agreement.  

4. The Second Amendment Agreement dated September 28, 2021 between the Company and Altius, pursuant to 

which the Company and Altius agreed to further amend the Labrador West Option Agreement to provide for an 

adjustment to the share consideration payable to exercise the Labrador West Option. See “DESCRIPTION OF 

BUSINESS – Three year History – Acquisition of the Labrador West Property” for further details of the terms 

of the Second Amendment Agreement. 

5. The Third Amendment Agreement dated November 5, 2021 between the Company and Altius, pursuant to which 

the Company and Altius agreed to further amend the Labrador West Option Agreement to provide for the share 

consideration payable to Altius pursuant the Labrador West Option Agreement to be calculated on a partially 

diluted basis instead of a fully diluted basis. See “DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS – Three year History – 

Acquisition of the Labrador West Property” for further details of the terms of the Third Amendment Agreement. 

6. The Lac Pegma Purchase agreement dated February 2nd, 2021 between the Company and Globex, pursuant to 

which the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Lac Pegma Property, subject to a 2% gross metals royalty.  

See “DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS – Three year History” – for additional details regarding the hereinabove noted 

material contracts.  

EXPERTS 

The following persons or companies whose profession or business gives authority to the report, valuation, statement 

or opinion made by the person or Company are named in this prospectus as having prepared or certified a report, 

valuation, statement or opinion in this prospectus: 

1. Alan F. Philippe, B.Sc., P.Geo is an project geologist employed by Mercator Geological Services Limited and is 

a “qualified person” as defined in NI 43-101 and is one of the two authors responsible for the preparation of the 

Technical Report on the Labrador West Property. 

2. Peter C. Webster, B.Sc., P.Geo is president and senior geoscientist employed by Mercator Geological Services 

Limited and is a “qualified person” as defined in NI 43-101 and is one of the two authors responsible for the 

preparation of the Technical Report on the Labrador West Property. 

3. The audited financial statements included in this Prospectus have been subject to audit by McGovern Hurley 

LLP and their audit report is included herein. McGovern Hurley LLP is independent in accordance with the CPA 

Code of Professional Conduct. 

In addition, certain legal matters relating to the prospectus and CSE listing will be passed upon on behalf of the 

Company by Peterson McVicar LLP. 

None of the foregoing persons or companies have held, received or is to receive any registered or beneficial interests, 

direct or indirect, in any securities or other property of the Company or of its associates or affiliates when such person 

or company prepared the report, valuation, statement or opinion aforementioned or thereafter.  
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PURCHASERS’ STATUTORY RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND 

RESCISSION 

Securities legislation in the Province of Ontario provides purchasers with the right to withdraw from an agreement to 

purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two (2) business days after receipt or deemed receipt of a 

prospectus and any amendment. The securities legislation further provides a purchaser with remedies for rescission or 

damages if the prospectus and any amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, 

provided that the remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed 

by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of 

the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal adviser. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Audited financial statements of the Company for the years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 are included in this 

prospectus, in addition to the quarterly statements for the six-months ended December 31, 2021 and its corresponding 

management’s discussion and analysis. . 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Dated: February 9, 2022 

 

This prospectus constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities previously issued 

by the Company as required by the securities legislation of the province of Ontario. 

 

 

Signed (“Steve Roebuck”)  Signed (“Donna McLean”) 

Name: Steve Roebuck  

Position: Interim CEO & President  

 Name: Donna McLean  

Position: CFO 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

 

 
Signed (“Stephen Altmann”)  Signed (“Serge Pelletier”) 

Name: Stephen Altmann 

Position: Director  

 Name: Serge Pelletier 

Position: Director  
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CERTIFICATE OF THE PROMOTER 

Dated: February 9, 2022 

 

This prospectus constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities previously issued 

by the Company as required by the securities legislation of the province of Ontario. 

 

 

Avidian Gold Corp.  

 

 

Signed (“Steve Roebuck”)   

Avidian Gold Corp.  

Per: Steve Roebuck, President and 

CEO 
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SCHEDULE “A” – AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 

CHARTER OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 

HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP. 

[SEE FOLLOWING PAGES] 

 



HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP. 
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 

This charter (the “Charter”) sets forth the purpose, composition, responsibilities and 
authority of the Audit Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of 
High Tide Resources Corp. (“High Tide” or the “Corporation”). 

1.0 Mandate 

The Committee shall: 

(a) assist the Board in its oversight role with respect to the quality and integrity of the 
financial information; 

(b) assess the effectiveness of the Corporation’s risk management and compliance 
practices; 

(c) assess the independent auditor’s performance, qualifications and independence; 

(d) assess the performance of the Corporation’s internal audit function; 

(e) ensure the Corporation’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and 

(f) prepare such reports of the Committee required to be included in any 
Management Information Circular in accordance with applicable laws or the rules 
of applicable securities regulatory authorities. 

2.0 Composition and Membership 

The Committee shall be composed of not less than three members, each of whom shall be 
a director of the Corporation. A majority of the members of the Committee shall not be an officer 
or employee of the Corporation. A majority of the members shall satisfy the applicable 
independence requirements, and all members shall satisfy the experience requirements, of the 
laws governing the Corporation, the applicable stock exchanges on which the Corporation’s 
securities are listed and applicable securities regulatory authorities. 

Each member of the Committee shall be financially literate as such qualification is 
interpreted by the Board of Directors in its business judgment. 

Members of the Committee shall be appointed or reappointed at the annual meeting of 
the Corporation and in the normal course of business will serve a minimum of three (3) years. 
Each member shall continue to be a member of the Committee until a successor is appointed, 
unless the member resigns, is removed or ceases to be a Director. The Board of Directors may fill 
a vacancy that occurs in the Committee at any time. 

The Board of Directors or, in the event of its failure to do so, the members of the 
Committee, shall appoint or reappoint, at the annual meeting of the Corporation a Chairman 
among their number. The Chairman shall not be a former executive Officer of the Corporation. 
Such Chairman shall serve as a liaison between members and senior management. 



The time and place of meetings of the Committee and the procedure at such meetings 
shall be determined from time to time by the members therefore provided that: 

(a) a quorum for meetings shall be at least three members; 

(b) the Committee shall meet at least quarterly; 

(c) notice of the time and place of every meeting shall be given in writing or by 
telephone, facsimile, email or other electronic communication to each member of 
the Committee at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance of such meeting; 

(d) a resolution in writing signed by all directors entitled to vote on that resolution at 
a meeting of the Committee is as valid as if it had been passed at a meeting of the 
Committee. 

The Committee shall report to the Board of Directors on its activities after each of its 
meetings. The Committee shall review and assess the adequacy of this charter annually and, 
where necessary, will recommend changes to the Board of Directors for its approval. The 
Committee shall undertake and review with the Board of Directors an annual performance 
evaluation of the Committee, which shall compare the performance of the Committee with the 
requirements of this charter and set forth the goals and objectives of the Committee for the 
upcoming year. The performance evaluation by the Committee shall be conducted in such 
manner as the Committee deems appropriate. The report to the Board of Directors may take the 
form of an oral report by the chairperson of the Committee or any other designated member of 
the Committee. 

3.0 Duties and Responsibilities 

3.1  Oversight of the Independent Auditor 

(a) Sole authority to appoint or replace the independent auditor (subject to 
shareholder ratification) and responsibility for the compensation and oversight of 
the work of the independent auditor (including resolution of disagreements 
between Management and the independent auditor regarding financial reporting) 
for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or related work. The 
independent auditor shall report directly to the Committee. 

(b) Sole authority to pre-approve all audit services as well as non-audit services 
(including the fees, terms and conditions for the performance of such services) to 
be performed by the independent auditor. 

(c) Evaluate the qualifications, performance and independence of the independent 
auditor, including (i) reviewing and evaluating the lead partner on the 
independent auditor's engagement with the Corporation, and (ii) considering 
whether the auditor's quality controls are adequate and the provision of permitted 
non-audit services is compatible with maintaining the auditor's independence. 

(d) Obtain and review a report from the independent auditor at least annually 
regarding: the independent auditor's internal quality-control procedures; any 



material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control review, or peer 
review, of the firm, or by any inquiry or investigation by governmental or 
professional authorities within the preceding five (5) years respecting one or more 
independent audits carried out by the firm; any steps taken to deal with any such 
issues; and all relationships between the independent auditor and the 
Corporation. 

(e) Review and discuss with Management and the independent auditor prior to the 
annual audit the scope, planning and staffing of the annual audit. 

(f) Ensure the rotation of the lead (or coordinating) audit partner having primary 
responsibility for the audit and the audit partner responsible for reviewing the 
audit as required by law. 

(g) Review, as necessary, policies for the Corporation's hiring of partners, employees 
or former partners and employees of the independent auditor. 

3.2  Financial Reporting 

(a) Review and discuss with Management and the independent auditor the annual 
audited financial statements prior to the publication of earnings. 

(b) Review and discuss with Management the Corporation's annual and quarterly 
disclosures made in Management's Discussion and Analysis. The Committee shall 
approve any reports for inclusion in the Corporation's Annual Report, as required 
by applicable legislation. 

(c) Review and discuss, with Management and the independent auditor, 
Management's report on its assessment of internal controls over financial 
reporting and the independent auditor's attestation report on Management's 
assessment. 

(d) Review and discuss with Management the Corporation's quarterly financial 
statements prior to the publication of earnings. 

(e) Review and discuss with Management and the independent auditor at least 
annually significant financial reporting issues and judgments made in connection 
with the preparation of the Corporation's financial statements, including any 
significant changes in the Corporation's selection or application of accounting 
principles, any major issues as to the adequacy of the Corporation's internal 
controls and any special steps adopted in light of material control deficiencies. 

(f) Review and discuss with Management and the independent auditor at least 
annually reports from the independent auditors on: critical accounting policies 
and practices to be used; significant financial reporting issues, estimates and 
judgments made in connection with the preparation of the financial statements; 
alternative treatments of financial information within generally accepted 
accounting principles that have been discussed with Management, ramifications 
of the use of such alternative disclosures and treatments, and the treatment 



preferred by the independent auditor; and other material written communications 
between the independent auditor and Management, such as any management 
letter or schedule of unadjusted differences. 

(g) Discuss with the independent auditor at least annually any “Management” or 
“internal control” letters issued or proposed to be issued by the independent 
auditor to the Corporation. 

(h) Review and discuss with Management and the independent auditor at least 
annually any significant changes to the Corporation's accounting principles and 
practices suggested by the independent auditor, internal audit personnel or 
Management. 

(i) Discuss with Management the Corporation's earnings press releases, including the 
use of “pro forma” or “adjusted” non-GAAP information, as well as financial 
information and earnings guidance (if any) provided to analysts and rating 
agencies. 

(j) Review and discuss with Management and the independent auditor at least 
annually the effect of regulatory and accounting initiatives as well as off-balance 
sheet structures on the Corporation's financial statements. 

(k) Review and discuss with the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer the procedures undertaken in connection with the Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer certifications for the annual filings with applicable 
securities regulatory authorities. 

(l) Review disclosures made by the Corporation's Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer during their certification process for the annual filing with 
applicable securities regulatory authorities about any significant deficiencies in the 
design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the 
Corporation's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data or 
any material weaknesses in the internal controls, and any fraud involving 
Management or other employees who have a significant role in the Corporation's 
internal controls. 

(m) Discuss with the Corporation's General Counsel at least annually any legal matters 
that may have a material impact on the financial statements, operations, assets or 
compliance policies and any material reports or inquiries received by the 
Corporation or any of its subsidiaries from regulators or governmental agencies. 

3.3  Oversight of Risk Management 

(a) Review and approve periodically Management's risk philosophy and risk 
management policies. 

(b) Review with Management at least annually reports demonstrating compliance 
with risk management policies. 



(c) Review with Management the quality and competence of Management appointed 
to administer risk management policies. 

(d) Review reports from the independent auditor at least annually relating to the 
adequacy of the Corporation's risk management practices together with 
Management's responses. 

(e) Discuss with Management at least annually the Corporation's major financial risk 
exposures and the steps Management has taken to monitor and control such 
exposures, including the Corporation's risk assessment and risk management 
policies. 

3.4  Oversight of Regulatory Compliance 

(a) Establish procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints 
received by the Corporation regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or 
auditing matters, and the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of 
concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters. 

(b) Discuss with Management and the independent auditor at least annually any 
correspondence with regulators or governmental agencies and any published 
reports which raise material issues regarding the Corporation's financial 
statements or accounting. 

(c) Meet with the Corporation's regulators, according to applicable law. 

(d) Exercise such other powers and perform such other duties and responsibilities as 
are incidental to the purposes, duties and responsibilities specified herein and as 
may from time to time be delegated to the Committee by the Board of Directors. 

4.0  Funding for the Independent Auditor and Retention of Other Independent Advisors 

The Corporation shall provide for appropriate funding, as determined by the Committee, 
for payment of compensation to the independent auditor for the purpose of issuing an audit 
report and to any advisors retained by the Committee. The Committee shall also have the 
authority to retain and, at High Tide’s expense, to set and pay the compensation for such other 
independent counsel and other advisors as it may from time to time deem necessary or advisable 
for its purposes. The Committee also has the authority to communicate directly with internal and 
external auditors. 

5.0  Procedures for Receipt of Complaints and Submissions Relating to Accounting 
Matters 

1. The Corporation shall inform employees on the Corporation’s intranet, if there is one, or via 
a newsletter or e-mail that is disseminated to all employees at least annually, of the officer 
(the “Complaints Officer”) designated from time to time by the Committee to whom 
complaints and submissions can be made regarding accounting, internal accounting controls 
or auditing matters or issues of concern regarding questionable accounting or auditing 
matters. 



2. The Complaints Officer shall be informed that any complaints or submissions so received 
must be kept confidential and that the identity of employees making complaints or 
submissions shall be kept confidential and shall only be communicated to the Committee or 
the Chair of the Committee. 

3. The Complaints Officer shall be informed that he or she must report to the Committee as 
frequently as such Complaints Officer deems appropriate, but in any event no less frequently 
than on a quarterly basis, prior to the quarterly meeting of the Committee called to approve 
interim and annual financial statements of the Corporation. 

4. Upon receipt of a report from the Complaints Officer, the Committee shall discuss the report 
and take such steps as the Committee may deem appropriate. 

5. The Complaints Officer shall retain a record of a complaint or submission received for a 
period of six (6) years following resolution of the complaint or submission. 

6.0  Procedures for Approval of Non-Audit Services 

1. The Corporation’s external auditors shall be prohibited from performing for the Corporation 
the following categories of non-audit services: 

(a) bookkeeping or other services related to the Corporation’s accounting records or 
financial statements; 

(b) financial information systems design and implementation; 

(c) appraisal or valuation services, fairness opinion or contributions-in-kind reports; 

(d) actuarial services; 

(e) internal audit outsourcing services; 

(f) management functions; 

(g) human resources; 

(h) broker or dealer, investment adviser or investment banking services; 

(i) legal services; 

(j) expert services unrelated to the audit; and 

(k) any other service that the Canadian Public Accountability Board determines is 
impermissible. 

2. In the event that the Corporation wishes to retain the services of the Corporation’s external 
auditors for tax compliance, tax advice or tax planning, the Chief Financial Officer of the 
Corporation shall consult with the Chair of the Committee, who shall have the authority to 
approve or disapprove on behalf of the Committee, such non-audit services. All other non-
audit services shall be approved or disapproved by the Committee as a whole. 



3. The Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation shall maintain a record of non-audit services 
approved by the Chair of the Committee or the Committee for each fiscal year and provide a 
report to the Committee no less frequently than on a quarterly basis. 

7.0 Reporting 

The Chairman will report to the Board at each Board meeting on the Committee’s 
activities since the last Board meeting. The Committee will annually review and approve the 
Committee’s report for inclusion in the Annual Information Form. The Secretary will circulate 
the minutes of each meeting of the Committee to the members of the Board. 

8.0 Access to Information and Authority 

The Committee will be granted unrestricted access to all information regarding High Tide 
that is necessary or desirable to fulfill its duties and all directors, officers and employees will be 
directed to cooperate as requested by members of the committee. 

9.0 Review of Charter 

The Committee will annually review and assess the adequacy of this Charter and 
recommend any proposed changes to the Board for consideration. 

Dated: September 28, 2021 
Approved by: Audit Committee 
 Board of Directors 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of High Tide Resources Corp.  

Opinion  

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of High Tide Resources Corp. and its 

subsidiary (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as 

at June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 

loss, consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity and consolidated statements of 

cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 

a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as at June 30, 2021 and 2020 and 

its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 

audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the 

Company incurred a net loss during the year ended June 30, 2021 and has an accumulated 

deficit as at June 30, 2021. As stated in Note 1, these events or conditions, along with other 

matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that material uncertainties exist that cast significant doubt 

on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of 

this matter. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated 

financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
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going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 

intends to liquidate the Company or cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 

process.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 

issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 

assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 

exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 

also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 

responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. The risks of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 

control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 

we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 
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 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 

represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

 

McGovern Hurley LLP 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
 
Toronto, Ontario 
September 21, 2021 
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HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
As at June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

2021 2020
$ $

Assets
Current

Cash 2,351,249             601,355           
Amounts receivable and prepaids 128,687                49,045             
Due from related company (Note 8) -                           138,773           

Total assets 2,479,936             789,173           

Liabilities
Current

Trade payables and accrued liabilities (Note 8) 43,700                  1,210               
Due to related company (Note 8) 152,906                -                      

Total liabilities 196,606                1,210               

Shareholders' Equity
Share capital (Note 5(b)) 4,570,321             2,207,670        
Warrants 59,774                  -                      
Deficit (2,346,765)           (1,419,707)      
Total equity 2,283,330             787,963           
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 2,479,936             789,173           

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND GOING CONCERN (Note 1)
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Notes 10 and 12)
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Note 13)

APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Original signed by Stephen Altmann, Director

Original signed by Steve Roebuck, Director

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

Page 1 of 24



HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
For the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

2021 2020
$ $

Operating Expenses
Exploration and evaluation expenditures (Note 10) 775,510                  1,285,303               
General and administrative (Note 9) 151,548                  54,862                    

927,058                  1,340,165               

Net loss per share - basic and diluted (Note 7) 0.03                        0.05                        

Weighted average number of shares
outstanding - basic and diluted (Note 7) 33,344,459             25,679,426             

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year
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HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP.
Consolidated Statements of Change in Shareholders' Equity
For the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Number of shares Share capital Warrants Deficit Total Equity
$ $ $ $

Balance - June 30, 2019 13,720,000           373,000              -                        (79,542)             293,458           
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year -                            -                         -                        (1,340,165)        (1,340,165)       
Shares issued for cash - private placement (Note 5(b)) 9,050,000             905,000              -                        -                        905,000           
Shares issued for property acquisition (Note 5(b) and 10) 9,296,666             929,670              -                        -                        929,670           
Balance - June 30, 2020 32,066,666           2,207,670           -                        (1,419,707)        787,963           
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year -                            -                         -                        (927,058)           (927,058)          
Shares issued for cash - private placement (Note 5(b)) 14,648,675           2,487,012           -                        -                        2,487,012        
Share issuance costs -                            (64,587)              -                        -                        (64,587)            
Value of warrants issued under private placement -                            (59,774)              59,774               -                        -                       
Balance - June 30, 2021 46,715,341           4,570,321           59,774               (2,346,765)        2,283,330        

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

2021 2020
$ $

Operating activities
Net loss for the year (927,058)             (1,340,165)          
Items not involving cash:

Shares issued for property acquisition - Labrador West -                          914,670               
Shares issued for property acquisition - Black Raven -                          15,000                 

(927,058)             (410,495)             

Changes in non-cash working capital
(Increase) in amounts receivable and prepaids (79,642)               (42,070)               
Increase in trade payables and accrued liabilities 42,490                 973                      

Change in non-cash operating working capital (37,152)               (41,097)               
Net cash flows used in operating activities (964,210)             (451,592)             

Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of shares (Note 5(b)) 2,487,012            905,000               
Cost of issuance (64,587)               -                          
Due from related company 291,679               (137,773)             

Net cash flows from financing activities 2,714,104            767,227               

Increase in cash 1,749,894            315,635               
Cash, beginning of year 601,355               285,720               
Cash, end of year 2,351,249            601,355               

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020  
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND GOING CONCERN 
 

High Tide Resources Corp. (“High Tide” or the “Corporation”) was incorporated by Certificate of 
Incorporation issued pursuant to the provisions of the Ontario Business Corporations Act on October 18, 
2018. The registered head office of the Corporation is located at 18 King Street East, Suite #902, Toronto, 
Ontario, M5C 1C4.  High Tide is in the business of acquiring and exploring iron ore and precious metals 
projects.  High Tide is a subsidiary of Avidian Gold Corp. (“Avidian”) which owns approximately 67% 
of High Tide at June 30, 2021 (2020 – 60%). 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation for the year ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 were 
reviewed, approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors September 21, 2021.  Although 
the Corporation has taken steps to verify title to the properties on which it is conducting exploration and 
in which it has an interest, in accordance with industry standards for the current stage of operations of 
such properties, these procedures do not guarantee the Corporation’s title. Property title may be subject to 
government licensing requirements or regulations, unregistered prior agreements, unregistered claims, 
aboriginal claims, and non-compliance with regulatory and environmental requirements. The 
Corporation’s assets may also be subject to increases in taxes and royalties, renegotiation of contracts, 
and currency exchange fluctuations and restrictions. 
 
The Corporation’s property interests are at an early stage of exploration and, in common with many 
exploration companies, it raises financing for its exploration and appraisal activities in discrete tranches. 
The Corporation has incurred a loss for the year ended June 30, 2021 of $927,058 (2020 - $1,340,165), 
and has an accumulated deficit of $2,346,765 (2020 - $1,419,707).  
 
Although the Corporation has been successful in raising funds to date, there can be no assurance that 
adequate or sufficient funding will be available in the future, or available under terms acceptable to the 
Corporation. In the event that the Corporation is unable to secure further financing, it may not be able to 
complete the development of its mineral projects.   
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The going concern 
basis of presentation assumes that the Corporation will continue in operation for the foreseeable future 
and be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of 
business.  The Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on its ability to obtain 
additional sources of financing to successfully explore, evaluate and develop its mineral projects and 
ultimately, to achieve profitable operations. The success of these endeavours cannot be predicted at this 
time. These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties that cast significant doubt about the 
ability of the Corporation to continue as a going concern.  The consolidated financial statements do not 
reflect adjustments to the carrying values and classification of assets and liabilities that might be 
necessary should the Corporation be unable to continue as a going concern, and such adjustments may be 
material. 
 
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic related to COVID-19. Its 
impact on global economies has been far-reaching and business around the world are being forced to 
cease or limit operations for long or indefinite periods of time. Measures taken to contain the spread of 
the virus, including travel bans, quarantines, social distancing, and closures of non-essential services have 
triggered significant disruptions to businesses worldwide, resulting in an economic slowdown.  
 



HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020  
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND GOING CONCERN (continued) 
 
Global stock markets have also experienced significant volatility. Governments and central banks have 
responded with monetary and fiscal interventions to stabilize economic conditions. There is significant 
ongoing uncertainty surrounding COVID-19 and the extent and duration of the impacts that it may have 
on the Corporation’s financial position and results, exploration activities, workers, partners, consultants, 
suppliers and on global financial markets.  The Corporation has taken measures to contain the spread of 
COVID-19 and is proceeding with its exploration activities, as long as the work environment remains 
safe. 
 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Statement of compliance 
 
These consolidated financial statements of the Corporation have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board ("IASB") and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
("IFRIC") effective for the Corporation's reporting for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. 
 
Basis of presentation 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis except for cash flow 
information. These consolidated financial statements are based on historical costs except for those 
financial instruments carried at fair value and, except where otherwise stated, do not take into account 
changing money values, fair values of assets and liabilities or recoverable amounts. The policies set out 
below have been consistently applied to all years presented. 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its wholly-owned 
subsidiary, Ferrum Exploration Corp., a company incorporated in Ontario.  Subsidiaries consist of entities 
over which the Corporation is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns as well as the ability to affect 
those returns through the power to direct the relevant activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date control is transferred to the Corporation and are deconsolidated from the date 
control ceases. 
 
The financial statements include all assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, and cash flow of the 
Corporation and its subsidiary after eliminating inter-entity balances and transactions. 
 
Presentation and functional currency 
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation’s 
functional currency.  The functional currency of Ferrum Exploration Corp. is the Canadian dollar. 
 
 
 

 



HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020  
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Critical accounting judgments and estimation uncertainties 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the 
Corporation’s management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about future events that 
affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and related notes to the financial 
statements.  
 
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or 
actions, actual results may differ from those estimates and these differences could be material. 
 
The areas which require management to make significant judgments, estimates and assumptions in 
determining carrying values include, but are not limited to: 
 
Functional currency determination 
 
The functional currency for the Corporation and its subsidiary is the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates.  This has been determined to be the Canadian 
dollar for all companies in the group.   

 
Determination of functional currency is conducted through an analysis of the consideration factors 
identified in IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates and may involve certain 
judgments to determine the primary economic environment. The Corporation reconsiders the 
functional currency of its entities if there is a change in events and conditions which determine the 
primary economic environment. Significant changes to those underlying factors could cause a 
change to the functional currency. 
 
Estimation of decommissioning and restoration costs and the timing of expenditure 
 
The cost estimates are updated annually during the life of a project to reflect known developments, 
(e.g. revisions to cost estimates and to the estimated lives of operations) and are subject to review at 
regular intervals. Decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities are estimated based on the 
Corporation’s interpretation of current regulatory requirements, constructive obligations and are 
measured at fair value. 
 
Fair value is determined based on the net present value of estimated future cash expenditures for 
the settlement of decommissioning, restoration or similar liabilities that may occur upon 
decommissioning of the mine. Such estimates are subject to change based on changes in laws and 
regulations and negotiations with regulatory authorities. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Income, value added, withholding and other taxes 
 
The Corporation is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. Significant 
judgment is required in determining the Corporation’s provisions for taxes. There are many 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the 
ordinary course of business. The Corporation recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues 
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.  
 
The determination of the Corporation’s income, value added, withholding and other tax liabilities 
requires interpretation of complex laws and regulations. The Corporation’s interpretation of taxation 
law as applied to transactions and activities may not coincide with the interpretation of the tax 
authorities. All tax related filings are subject to government audit and potential reassessment 
subsequent to the financial statement reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these matters 
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the tax related 
accruals and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
 
Share-based compensation 
 
Management is required to make certain estimates when determining the fair value of share-based 
compensation. These estimates affect the amount recognized as share-based compensation in the 
consolidated financial statements and are based on the estimated current share price of the 
Corporation’s shares. 
 
Contingencies 
 
See Note 12. 
 
Cash 
 
Cash in the consolidated statement of financial position comprises cash held in approved banks. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Non-derivative financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified and measured as “financial 
assets at fair value”, as either fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) or fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and “financial assets at amortized costs”, as appropriate. The 
Corporation determines the classification of financial assets at the time of initial recognition based 
on the Corporation’s business model and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 
 
All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at 
FVPL, directly attributable transaction costs on the trade date at which the Corporation becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 



HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining their 
classification at FVPL or at amortized cost.  Cash, amounts receivable and due from related 
company held for collection of contractual cash flows are measured at amortized cost. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at amortized cost 
After initial recognition, financial assets measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at 
the end of each reporting period at amortized cost using the Effective Interest Rate (“EIR”) method. 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance income 
in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVPL 
Financial assets measured at FVPL include financial assets management intends to sell in the short 
term and any derivative financial instrument that is not designated as a hedging instrument in a 
hedge relationship. Financial assets measured at FVPL are carried at fair value in the consolidated 
statements of financial position with changes in fair value recognized in other income or expense in 
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Corporation does not have 
any financial assets at FVPL. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVOCI 
Financial assets measured at FVOCI are non-derivative financial assets that are not held for trading 
and the Corporation has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to measure the 
assets at FVOCI. The Corporation does not measure any financial assets at FVOCI.  
 
After initial measurement, investments measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value 
with unrealized gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income or loss in the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. When the investment is sold, the cumulative gain 
or loss remains in accumulated other comprehensive income or loss and is not reclassified to profit 
or loss. 
 
Derecognition 
A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or the Corporation no longer retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
The Corporation’s financial assets subject to impairment are other amounts receivable and amount 
due from related party, which are measured at amortized cost. The Corporation has elected to apply 
the simplified approach to impairment as permitted by IFRS 9, which requires the expected lifetime 
loss to be recognized at the time of initial recognition of the receivable. To measure estimated credit 
losses, accounts receivable have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, including 
the number of days past due.  
 
 



HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Financial instruments (continued) 
 
An impairment loss is reversed in subsequent periods if the amount of the expected loss decreases 
and the decrease can be objectively related to an event occurring after the initial impairment was 
recognized. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at FVPL 
as is the case for held for trading or derivative instruments, or the Corporation has opted to measure 
the financial liability at FVPL. All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and in the 
case of long-term debt, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial liabilities at amortized cost 
After initial recognition, financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured 
at the end of each reporting period at amortized cost using the EIR method. Amortized cost is 
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that 
are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance cost in the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive loss.  The Corporation’s trade payables and accrued 
liabilities and amount due to related company are measured at amortized cost. 
 
Subsequent measurement – Financial liabilities at FVPL 
Financial liabilities measured at FVPL include financial liabilities management intends to sell in the 
short term and any derivative financial instrument that is not designated as a hedging instrument in a 
hedge relationship. Financial liabilities measured at FVPL are carried at fair value in the 
consolidated statements of financial position with changes in fair value recognized in the 
consolidated statements of operations. The Corporation does not measure any financial liabilities at 
FVPL. 
 
Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled 
or expires with any associated gain or loss recognized in other income or expense in the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 
 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
 
The Corporation expenses exploration and evaluation expenditures as incurred. Exploration and 
evaluation expenditures include acquisition cost of mineral properties, property payments and 
evaluation activities. Once a project has been established as commercially viable and technically 
feasible, related development expenditures are capitalized. This includes costs incurred in preparing 
the site for mining operations. Capitalization ceases when the mine is capable of commercial 
production, with the exception of development costs that give rise to a future benefit. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
At each reporting date the carrying amounts of the Corporation’s non-financial assets are reviewed 
to determine whether there is an indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment, if any.  
 
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount and the impairment 
loss is recognized in the profit or loss in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss for the period. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash 
inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. 
 
At the end of each reporting date, the Corporation assesses whether there is any indication that 
previously recognized impairment losses no longer exist.  If such an indication exists, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable 
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined net of amortization or depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized 
for the asset (or cash generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized 
immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Provisions 
 
A provision is recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position when the Corporation 
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow 
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably 
estimated. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
 
A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the 
Corporation from such contracts are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under 
the contracts.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities 

 
A legal or constructive obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs may 
arise when environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration, development or ongoing 
production of a mineral property interest. Such costs arising from the decommissioning of plant 
and other site preparation work, discounted to their net present value, are provided for and 
capitalized at the start of each project to the carrying amount of the asset, as soon as the obligation 
to incur such costs arises. Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time value of money 
are used to calculate the net present value. These costs are charged against profit or loss over the 
economic life of the related asset, through amortization using either a unit-of-production or the 
straight-line method as appropriate. The related liability is adjusted for each period for the 
unwinding of the discount rate and for changes to the current market based discount rate, amount 
or timing of the underlying cash flows needed to settle the obligation.   
 
Costs for restoration of subsequent site damage which is created on an ongoing basis during 
production are provided for at their net present values and included in profit or loss as extraction 
progresses. 
 
Flow-through shares 
 
The Corporation may, from time to time, issue flow-through common shares to finance a portion of its 
exploration program. Pursuant to the terms of the flow-through share agreements, these shares transfer 
the tax deductibility of qualifying resource properties to investors.  
 
On the date of issuance of the flow-through shares, the premium relating to the proceeds received in 
excess of the fair value of the Corporation’s common shares is allocated to premium on flow-through 
shares liability. If renouncement is retrospective, the Corporation derecognizes the premium liability 
when the paperwork to renounce is filed. If the renouncement will occur at a future date, the 
Corporation derecognizes the premium liability as qualifying flow-through expenditures are incurred. 
The reduction to the premium liability in the period of renunciation is recognized through operations. 
 
The Corporation may also be subject to a Part XII.6 tax on flow-through proceeds renounced under the 
lookback rule, in accordance with Government of Canada flow-through regulations. When applicable, 
this tax is reflected as a financial expense. 
 
Income taxes 
 
Income tax on the profit or loss for the years presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income 
tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in "other 
comprehensive income", in which case it is recognized in equity. 
 
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at year end, adjusted for amendments to taxes payable with 
regards to previous years. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Income taxes (continued) 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes.  The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the financial position reporting date.  A deferred tax asset is recognized only 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can 
be utilized. 
 
To the extent that the Corporation does not consider it probable that a deferred tax asset will be 
recovered, it does not recognize any asset. 
 
Loss per share 
 
The Corporation presents basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares, calculated by 
dividing the loss attributable to common shareholders of the Corporation by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted loss per share is determined by 
adjusting the loss attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares. 
 
Share-based compensation 
 
Management determines costs for share-based compensation using market-based valuation 
techniques. The fair value of the market-based and performance-based share awards is determined at 
the date of grant using generally accepted valuation techniques. Assumptions are made and judgment 
used in applying valuation techniques. These assumptions and judgments include estimating the 
future volatility of the stock price, expected dividend yield. Such judgments and assumptions are 
inherently uncertain. Changes in these assumptions affect the fair value estimates. 
 
Equity-settled share-based compensation to employees and others providing similar services are 
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the 
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in the share 
capital note. 
 
Equity-settled share-based compensation transactions with parties other than employees are 
measured at the fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be 
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments 
granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service. 
 
Segment reporting 
 
The Corporation operates in a single reportable operating segment, namely the acquisition, 
exploration and development of mineral exploration projects. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Issued capital 
 
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
 
Quebec refundable tax credit and refundable mining duty 
 
The Corporation is entitled to a credit on duties refundable under the Mining Duties Act in certain 
circumstances. This credit on duties on exploration costs incurred in the Province of Quebec is 
recognized as a reduction to exploration and evaluation expenditures in the consolidated statement 
of operations. 
 
Furthermore, the Corporation is entitled to a refundable tax credit on qualified expenditures 
incurred in Quebec. The refundable tax credit for exploration expenditures is 38.75% of qualified 
expenditures incurred. 
 
The Corporation estimates the benefits to be recognized from refundable tax credits relating to 
qualified expenditures incurred. These receivables are recognized to the extent that it is probable 
that the Corporation has met all eligibility requirements for the expenditures in the period they are 
incurred. The Corporation presents these credits as a reduction to exploration and evaluation 
expenditures in the consolidated statement of operations. 
 
Recent accounting pronouncements 
 
Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting 
periods commencing on or after July 1, 2021. Many are not applicable or do not have a significant 
impact to the Corporation and have been excluded. The following have not yet been adopted and 
are being evaluated to determine their impact on the Corporation. 
 
IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”) was amended in January 2020 to provide a 
more general approach to the classification of liabilities under IAS 1 based on the contractual 
arrangements in place at the reporting date. The amendments clarify that the classification of 
liabilities as current or noncurrent is based solely on a company’s right to defer settlement at the 
reporting date. The right needs to be unconditional and must have substance. The amendments also 
clarify that the transfer of a company’s own equity instruments is regarded as settlement of a 
liability, unless it results from the exercise of a conversion option meeting the definition of an equity 
instrument. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2023. 
  
IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent Assets (“IAS 37”) was amended. The 
amendments clarify that when assessing if a contract is onerous, the cost of fulfilling the contract 
includes all costs that relate directly to the contract – i.e. a full-cost approach. Such costs include 
both the incremental costs of the contract (i.e. costs a company would avoid if it did not have the 
contract) and an allocation of other direct costs incurred on activities required to fulfill the contract – 
e.g. contract management and supervision, or depreciation of equipment used in fulfilling the 
contract. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2022. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Accounting changes 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Corporation adopted a number of new IFRS standards, 
interpretations, amendments and improvements of existing standards. These included IAS 1 and 
IFRS 3. These new standards and changes did not have any material impact on the Corporation’s 
consolidated financial statements. 
 

3. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

When managing capital, the Corporation’s objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going 
concern as well as to achieve optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 
Management adjusts the capital structure as necessary in order to support the acquisition, exploration 
and development of mineral exploration assets.  
 
The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but 
rather relies on the expertise of the Corporation's management team to sustain the future 
development of the business. The Corporation considers its capital to be equity, which comprises 
issued capital, warrants and deficit, which at June 30, 2021, totaled $2,283,330 (2020 - $787,963). 
 
The Corporation invests all capital not required for its immediate needs in short-term, liquid and 
highly rated financial instruments, such as cash and other short-term guaranteed deposits, all held 
with select major Canadian financial institutions. 
 
The Corporation is currently attempting to identify an economic mineral resource and as such, the 
Corporation is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out the planned 
acquisitions and exploration, as well as pay for administrative costs, the Corporation will spend its 
existing working capital and raise additional amounts as needed. 
 
Management has chosen to mitigate the risk and uncertainty associated with raising additional 
capital in current economic conditions by: 
 
a.   maintaining a liquidity cushion in order to address any potential disruptions or industry 

downturns; 
b.   minimizing discretionary disbursements; and 
c.   exploring alternative sources of liquidity. 
 
In light of the above, the Corporation will continue to assess new properties if the Corporation 
believes there is sufficient potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do so. 
 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 
approach, given the relative size of the Corporation, is appropriate.  There were no significant 
changes in the Corporation’s approach to capital management during the years ended June 30, 2021 
and 2020. 
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4. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS  
 
The Corporation’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk (specifically commodity price risk).  
 
Risk management is carried out by the Corporation's management team with guidance from the 
Audit Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also 
provides regular guidance for overall risk management. 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment 
obligations. The Corporation's credit risk is attributable to cash. Cash is held with a reputable 
financial institution, from which management believes the risk of loss to be remote. 
 
Included in amounts receivable is sales tax receivable from government authorities in Canada. 
Amounts receivable are in good standing as of June 30, 2021 and 2020. Management believes that 
the credit risk concentration with respect to financial instruments included in amounts receivable is 
minimal. 
 
The Corporation is also exposed to credit risk on the amount due from related party. The carrying 
amount represents the Corporation’s maximum credit exposure. The provision for expected credit 
losses on this amount is $nil (2020 - $nil). 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its 
financial obligations as they become due. The Corporation's liquidity and operating results may be 
adversely affected if the Corporation's access to the capital market is hindered, whether as a result of 
a downturn in stock market conditions generally or related to matters specific to the Corporation. 
 
The Corporation generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities. As at June 30, 2021, the 
Corporation had cash of $2,351,249 (2020 - $601,355) to settle current liabilities of $196,606 (2020 
- $1,210). The Corporation regularly evaluates its cash position to ensure preservation and security 
of capital as well as maintenance and liquidity.   
 
All of the Corporation's current financial liabilities as at June 30, 2021 have contractual maturities of 
less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade terms.   
 
Market risk 
 
Commodity price risk  
 
The Corporation is exposed to price risk with respect to iron ore and precious metals prices. 
Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due 
to price movements and volatilities. The Corporation closely monitors the prices to determine the 
appropriate course of action to be taken by the Corporation. 
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4. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (continued) 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
 
As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, both the carrying and fair value amounts of the Corporation’s 
financial instrument are approximately equivalent due to their short-term nature. Management does 
not believe the Corporation is exposed to any significant interest rate or currency exchange risks 
with respect to its financial instruments. 
 
Fair value hierarchy and liquidity risk disclosure 
 
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 
 
Level 1   Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2   Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 
Level 3   Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs). 
 

At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Corporation did not hold any financial assets in the fair value 
hierarchy. 
 

5. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

(a) Authorized  
 
Unlimited number of common shares, with no par value. 

 
(b) Issued  

 
(i) On September 19, 2019, the Corporation issued 9,146,666 common shares valued at 

$0.10 per share for a total value of $914,670 as consideration for the assumption of 
the rights to the option to acquire 100% of the Labrador West iron ore project.  See 
Note 10.  The fair value of the shares was estimated at $0.10 based on the most 
recently completed private placement that closed prior to the share issuance.   

(ii) In December 2019, the Corporation issued 8,300,000 flow-through shares to 
Avidian at a price of $0.10 per share for total gross proceeds of $830,000.  

(iii) In December 2019, the Corporation issued 750,000 common shares to Avidian at a 
price of $0.10 per share for total gross proceeds of $75,000.   

(iv) In January 2020, the Corporation issued 150,000 shares valued at $0.10 for a total 
value of $15,000 pursuant to the Black Raven property agreement. See Note 10.  
The fair value of the shares was estimated at $0.10 based on the most recently 
completed private placement that closed prior to the share issuance. 
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5. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

(b) Issued (continued)  
 

(v) In December 2020, the Corporation closed a flow-through private placement to raise 
gross proceeds of $299,500. The offering consisted of the issuance of 2,495,833 
units (“Unit”). Each Unit was offered at a price of $0.12 and consisted of one 
common share and one-half of one common share purchase warrant, with each 
whole warrant exercisable at a price of $0.15 per common share if exercised within 
24 months of the closing of the offering.  A director of the Corporation subscribed 
for 208,333 units for gross proceeds of $25,000. 

(vi) In June 2021, the Corporation issued 12,152,842 flow-through shares to Avidian at a 
price of $0.18 per share for total gross proceeds of $2,187,512.  
 

6. WARRANTS 
 
The following is a summary of warrant activity for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020: 
 

 
 

(i) In connection with the December 2020 private placement disclosed in Note 5, the 
Corporation issued 1,247,917 warrants. The grant date fair value of $59,774 
assigned to the warrants was estimated using the Black Scholes option pricing 
model with the following assumptions: expected dividend yield of 0%, expected 
volatility of 115%, a risk free interest rate of 0.26%, share price of $0.10 and an 
expected maturity of 2 years.   

 
Summary of warrants outstanding at June 30, 2021: 
 

 
 
 

Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise

Number price Number price
$ $

Balance, beginning of year -                -         -             -          
Granted in connection with
      private placements 1,247,917      0.15       -             -          
Balance, end of year 1,247,917      0.15       -             -          

June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020

Exercise Fair value of
Warrants price warrants Expiry date

# $ $
1,247,917  0.15                      59,774         December 30, 2022
1,247,917  59,774         
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7. BASIC AND DILUTED NET LOSS PER SHARE 
 
           The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended June 30, 2021 was based on the 

loss of $927,058 (2020 - $1,340,165) and the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding of 33,344,459 (2020 - 25,679,426).  

 
8. RELATED PARTY  TRANSACTIONS 

 
a) The remuneration of key management personnel is comprised of 

 

 
 *Key management personnel include directors, officers and former directors/officers. 
 

b) See Note 5(b). 
c) Trade payables and accrued liabilities as at June 30, 2021 include $5,600 (2020 - $526) owed to 

officers of the Corporation.  Such amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and with no 
fixed terms of payment.  

d) The amounts due to/from related company are due to/from Avidian.  The balance is unsecured, 
non-interest bearing with no fixed terms of repayment. 
 

9. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE 
 

 
 

10. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURES 
 

Labrador West 
 
On August 28, 2019, the Corporation agreed to terms with Altius Resources Inc. (“Altius”), a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Altius Minerals Corp., to acquire 100% of the Labrador West iron ore project, 
located in the Labrador Trough. 
 
 
 
 
 

June 30, June 30,
2021 2020

Consulting fees 103,750$        25,380$         
Exploration and evaluation expenditures 57,825            -                 

161,575$        25,380$         

June 30, June 30,
2021 2020

Consulting fees and investor relations 111,250$        50,000$         
Office supplies, bank charges and transfer agent 4,421              1,587             
Professional fees 35,000            -                 
Travel 877                 3,275             

151,548$        54,862$         
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10. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURES (continued) 
 
Altius has granted the Corporation an exclusive option to purchase the 100% undivided interest in 
and to the project upon: (i) incurring exploration expenditures on the project of at least 2,000,000 by 
December 31, 2021; (ii) the issuance of a number of common shares such that Altius will own 19.9% 
of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Corporation immediately following cumulative 
equity financings of no less than $5,000,000; and (iii) the Corporation becoming a publicly-listed 
company in Canada within 24 months from the execution date. 
 
Upon acquiring a 100% interest in the project, the public company shall grant to Altius a 2.75% 
gross sales royalty (GSR) on all iron ore produced, removed and recovered from the project. 
 
Additionally, the Corporation has issued 9,146,666 common shares to arm's-length parties as 
consideration for the assumption of the rights to the option. The fair value of these consideration 
shares was estimated to be $0.10 based on price of the shares issued in the most recent private 
placement closed by the Corporation.  

 
Lac Pegma 
 
On February 2, 2021, HTR Corp. entered into a purchase agreement with Globex Mining Enterprises 
Inc. (“Globex”) to purchase 100% of the Lac Pegma copper-nickel-cobalt sulphide deposit located 
approximately 50 kilometres south of Fermont, Que. 
 
The terms of the purchase agreement are as follows: HTR Corp. paid Globex $10,000 in cash and an 
undertaking to issue 650,000 shares of HTR Corp. upon completion of an initial public 
offering/liquidity event prior to September 30, 2021. In addition, Globex will retain a 2% gross metal 
royalty with a 1% buyback option for $1,500,000 exercisable at any time at the discretion of the 
Corporation. 
 
Further, on February 25, 2021, HTR Corp. increased its land position by acquiring 35 additional 
mineral exploration claims adjacent to its Lac Pegma copper-nickel-cobalt sulphide deposit. 
 
Black Raven 
 
On November 26, 2018, the Corporation entered into an option to earn a 100% interest in the Black 
Raven property over three years for the consideration of the issuance of $275,000 in shares and  the 
completion of at least $70,000 of exploration work. The vendor retains a 2% NSR, of which 1.75% 
can be purchased by HTR Corp. for $2,000,000. The Corporation is required to make minimum 
payments as follows:  
 

a. Upon signing of agreement date: CDN$10,000 worth of HTR Corp. shares (shares issued) 
b. First anniversary of agreement date: CDN$15,000 worth of HTR Corp. shares (shares 

issued) 
c. Second anniversary of agreement date: CDN$250,000 worth of HTR Corp. shares 

 
In October 2020, the Corporation decided it would not proceed with the option agreement. 
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10. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURES (continued) 
 
The following table summarizes exploration and evaluation expenditures for each of the 
Corporation’s respective properties. 
 

 
 

11. INCOME TAXES 
 

The Corporation utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for incomes taxes. The 
estimated taxable income for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 is $Nil. Based upon the level 
of historical taxable income, it cannot be reasonably determined if the Corporation will realize 
deferred income tax assets. 
 
(a) Provision for income taxes 

 
Major items causing the Corporation's effective income tax rate to differ from the combined 
statutory rate of 26.5% (2020 – 26.5%) were as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

June 30, June 30,
Labrador West 2021 2020
Acquisition and holding costs (3,550)$            921,105$          
Evaluation expenditures 763,505            279,598            

759,955$          1,200,703$       

Lac Pegma
Acquisition and holding costs 32,558$            -$                  
Evaluation expenditures 159,587            -                    

192,145$          -$                  

Black Raven
Acquisition and holding costs -$                 (1,831)$            
Evaluation expenditures -                   86,431              

-$                 84,600$            

(61,840)$          -$                  

(114,750)$        -$                  

TOTAL EXPLORATION AND
     EVALUATION EXPENDITURES 775,510$          1,285,303$       

Newfoundland Junior Exploration Assistance 
       Program Grant

Quebec Tax Credit for Eligible Exploration Expenses
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11. INCOME TAXES (continued) 
 

(a) Provision for income taxes (continued) 
 

 
 

(b) Deferred income taxes 
 
Deferred income tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following deductible 
temporary differences: 
 

 
 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not probable 
that future taxable profit will be available against which the Corporation can use the benefits. 
 
The Corporation has approximately $242,000 (2020 - $90,000) of non- capital losses in Canada 
as at June 30, 2021, which under certain circumstances can be used to reduce the taxable income 
of future years.  
 
The non-capital losses in Canada will expire as follows: 
 

 
 

 
 

2021 2020
$ $

(Loss) before income taxes (927,058)      (1,340,165)   

Expected income tax recovery based on statutory rate (246,000)      (355,000)      
Adjustment to expected income tax benefit:

Flow-through renunciation 243,000       109,000       
Change in benefit of tax assets not recognized 3,000           246,000       

Deferred income tax provision (recovery) -               -               

2021 2020
Canada $ $
Non-capital loss carry-forwards 242,000    90,000        
Mineral exploration property costs 76,000      35,000        
Other 52,000      -                  

Total 370,000     125,000      

2039 37,000$            
2040 53,000              
2041 152,000            
Total 242,000$          
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11. INCOME TAXES (continued) 
 

(c) Canadian development and exploration expenditures 
 
The Corporation has approximately $76,000 of Canadian development and exploration 
expenditures as at June 30, 2021 (2020 - $35,000) which under certain circumstances can used to 
reduce taxable income in future years. 
 

12. CONTINGENCIES 
 

Environmental contingencies  
 
The Corporation's exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the 
protection of the environment. These laws and regulations are continually changing and generally 
becoming more restrictive. The Corporation conducts its operations so as to protect public health and 
the environment and believes its operations are materially in compliance with all applicable laws and 
regulations.  
 
Flow-through commitment 
 
The Corporation is obligated to spend $415,972 by December 31, 2021 and $2,187,512 by 
December 31, 2022 for the issuance of flow-through shares by HTR Corp. As at June 30, 2021, the 
Corporation had spent $13,920 and is obligated to spend an additional $402,052 to satisfy the 
December 31, 2021 obligation. The Corporation has not incurred any expenditures with respect to its 
December 31, 2022 obligation. The flow-through agreements require the Corporation to renounce 
certain tax deductions for Canadian exploration expenditures incurred on the Corporation’s mineral 
properties to flow-through participants. The Corporation has indemnified the subscribers for certain 
tax related amounts that become payable by the subscribers should the Corporation not meet its 
expenditure commitments. 
 

13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

(a) Initial Public Offering and Subscription Receipt Financing 
 
The Corporation has initiated the process of becoming a reporting issuer with the intention to list 
its common shares on a recognized Canadian stock exchange (the “Listing Exchange”). In 
connection with the Listing (as defined hereinafter), the Corporation issued 7,332,063 
subscription receipts (each a “Subscription Receipt”) in two tranches at a price of $0.15 per 
Subscription Receipt (the “Offering”), with 3,371,732 Subscription Receipts issued on 
September 14th, 2021 and 3,960,331 Subscription Receipts issued on September 16th, 2021. 
Each Subscription Receipt is convertible into one unit of the Company (each, a “Subscription 
Receipt Unit”), with each Subscription Receipt Unit comprised of one common share and one 
half of one common share purchase warrant (each whole, a “Subscription Receipt Warrant”) 
with each Subscription Receipt Warrant entitling the holder to purchase one common share at a 
price of $0.20 for a period of 36 months from the Exchange Date (as defined hereinafter).  
 
 



HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020  
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 

Page 24 of 24 
 

13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued) 
 

(a) Initial Public Offering and Subscription Receipt Financing (continued) 
 
Persons who acted as finders to the Offering will be issued an aggregate of 67,584 broker 
warrants (each, a “Broker Warrant”) with each Broker Warrant entitling the holder to purchase 
one Subscription Receipt Unit at a price of $0.15 for a period of thirty-six (36) months from the 
closing date of the Offering.   
 
The subscription funds from the Offering (the “Escrowed Funds”) will be held in escrow by the 
subscription receipt and escrow agent (the “Subscription Receipt and Escrow Agent”) until the 
satisfaction of the following conditions: (i) the receipt of written confirmation from the Listing 
Exchange that all conditions precedent to the Corporation listing its common shares on the 
Listing Exchange have been satisfied (the “Listing”), and (ii) the Listing to occur within six (6) 
months of the closing date of the Offering (the “Escrow Release Conditions”). 
 
At the time the Escrow Release Conditions are satisfied, the Corporation will forthwith delivery 
a certificate (the “Release Certificate”) executed by the Company to the Subscription Receipt 
and Escrow Agent confirming that the Escrow Release Conditions have been met upon which 
the Subscription Receipts shall be deemed to be automatically exchanged (the “Exchange 
Date”), for no additional consideration and without further action on the part of the holders of 
the Subscription Receipts for Subscription Receipt Units of the Company, and the Escrowed 
Funds will be released by the Subscription Receipt and Escrow Agent to the Company. The 
Offering was effected on a “non-brokered” private placement basis pursuant to exemption under 
applicable securities legislation. 

 



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

 
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information 

Financial information in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”), unless otherwise indicated, 

is presented in Canadian dollars and derived from information contained in the Company’s financial 

statements and related notes thereto, which were prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

The MD&A includes financial information from, and should be read in conjunction with, the audited and unaudited 

financial statements and the notes thereto included in this prospectus, as well as the disclosure contained throughout 

this Prospectus. This section may contain forward-looking information that involves risk, uncertainties, assumptions 

and other factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from the results 

discussed or implied in such forward-looking information.  

Selected Financial Information 

The following table sets forth selected financial information with respect to the Company as at and for the years ended 

June 30, 2019, June 30, 2020 and the year ended June 30, 2021. The selected financial information has been derived 

from the audited financial statements of the Company for the financial periods indicated. The following should be 

read in conjunction with the said financial statements and related notes thereto, which are included in this Prospectus. 

 

 

Year ended June 30, 2019  

 

 

Year ended June 30, 2020  

 

Year ended June 30, 2021  

 

Total Revenue $nil $nil $nil 

Net Income (Loss) $(79,542) $(1,340,165) $(927,058) 

# Shares Outstanding 13,720,000 32,066,666 46,715,341 

Net Income (Loss) per Share 

(Basic) 
$(0.01) $(0.05) $(0.03) 

Net Income (Loss) per Share 

(Diluted) 
$(0.01) $(0.05) $(0.03) 

Total Assets $293,695 $789,173 $2,479,936 

Total Financial Liabilities $237 $1,210 $196,606 

Total Shareholder’s Equity $293,458 $787,963 $2,283,330 

 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

The following table sets out selected quarterly information for the eight most recently completed quarters, for which 

financial statements are included herein. 

 

June 30, 

2021 

March 

31, 2021 

Dec. 31, 

2020 

Sept. 30, 

2020 

June 30, 

2020 

March 

31, 2020 

Dec. 31, 

2019 

Sept. 30, 

2019 

Revenue $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 

Loss $43,510 $116,361 $96,271 $670,916 $(4,912) $59,344 $362,279 $923,454 

Loss per Share 

(Basic) 
$0.00 $0.01 $0.00 $0.02 $0.00 $0.00 $0.01 $0.04 



Loss per Share 

(Diluted) 
$0.00 $0.01 $0.00 $0.02 $0.00 $0.00 $0.01 $0.04 

 

Annual MD&A for the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

The following MD&A is dated as of the date of this Prospectus and discloses specified information up to that date. 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board, considers the materiality of 

information. Information is considered material if: (i) such information results in, or would reasonably be expected to 

result in, a significant change in the market price or value of the Company’s Common Shares; or (ii) there is a 

substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in making an investment decision; or (iii) 

if it would significantly alter the total mix of information available to investors. Management, in conjunction with the 

Board, evaluates materiality with reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market sensitivity.  

Overall Performance 

The Labrador West Property is at an early stage of exploration. As such, the Company’s only source of funds is derived 

from the issuance of equity, plus whatever interest it may earn from cash balances and the investment of that portion 

of the proceeds of such equity issuances not otherwise immediately required for exploration purposes, in short-term 

investments and money market instruments. 

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded a net loss of $927,058 (2020 – $1,340,165). The decreased 

loss in fiscal 2021 was due to a decrease in exploration expenditures to $775,510 (2020 – $1,285,303).  However, 

there was an increase in corporate overhead costs to $151,548 (2020 – $54,862).  The decrease in exploration costs 

was the result of the Company incurring one-time acquisition costs for the Labrador West Property of $921,105 in 

fiscal 2020 compared to a recovery of $3,550 in fiscal 2021. Although property acquisition costs were significantly 

lower in fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020, there was significantly more evaluation expenditures in fiscal 2021 as 

the Labrador West Property had a total of $763,505 (2020 - $279,598) in evaluation expenditures.  The main reason 

for this increase can be attributed to the drill program performed in fiscal 2021. Additionally, the Company incurred 

evaluation expenditures of $159,587 (2020 - $nil) on its newly acquired Lac Pegma Property.  The majority of the 

expenditures that pertain to the Lac Pegma Property were incurred for a geophysics survey and services from 

geologists to compile historical data. 

Discussion of Operations 

The Company commenced operations on October 18, 2018. As the focus of management during the period from 

incorporation to the date hereof was on organizing the Company, negotiating with Altius, acquiring interest in the 

Licences and commencing exploration on the Labrador West Property, no revenues were realized. During this period, 

the Company completed various private placement financings and issued common shares to the founders of the 

Company.  

Labrador West 

On August 20th, 2019, the Company entered into an option agreement (together with the Amendment Agreement, the 

Second Amendment Agreement and the Third Amendment Agreement, each as defined herein below, the “Labrador 

West Option Agreement”) with Altius Resources Inc. (“Altius”) pursuant to which the Company was granted the 

Labrador West Option to acquire up to a 100% interest in the Labrador West iron ore project, located in the Labrador 

Trough. The Labrador West Option is exercisable until December 31, 2022.  

On November 27th, 2020 the Company and Altius entered into an amendment agreement (the “Amendment 

Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company and Altius agreed to amend the Labrador West Option Agreement to 

defer all obligations under the Labrador West Option by one calendar year due to ramifications resulting from the 

COVID-19 virus and the related government imposed restrictions and lockdowns. 



On September 28th, 2021 the Company and Altius entered into a second amendment agreement (the “Second 

Amendment Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company and Altius agreed to further amend the Labrador West 

Option Agreement to provide for an adjustment to the share consideration payable to exercise the Labrador West 

Option.  

On November 5th, 2021 the Company and Altius entered into a third amendment agreement (the “Third Amendment 

Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company and Altius agreed to further amend the Labrador West Option 

Agreement to provide for the share consideration payable to exercise the Labrador West Option to be adjusted to be 

calculated on a partially diluted basis instead of a fully diluted basis. The Company and Altius agreed that the 

difference between the share consideration payable on a partially diluted basis versus a fully diluted basis shall be 

payable to Altius at Altius’ option by way of the Milestone Shares (as defined below).  

Accordingly, pursuant to the Labrador West Option Agreement, as amended by the Amendment Agreement, the 

Second Amendment Agreement and the Third Amendment Agreement, in order for the Company to exercise the 

Labrador West Option, the Company must:  

(a) within 36 months from the execution date of the Labrador West Option Agreement, the Company must have listed 

its common shares on, or assigned the Labrador West Option to a company (“Pubco”) that has its shares listed on, 

the Toronto Stock Exchange, the TSX Venture Exchange, or the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”); 

(b) incur expenditures in connection with the exploration of the property subject to the Labrador West Option 

Agreement (“Exploration Expenditures”), consisting of:  

a. At least $1,000,000 by December 31, 2021; and 

b. An additional $1,000,000 by December 31, 2022;  

The Company is entitled to satisfy any deficiency in the Exploration Expenditures by making cash 

payments to Altius in lieu of the Exploration Expenditures; and 

 

(c) issue to Altius a number of common shares of the Company (the “Payment Shares”), such that the number of the 

Payment Shares shall result in Altius owning 19.9% of the issued and outstanding capital of the Company on a 

partially diluted basis calculated immediately following the time the Equity Financing Threshold (as defined 

hereinafter) is obtained (the “Payment Date”); the “Equity Financing Threshold” equals the gross proceeds of any 

equity financings combined with cash held by the Company plus total Exploration Expenditures up to the initial 

equity financing up to a maximum of $3,000,000, will total at least $4,000,000.  

Upon the Company satisfying the above conditions, the Company will have been deemed to have exercised the 

Labrador West Option and will be entitled to purchase the 100% interest in the property subject to the provisions of 

the Labrador West Property Agreement, which include, among other matters:  

(a) issue to Altius a number common shares of the Company equal to $200,000 (the “Additional Shares”) on the earlier 

of: (i) the first anniversary of the Payment Date and (ii) the date whereby the Company completes a financing 

transaction subsequent to the Payment Date (the “Secondary Financing”), at a price per Additional Share equal to 

the price per share pursuant to the Secondary Financing; in the event that the Company has not completed the 

Secondary Financing by the first anniversary of the Payment Date, then the price per Additional Share shall be 

equal to the maximum applicable discount under the policies of the CSE and as may be acceptable to the CSE; in the 

event that the issuance of the Additional Shares would result in Altius holding more than 19.9% of the common 

shares of the Company on a partially diluted basis  the number of the Additional Shares issuable to Altius will be 

decreased by such number of shares so that Altius’s holdings will not exceed 19.9% of the issued and outstanding 

common shares in the capital of the Company; and 

(b) within 24 months from the date the Company delivers the Payment Shares to the Altius, the Company shall be obligated 

to issue to Altius an additional 1,246,004 Common Shares (the “Milestone Shares”), at the sole discretion of Altius. 

Altius may elect at any time to receive the Milestone Shares by delivering notice to that effect to the Company, provided 

that the issuance of the Milestone Shares would not result in Altius holding more than 19.9% of the Common Shares 

of the Company on a partially diluted basis. The Milestone Shares shall be issued at a deemed price per Milestone 

Share equal to the maximum applicable discount under the policies of the CSE and as may be acceptable to the CSE. 



The Company shall not be responsible for the issuance of any unissued Milestone Shares in the event that Altius does 

not make an election to receive the Milestone Shares, in full, within 24 months from the delivery date of the Payment 

Shares. 

On September 28th, 2021, the Company and Altius entered into the Second Amendment Agreement, which among 

matters, reduced the Equity Financing Threshold from a total of $5,000,000 to a total of at least $4,000,000. The 

reduction of the Equity Financing Threshold had the effect of triggering the issuance of the Payment Shares, as the 

gross proceeds of equity financings up to a maximum of $3,000,000 combined with the cash held by the Company 

plus total Exploration Expenditures was in excess of $4,000,000. On November 5 th, 2021, the Company and Altius 

entered into the Third Amendment Agreement which, among other matters, established that the Payment Shares shall 

be issued on a partially diluted basis.  

A total of 13,427,507 Payment Shares were issued to Altius on November 5th 2021. The Payment Shares were issued 

at a deemed price per Payment Share of $0.15.   For accounting purposes, the shares are valued based on the value of 

shares issued in the most recent private placement which was estimated at $0.12 for a total value of $1,611,301. The 

value of the shares was estimated based on the estimated value of shares issued in the subscription receipt financing. 

Upon acquiring a 100% interest in the project, the public company shall grant to Altius a 2.75% gross sales royalty 

(GSR) on all iron ore produced, removed and recovered from the project. 

Additionally, the Corporation has issued 9,146,666 common shares to arm's-length parties as consideration for the 

assumption of the rights to the option. The fair value of these consideration shares was estimated to be $0.10 based on 

price of the shares issued in the most recent private placement closed by the Corporation.  

Lac Pegma 

On February 2, 2021, HTR Corp. entered into a purchase agreement with Globex Mining Enterprises Inc. (“Globex”) 

to purchase 100% of the Lac Pegma copper-nickel-cobalt sulphide deposit located approximately 50 kilometres south 

of Fermont, Que. 

The terms of the purchase agreement are as follows: HTR Corp. paid Globex $10,000 in cash and an undertaking to 

issue 650,000 shares of HTR Corp. upon completion of an initial public offering/liquidity event prior to September 

30, 2021. In addition, Globex will retain a 2% gross metal royalty with a 1% buyback option for $1,500,000 

exercisable at any time at the discretion of the Corporation. 

Further, on February 25, 2021, HTR Corp. increased its land position by acquiring 35 additional mineral exploration 

claims adjacent to its Lac Pegma copper-nickel-cobalt sulphide deposit. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

The Company is an exploration-stage company and does not generate revenues. As such, it finances all of its 

operations and the exploration of its mineral properties entirely through the issuance of share capital. Although the 

Company has to date been successful in its attempts to raise capital, there can be no assurance that its future efforts 

will likewise be successful. The mineral exploration business is high risk and the vast majority of exploration projects 

will not result in producing mines. The success of future financings will depend on a variety of factors including 

geological success – i.e. obtaining superior results from exploration; a positive investment climate encompassing 

strong metal prices, solid stock market conditions, and a “risk-on” appetite among investors; and the Company’s track 

record and the ability and experience of management. If such financing is unavailable, the Company may be unable 

to retain its mineral interests and execute its business plans. 

As at June 30, 2021, the Company had net working capital of $2,283,330 compared to $787,963 at June 30, 2020. As 

at December 31, 2021, the Company has net working capital of $1,629,816 excluding the Escrowed Funds.  

On September 14, 2021 and September 16th, 2021, the Trance 1 Closing and Tranche 2 Closing respectively, the 

Company raised an additional $1,099,809.45 pursuant to the Offering, which except for 50% of the Cash Commission 

of $5,263.84, will be held in escrow until the satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions.  



Notwithstanding considerable uncertainty in the global economic outlook, management has been encouraged by 

market interest in the Company’s properties and its proposed exploration plans. Markets appear receptive and 

management views the outlook for 2021 and 2022 as promising. Accordingly, subject to CSE and regulatory 

approvals, the Company intends to seek a listing on the CSE.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements.  

Transactions with Related Parties 

Years Ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020  

The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties during the periods ended June 30, 2021 and 

2020:  

With key management personnel of the Company: 

June 30, 2020 

$ 

June 30, 2021 

$ 

Management fees  25,380 103,750 

Exploration and evaluation expenses paid  Nil 57,825 

TOTAL 25,380 161,575 

 
Trade payables and accrued liabilities as at June 30, 2021 include $5,600 (2020 - $526) owed to officers of the 

Corporation.  Such amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and with no fixed terms of payment. 

In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for 

planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, including directors (executive 

or non-executive) of the Company. 

Proposed Transactions 

As at the date of this Prospectus, there are no proposed transactions currently contemplated by the Company. See 

“Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information”. 

Changes in Accounting Policies  

During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Corporation adopted a number of new IFRS standards, interpretations, 

amendments and improvements of existing standards. These included IAS 1 and IFRS 3. These new standards and 

changes did not have any material impact on the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements.  

Financial Instruments 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, trade payables and accrued liabilities. Unless otherwise noted, 

it is management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks arising 

from these financial instruments. The fair values of these financial instruments approximate their carrying values 

unless otherwise stated. 

Qualifications and Forward-Looking Statements 

The Company’s MD&A provides an analysis of the Company’s financial results for the year ended June 30, 2020 and 

June 30, 2021 and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements of the Company for such period, and 

the notes thereto.  

Certain information included in the Company’s MD&A is forward-looking and based upon assumptions and 

anticipated results that are subject to uncertainties. Should one or more of these uncertainties materialize or should the 



underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary significantly from those expected. See “Cautionary 

Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” for further detail. 

Additional information relating to the Company may be found on the Company’s profile on SEDAR at 

www.sedar.com. 

Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares, of which 46,715,341 Common Shares 

were issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable as at June 30, 2021. On November 5th, 2021 13,427,507 

Common Shares were issued to Altius in respect of the Payment Shares, accordingly 60,142,848 Common Shares are 

issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable as of the date hereof. As of the date hereof, 7,332,063 Common 

Shares of the Company are reserved for issuance upon the deemed exchange of 7,332,063 issued and outstanding 

Subscription Receipts for Units, and upon such exchange, 67,474,911 Common Shares will be issued and outstanding. 

1,247,917 Warrants were outstanding as at June 30, 2021 and 1,247,917 Warrants are outstanding as of the date hereof. 

Following the deemed exchange of Subscription Receipts for Units, an additional 3,666,031 Subscription Receipt 

Warrants will be outstanding. An additional 101,376 Common Shares are reserved for issuance in respect of the Broker 

Warrants and 1,246,004 Common Shares are reserved for issuance in respect of the Milestone Shares.  

Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue 

The following table sets out a breakdown of all material components of certain costs to the Company for the year 

ended June 30, 2021. 

Mineral Properties – Exploration and Evaluation 

The following tables set out the total exploration and evaluation costs recorded by the Company for the Labrador West 

Property as at the years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020:  

Labrador West Property 

For the year ended June 30, 2021 

$ 

For the year ended June 30, 2020 

$ 

Acquisition (3,550) 921,105 

Administration  3,363 3,454 

Assaying  18,478 18,255 

Drilling 302,138 Nil 

Geologists  216,811 125,311 

Hotels & Meals 38,750 25,594 

Helicopter chartering 140,431 75,409 

In-country logistics  43,534 31,575 

TOTAL 759,955 1,200,703 

 

The decrease in exploration and evaluation expenditures for the year ended June 30, 2021 as compared to the year 

ended June 30, 2020 was the result of the Company incurring one-time acquisition costs for the Labrador West 

Property of $921,105 in the year ended June 30, 2020. Except for the cost of the acquisition of the Labrador West 

Property, the exploration and evaluation expenditures in the year ended June 30, 2021 was greater than the year ended 

June 30, 2020 primarily due to the drill program and the costs associated with facilitating the drill program that was  

performed on the Labrador West Property.   

The following tables set out the total exploration and evaluation costs recorded by the Company for the Lac Pegma 

Property as at the years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020:  



Lac Pegma Property 

For the year ended June 30, 2021 

$ 

For the year ended June 30, 2020(1) 

$ 

Acquisition 32,558 Nil 

Assaying  3,000 Nil 

Geologists  74,197 Nil 

Geophysical 82,390 Nil 

TOTAL 192,145 Nil 

              Notes: 
(1) The Lac Pegma Property was acquired during the year ended June 30, 2021 

General and Administrative Expenses 

The following tables set out the general and administrative expenses of the Company for the years ended June 30, 

2021 and June 30, 2020:   

 For the year ended June 30, 2021 

($) 

For the year ended June 30, 2020 

($) 

Professional fees 35,000 Nil 

Consulting fees 103,750 50,000 

Office expenses 2,731 598 

Investor relations 7,500 Nil 

Travel 877 3,275 

Transfer agent 1,690 989 

Total 151,548 54,862 

The increase in general and administrative expenses of the Company for the year ended June 30, 2021 as compared to 

the year ended June 30, 2020 was principally related to the costs associated with the drilling and preparation of the 

Technical Report in regard to the Labrador West Property, and the acquisition of the Lac Pegma Property.  
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HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP.
Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars - Unaudited)

As at As at

December 31, June 30,

2021 2021
$ $

Assets
Current

Cash 1,674,704             2,351,249        
Cash in escrow (Note 8) 1,099,809             -                      
Amounts receivable and prepaids 319,106                128,687           

Total assets 3,093,619             2,479,936        

Liabilities
Current

Trade payables and accrued liabilities (Note 10) 132,298                43,700             
Due to related company (Note 10) 231,696                152,906           
Subscription receipts payable (Note 8) 1,099,809             -                      

Total liabilities 1,463,803             196,606           

Shareholders' Equity
Share capital (Note 6(b)) 6,181,622             4,570,321        
Warrants 59,774                  59,774             
Deficit (4,611,580)           (2,346,765)      
Total equity 1,629,816             2,283,330        
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 3,093,619             2,479,936        

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND GOING CONCERN (Note 1)
CONTINGENCIES (Note 13)

APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Original signed by Stephen Altmann, Director

Original signed by Steve Roebuck, Director

See accompanying notes to the condensed interim consolidated financial statements
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HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP.
Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars - Unaudited)

For the three For the three For the six For the six

months ended months ended months ended months ended

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,

2021 2020 2021 2020
$ $ $ $

Operating Expenses
Exploration and evaluation expenditures (Note 12) 1,861,885               50,185                    2,021,669               695,483                  
General and administrative (Note 11) 138,450                  46,086                    243,146                  71,704                    

2,000,335               96,271                    2,264,815               767,187                  

Net loss per share - basic and diluted (Note 9) 0.04                        0.00                        0.04                        0.02                        

Weighted average number of shares
outstanding - basic and diluted (Note 9) 54,888,606             32,365,081             50,801,974             32,215,873             

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period

See accompanying notes to the condensed interim consolidated financial statements
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HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP.
Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Change in Shareholders' Equity
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars - Unaudited)

Number of shares Share capital Warrants Deficit Total Equity
$ $ $ $

Balance - June 30, 2020 32,066,666           2,207,670           -                        (1,419,707)        787,963           
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period -                            -                         -                        (767,187)           (767,187)          
Shares issued for cash - private placement (Note 6(b)) 2,495,833             299,500              -                        -                        299,500           
Value of warrants issued under private placement -                            (59,774)              59,774               -                        -                       
Balance - December 31, 2020 34,562,499           2,447,396           59,774               (2,186,894)        320,276           
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period -                            -                         -                        (159,871)           (159,871)          
Shares issued for cash - private placement (Note 6(b)) 12,152,842           2,187,512           -                        -                        2,187,512        
Share issuance costs -                            (64,587)              -                        -                        (64,587)            
Balance - June 30, 2021 46,715,341           4,570,321           59,774               (2,346,765)        2,283,330        
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period -                            -                         -                        (2,264,815)        (2,264,815)       
Shares issued for property acquisition (Note 6(b) and 12) 13,427,507           1,611,301           -                        -                        1,611,301        
Balance - December 31, 2021 60,142,848           6,181,622           59,774               (4,611,580)        1,629,816        

See accompanying notes to the condensed interim consolidated financial statements
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HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP.
Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars - Unaudited)

For the six For the six

months ended months ended

December 31, December 31,

2021 2020
$ $

Operating activities
Net loss for the period (2,264,815)          (767,187)             
Items not involving cash:

Shares issued for property acquisition - Labrador West (Note 6(b)) 1,611,301            -                          
(653,514)             (767,187)             

Changes in non-cash working capital
(Increase) decrease in amounts receivable and prepaids (190,419)             40,712                 
Increase in trade payables and accrued liabilities 88,598                 1,778                   

Change in non-cash operating working capital (101,821)             42,490                 
Net cash flows used in operating activities (755,335)             (724,697)             

Investing activities
Subscription receipts issued (Note 8) (1,099,809)          -                          

Net cash flows used in investing activities (1,099,809)          -                          

Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of shares (Note 6(b)) -                          25,000                 
Proceeds from subscription receipts (Note 8) 1,099,809            -                          
Due from related company 78,790                 171,849               

Net cash flows from financing activities 1,178,599            196,849               

Increase in cash (676,545)             (527,848)             
Cash, beginning of period 2,351,249            601,355               
Cash, end of period 1,674,704            73,507                 

Supplemental information

Private placement proceeds receivable -$                     274,500$             

See accompanying notes to the condensed interim consolidated financial statements
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HIGH TIDE RESOURCES CORP. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the three and six months ended December 31, 2021 and 2020  
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND GOING CONCERN 
 

High Tide Resources Corp. (“High Tide” or the “Company”) was incorporated by Certificate of 
Incorporation issued pursuant to the provisions of the Ontario Business Corporations Act on October 18, 
2018. The registered head office of the Company is located at 18 King Street East, Suite #902, Toronto, 
Ontario, M5C 1C4.  High Tide is in the business of acquiring and exploring iron ore and precious metals 
projects.  High Tide is a subsidiary of Avidian Gold Corp. (“Avidian”) which owns approximately 52% 
of High Tide at December 31, 2021 (June 30, 2021 – 67%). 
 
The condensed interim consolidated financial statements of the Company for the three and six months 
ended December 31, 2021 were reviewed, approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors 
January 28, 2022.  Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to the properties on which it is 
conducting exploration and in which it has an interest, in accordance with industry standards for the 
current stage of operations of such properties, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. 
Property title may be subject to government licensing requirements or regulations, unregistered prior 
agreements, unregistered claims, aboriginal claims, and non-compliance with regulatory and 
environmental requirements. The Company’s assets may also be subject to increases in taxes and 
royalties, renegotiation of contracts, and currency exchange fluctuations and restrictions. 
 
The Company’s property interests are at an early stage of exploration and, in common with many 
exploration companies, it raises financing for its exploration and appraisal activities in discrete tranches. 
The Company has incurred a loss for the six month period ended December 31, 2021 of $2,264,815 
(2020 - $767,187), and has an accumulated deficit of $4,611,580 as at December 31, 2021 (June 31, 2021 
- $2,346,765).  
 
Although the Company has been successful in raising funds to date, there can be no assurance that 
adequate or sufficient funding will be available in the future, or available under terms acceptable to the 
Company. In the event that the Company is unable to secure further financing, it may not be able to 
complete the development of its mineral projects.   
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The going concern 
basis of presentation assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and 
be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.  
The Company's ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on its ability to obtain additional 
sources of financing to successfully explore, evaluate and develop its mineral projects and ultimately, to 
achieve profitable operations. The success of these endeavours cannot be predicted at this time. These 
conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties that cast significant doubt about the ability of 
the Company to continue as a going concern.  The consolidated financial statements do not reflect 
adjustments to the carrying values and classification of assets and liabilities that might be necessary 
should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern, and such adjustments may be material. 
 
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic related to COVID-19. Its 
impact on global economies has been far-reaching and business around the world are being forced to 
cease or limit operations for long or indefinite periods of time. Measures taken to contain the spread of 
the virus, including travel bans, quarantines, social distancing, and closures of non-essential services have 
triggered significant disruptions to businesses worldwide, resulting in an economic slowdown.  
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND GOING CONCERN (continued) 
 
Global stock markets have also experienced significant volatility. Governments and central banks have 
responded with monetary and fiscal interventions to stabilize economic conditions. There is significant 
ongoing uncertainty surrounding COVID-19 and the extent and duration of the impacts that it may have 
on the Company’s financial position and results, exploration activities, workers, partners, consultants, 
suppliers and on global financial markets.  The Company has taken measures to contain the spread of 
COVID-19 and is proceeding with its exploration activities, as long as the work environment remains 
safe. 
 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
Statement of compliance 
 
The condensed interim consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in 
accordance with the International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 34, Interim Financial Reporting issued 
by the International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”). These condensed interim consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 2 of 
the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements as at and for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 
2020 (“Annual Financial Statements”). Accordingly, these condensed interim consolidated financial 
statements as at and for the three and six months ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 should be read 
together with the Annual Financial Statements. 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned 
subsidiary, Ferrum Exploration Corp., a company incorporated in Ontario.  Subsidiaries consist of entities 
over which the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns as well as the ability to affect 
those returns through the power to direct the relevant activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date control is transferred to the Company and are deconsolidated from the date 
control ceases. 
 
The financial statements include all assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, and cash flow of the Company 
and its subsidiary after eliminating inter-entity balances and transactions. 
 
Presentation and functional currency 
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s 
functional currency.  The functional currency of Ferrum Exploration Corp. is the Canadian dollar. 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of Note 2 of the Company’s Annual 
Financial Statements. 
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4. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

When managing capital, the Company’s objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going 
concern as well as to achieve optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 
Management adjusts the capital structure as necessary in order to support the acquisition, exploration 
and development of mineral exploration assets.  
 
The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but 
rather relies on the expertise of the Company's management team to sustain the future development 
of the business. The Company considers its capital to be equity, which comprises issued capital, 
warrants and deficit, which at December 31, 2021, totaled $1,629,816 (June 31, 2021 - $2,283,330). 
 
The Company invests all capital not required for its immediate needs in short-term, liquid and highly 
rated financial instruments, such as cash and other short-term guaranteed deposits, all held with 
select major Canadian financial institutions. 
 
The Company is currently attempting to identify an economic mineral resource and as such, the 
Company is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out the planned 
acquisitions and exploration, as well as pay for administrative costs, the Company will spend its 
existing working capital and raise additional amounts as needed. 
 
Management has chosen to mitigate the risk and uncertainty associated with raising additional 
capital in current economic conditions by: 
 
a.   maintaining a liquidity cushion in order to address any potential disruptions or industry 

downturns; 
b.   minimizing discretionary disbursements; and 
c.   exploring alternative sources of liquidity. 
 
In light of the above, the Company will continue to assess new properties if the Company believes 
there is sufficient potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do so. 
 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 
approach, given the relative size of the Company, is appropriate.  There were no significant changes 
in the Company’s approach to capital management during the six months ended December 31, 2021. 
 

5. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS  
 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk (specifically commodity price risk).  
 
Risk management is carried out by the Company's management team with guidance from the Audit 
Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also 
provides regular guidance for overall risk management. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (continued) 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment 
obligations. The Company's credit risk is attributable to cash. Cash is held with a reputable 
financial institution, from which management believes the risk of loss to be remote. 
 
Included in amounts receivable is sales tax receivable from government authorities in Canada. 
Amounts receivable are in good standing as of December 31, 2021. Management believes that the 
credit risk concentration with respect to financial instruments included in amounts receivable is 
minimal. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its 
financial obligations as they become due. The Company's liquidity and operating results may be 
adversely affected if the Company's access to the capital market is hindered, whether as a result of a 
downturn in stock market conditions generally or related to matters specific to the Company. 
 
The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities. As at December 31, 2021, 
the Company had cash of $1,674,704 (June 30, 2021 - $2,351,249) to settle current liabilities, 
excluding subscription receipts payable, of $363,994 (June 30, 2021 - $196,606). The Company 
regularly evaluates its cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital as well as 
maintenance and liquidity.   
 
All of the Company's current financial liabilities as at December 31, 2021 have contractual 
maturities of less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade terms.   
 
Market risk 
 
Commodity price risk  
 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to iron ore and precious metals prices. 
Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due 
to price movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors the prices to determine the 
appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company. 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
 
As of December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, both the carrying and fair value amounts of the 
Company’s financial instrument are approximately equivalent due to their short-term nature. 
Management does not believe the Company is exposed to any significant interest rate or currency 
exchange risks with respect to its financial instruments. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (continued) 
 
Fair value hierarchy and liquidity risk disclosure 
 
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 
 
Level 1   Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2   Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 
Level 3   Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs). 
 

At December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, the Company did not hold any financial assets in the fair 
value hierarchy. 
 

6. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

(a) Authorized  
 
Unlimited number of common shares, with no par value. 

 
(b) Issued  

 
 

(i) In December 2020, the Company closed a flow-through private placement to raise 
gross proceeds of $299,500. The offering consisted of the issuance of 2,495,833 
units (“Unit”). Each Unit was offered at a price of $0.12 and consisted of one 
common share and one-half of one common share purchase warrant, with each 
whole warrant exercisable at a price of $0.15 per common share if exercised within 
24 months of the closing of the offering.  A director of the Company subscribed for 
208,333 units for gross proceeds of $25,000. 

(ii) In June 2021, the Company issued 12,152,842 flow-through shares to Avidian at a 
price of $0.18 per share for total gross proceeds of $2,187,512.  

(iii) On November 5, 2021, the Company issued 13,427,507 common shares valued at 
$0.12 per share for a total value of $1,611,301 in connection with the Company’s 
Labrador West option agreement.  See Note 12. 
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7. WARRANTS 
 
The following is a summary of warrant activity for the six month period ended December 31, 2021 
and year ended June 30, 2021: 

 
 

(i) In connection with the December 2020 private placement disclosed in Note 5, the 
Company issued 1,247,917 warrants. The grant date fair value of $59,774 assigned 
to the warrants was estimated using the Black Scholes option pricing model with 
the following assumptions: expected dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 
115%, a risk free interest rate of 0.26%, share price of $0.10 and an expected 
maturity of 2 years.   

 
Summary of warrants outstanding at December 31, 2021: 
 

 
 

8. SUBSCRIPTION RECEIPT FINANCING 
 
On September 16, 2021, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement financing (the 
“Subscription Receipts Financing”) of 7,332,063 Subscription Receipts at a price of $0.15 per 
subscription receipt for aggregate gross cash proceeds of $1,099,809. Each Subscription Receipt 
comprises one common share of the Company and one half of one share purchase warrant with an 
exercise price of $0.20 per share expiring 36 months from the date of issuance. The gross proceeds 
of the Subscription Receipts Financing were placed in escrow until such time that the Company is 
publicly listed.   
 
 
 
 
 

Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise

Number price Number price
$ $

Balance, beginning of period 1,247,917     0.15       -           -          
Granted in connection with
      private placements -               -         1,247,917 0.15        
Balance, end of period 1,247,917     0.15       1,247,917 0.15        

December 31, 2021 June 30, 2021

Exercise Fair value of
Warrants price warrants Expiry date

# $ $
1,247,917  0.15                      59,774         December 30, 2022
1,247,917  59,774         
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8. SUBSCRIPTION RECEIPT FINANCING (continued) 
 
Upon satisfaction of escrow release conditions, the Company will issue 67,584 broker warrants. 
Each broker warrant will be exercisable for a period of 36 months from the date of issuance, with 
each broker warrant exercisable for one unit. Each unit is comprised of one common Share and one 
half of one common share purchase warrant, with each broker warrant exercisable at a price of $0.15 
for a period of 36 months from the date of issuance. 
 

9. BASIC AND DILUTED NET LOSS PER SHARE 
 
           The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the three month period ended December 

31, 2021 was based on the net loss attributable of the Company of $2,000,335 (2020 - $96,271) and 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding of 54,888,606 (2020 – 32,365,081).  

 
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the six month period ended December 31, 
2021 was based on the net loss of the Company of $2,264,815 (2020 - $767,187) and the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding of 50,801,974 (2020 – 32,215,873).  

 
Diluted loss per share did not include the effect of the share purchase warrants disclosed in Note 7 as 
they are anti-dilutive for the three and six month periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 
10. RELATED PARTY  TRANSACTIONS 

 
a) The remuneration of key management personnel is comprised of 

 

 
 *Key management personnel include directors, officers and former directors/officers. 
 

b) See Note 6(b). 
c) Trade payables and accrued liabilities as at December 31, 2021 include $nil (June 30, 2021 - 

$5,600) owed to officers of the Company.  Such amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing 
and with no fixed terms of payment.  

d) The amounts due to/from related company are due to/from Avidian, the parent company (Note 
1).  The balance is unsecured, non-interest bearing with no fixed terms of repayment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Three months Three months Six months Six months
ended ended ended ended

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Consulting fees 22,500$         26,250$        45,000$         51,250$        
Exploration and evaluation expenditures -                -               -                12,350          

22,500$         26,250$        45,000$         63,600$        
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11. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE 
 

 
 

12. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURES 
 

Labrador West 
 
On August 20th, 2019, the Company entered into an option agreement (together with the Amendment 
Agreement, the Second Amendment Agreement and the Third Amendment Agreement, each as 
defined herein below, the “Labrador West Option Agreement”) with Altius Resources Inc. (“Altius”) 
pursuant to which the Company was granted the Labrador West Option to acquire up to a 100% 
interest in the Labrador West iron ore project, located in the Labrador Trough. The Labrador West 
Option is exercisable until December 31, 2022.  

On November 27th, 2020 the Company and Altius entered into an amendment agreement (the 
“Amendment Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company and Altius agreed to amend the Labrador 
West Option Agreement to defer all obligations under the Labrador West Option by one calendar 
year due to ramifications resulting from the COVID-19 virus and the related government imposed 
restrictions and lockdowns. 

On September 28th, 2021 the Company and Altius entered into a second amendment agreement (the 
“Second Amendment Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company and Altius agreed to further 
amend the Labrador West Option Agreement to provide for an adjustment to the share consideration 
payable to exercise the Labrador West Option.  

On November 5th, 2021 the Company and Altius entered into a third amendment agreement (the 
“Third Amendment Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company and Altius agreed to further 
amend the Labrador West Option Agreement to provide for the share consideration payable to 
exercise the Labrador West Option to be adjusted to be calculated on a partially diluted basis instead 
of a fully diluted basis. The Company and Altius agreed that the difference between the share 
consideration payable on a partially diluted basis versus a fully diluted basis shall be payable to 
Altius at Altius’ option by way of the Milestone Shares (as defined below).  

Accordingly, pursuant to the Labrador West Option Agreement, as amended by the Amendment 
Agreement, the Second Amendment Agreement and the Third Amendment Agreement, in order for 
the Company to exercise the Labrador West Option, the Company must:  

(a) within 36 months from the execution date of the Labrador West Option Agreement, the 
Company must have listed its common shares on, or assigned the Labrador West Option to a 
company (“Pubco”) that has its shares listed on, the Toronto Stock Exchange, the TSX Venture 
Exchange, or the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”); 

Three months Three months Six months Six months
ended ended ended ended

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Consulting fees and investor relations 88,430$         33,750$        112,680$       58,750$        
Office supplies, bank charges and transfer agent 3,050             336               24,799           954               
Professional fees 27,659           12,000          86,356           12,000          
Travel 19,311           -               19,311           -               

138,450$       46,086$        243,146$       71,704$        
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12. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURES (continued) 

(b) incur expenditures in connection with the exploration of the property subject to the Labrador 
West Option Agreement (“Exploration Expenditures”), consisting of:  

a. At least $1,000,000 by December 31, 2021; and 

b. An additional $1,000,000 by December 31, 2022;  

The Company is entitled to satisfy any deficiency in the Exploration Expenditures by making cash 
payments to Altius in lieu of the Exploration Expenditures; and 
 
(c) issue to Altius a number of common shares of the Company (the “Payment Shares”), such that 

the number of the Payment Shares shall result in Altius owning 19.9% of the issued and 
outstanding capital of the Company on a partially diluted basis calculated immediately following 
the time the Equity Financing Threshold (as defined hereinafter) is obtained (the “Payment 
Date”); the “Equity Financing Threshold” equals the gross proceeds of any equity financings 
combined with cash held by the Company plus total Exploration Expenditures up to the initial 
equity financing up to a maximum of $3,000,000, will total at least $4,000,000.  

Upon the Company satisfying the above conditions, the Company will have been deemed to have 
exercised the Labrador West Option and will be entitled to purchase the 100% interest in the 
property subject to the provisions of the Labrador West Property Agreement, which include, among 
other matters:  

(a) issue to Altius a number common shares of the Company equal to $200,000 (the “Additional 
Shares”) on the earlier of: (i) the first anniversary of the Payment Date and (ii) the date whereby 
the Company completes a financing transaction subsequent to the Payment Date (the “Secondary 
Financing”), at a price per Additional Share equal to the price per share pursuant to the 
Secondary Financing; in the event that the Company has not completed the Secondary Financing 
by the first anniversary of the Payment Date, then the price per Additional Share shall be equal 
to the maximum applicable discount under the policies of the CSE and as may be acceptable to the 
CSE; in the event that the issuance of the Additional Shares would result in Altius holding more 
than 19.9% of the common shares of the Company on a partially diluted basis  the number of the 
Additional Shares issuable to Altius will be decreased by such number of shares so that Altius’s 
holdings will not exceed 19.9% of the issued and outstanding common shares in the capital of 
the Company; and 

(b) within 24 months from the date the Company delivers the Payment Shares to the Altius, the 
Company shall be obligated to issue to Altius an additional 1,246,004 Common Shares (the 
“Milestone Shares”), at the sole discretion of Altius. Altius may elect at any time to receive the 
Milestone Shares by delivering notice to that effect to the Company, provided that the issuance of 
the Milestone Shares would not result in Altius holding more than 19.9% of the Common Shares of 
the Company on a partially diluted basis. The Milestone Shares shall be issued at a deemed price 
per Milestone Share equal to the maximum applicable discount under the policies of the CSE and as 
may be acceptable to the CSE. The Company shall not be responsible for the issuance of any 
unissued Milestone Shares in the event that Altius does not make an election to receive the 
Milestone Shares, in full, within 24 months from the delivery date of the Payment Shares. 
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12. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURES (continued) 

On September 28th, 2021, the Company and Altius entered into the Second Amendment Agreement, 
which among matters, reduced the Equity Financing Threshold from a total of $5,000,000 to a total 
of at least $4,000,000. The reduction of the Equity Financing Threshold had the effect of triggering 
the issuance of the Payment Shares, as the gross proceeds of equity financings up to a maximum of 
$3,000,000 combined with the cash held by the Company plus total Exploration Expenditures was in 
excess of $4,000,000. On November 5th, 2021, the Company and Altius entered into the Third 
Amendment Agreement which, among other matters, established that the Payment Shares shall be 
issued on a partially diluted basis.  

A total of 13,427,507 Payment Shares were issued to Altius on November 5th 2021. The Payment 
Shares were issued at a deemed price per Payment Share of $0.12 for a total value of $1,611,301.  
The value of the shares was estimated based on the estimated value of shares issued in the 
subscription receipt financing.  Refer to Note 8. 
 
Upon acquiring a 100% interest in the project, the Company shall grant to Altius a 2.75% gross sales 
royalty (GSR) on all iron ore produced, removed and recovered from the project. 
 
Additionally, the Company has issued 9,146,666 common shares to arm's-length parties as 
consideration for the assumption of the rights to the option. The fair value of these consideration 
shares was estimated to be $0.10 based on price of the shares issued in the most recent private 
placement closed by the Company.  

 
Lac Pegma 
 
On February 2, 2021, the Company entered into a purchase agreement with Globex Mining 
Enterprises Inc. (“Globex”) to purchase 100% of the Lac Pegma copper-nickel-cobalt sulphide 
deposit located approximately 50 kilometres south of Fermont, Que. 
 
The terms of the purchase agreement are as follows: the Company paid Globex $10,000 in cash and 
an undertaking to issue 650,000 shares of the Company upon completion of an initial public 
offering/liquidity event prior to September 30, 2021. In addition, Globex will retain a 2% gross metal 
royalty with a 1% buyback option for $1,500,000 exercisable at any time at the discretion of the 
Company. 
 
Further, on February 25, 2021, the Company increased its land position by acquiring 35 additional 
mineral exploration claims adjacent to its Lac Pegma copper-nickel-cobalt sulphide deposit. 
 
The following table summarizes exploration and evaluation expenditures for each of the Company’s 
respective properties. 
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12. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURES (continued) 
 

 
 
13. CONTINGENCIES 
 

Environmental contingencies  
 
The Company's exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the 
protection of the environment. These laws and regulations are continually changing and generally 
becoming more restrictive. The Company believes its operations are materially in compliance with 
all applicable laws and regulations.  
 
Flow-through commitment 
 
The Company is obligated to spend $2,187,512 by December 31, 2022 for the issuance of flow-
through shares by the Company. As at December 31, 2021, the Company had spent $8,316 and is 
obligated to spend an additional $2,179,196 to satisfy the December 31, 2022 obligation. The flow-
through agreements require the Company to renounce certain tax deductions for Canadian 
exploration expenditures incurred on the Company’s mineral properties to flow-through participants. 
The Company has indemnified the subscribers for certain tax related amounts that become payable 
by the subscribers should the Company not meet its expenditure commitments. 
 

 
 

Six months Six months
ended ended

December 31, December 31,
Labrador West 2021 2020
Acquisition and holding costs 1,611,301$       (3,550)$            
Evaluation expenditures 134,907            699,033            

1,746,208$       695,483$          

Lac Pegma
Acquisition and holding costs -$                 -$                  
Evaluation expenditures 275,461            -                    

275,461$          -$                  

TOTAL EXPLORATION AND
     EVALUATION EXPENDITURES 2,021,669$       695,483$          



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 

 
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information 

Financial information in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”), unless otherwise indicated, 

is presented in Canadian dollars and derived from information contained in the Company’s financial 

statements and related notes thereto, which were prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

The MD&A includes financial information from, and should be read in conjunction with, the audited and unaudited 

financial statements and the notes thereto included in this prospectus, as well as the disclosure contained throughout 

this Prospectus. This section may contain forward-looking information that involves risk, uncertainties, assumptions 

and other factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from the results 

discussed or implied in such forward-looking information.  

Interim MD&A for the Period Ended December 31, 2021 

The following MD&A is dated as of the date of this Prospectus and discloses specified information up to that date. 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board, considers the materiality of 

information. Information is considered material if: (i) such information results in, or would reasonably be expected to 

result in, a significant change in the market price or value of the Company’s Common Shares; or (ii) there is a 

substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in making an investment decision; or (iii) 

if it would significantly alter the total mix of information available to investors. Management, in conjunction with the 

Board, evaluates materiality with reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market sensitivity.  

Overall Performance 

The Labrador West Property is at an early stage of exploration. As such, the Company’s only source of funds is derived 

from the issuance of equity, plus whatever interest it may earn from cash balances and the investment of that portion 

of the proceeds of such equity issuances not otherwise immediately required for exploration purposes, in short-term 

investments and money market instruments. 

For the six months ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded a net loss of $2,264,815 (2020 – $767,187). The 

increased loss in the period ended December 31, 2021 was due to an increase in exploration expenditures to $2,021,669 

(2020 – $695,483).  The primary reason for the increase in exploration expenditures is the on-time acquisition cost 

related to Labrador West in the amount of $1,611,301. Additionally, the Company incurred evaluation expenditures 

of $275,461 (2020 - $nil) on its newly acquired Lac Pegma Property.  The majority of the expenditures that pertain to 

the Lac Pegma Property were incurred for services from geologists to compile historical data. 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

The following table sets out selected quarterly information for the eight most recently completed quarters, for which 

financial statements are included herein. 

 

Dec. 31, 

2021 

Sept. 30, 

2021 

June 30, 

2021 

March 

31, 2021 

Dec. 31, 

2020 

Sept. 30, 

2020 

June 30, 

2020 

March 

31, 2020 

Revenue $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 

Loss $2,000,335 $264,480 $43,510 $116,361 $96,271 $670,916 $(4,912) $59,344 

Loss per Share 

(Basic) 
$0.04 $0.00 $0.00 $0.01 $0.00 $0.02 $0.00 $0.00 



Loss per Share 

(Diluted) 
$0.04 $0.00 $0.00 $0.01 $0.00 $0.02 $0.00 $0.00 

 

Discussion of Operations 

The Company commenced operations on October 18, 2018. As the focus of management during the period from 

incorporation to the date hereof was on organizing the Company, negotiating with Altius, acquiring interest in the 

Licences and commencing exploration on the Labrador West Property, no revenues were realized. During this period, 

the Company completed various private placement financings and issued common shares to the founders of the 

Company.  

Labrador West 

On August 20th, 2019, the Company entered into an option agreement (together with the Amendment Agreement, the 

Second Amendment Agreement and the Third Amendment Agreement, each as defined herein below, the “Labrador 

West Option Agreement”) with Altius Resources Inc. (“Altius”) pursuant to which the Company was granted the 

Labrador West Option to acquire up to a 100% interest in the Labrador West iron ore project, located in the Labrador 

Trough. The Labrador West Option is exercisable until December 31, 2022.  

On November 27th, 2020 the Company and Altius entered into an amendment agreement (the “Amendment 

Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company and Altius agreed to amend the Labrador West Option Agreement to 

defer all obligations under the Labrador West Option by one calendar year due to ramifications resulting from the 

COVID-19 virus and the related government imposed restrictions and lockdowns. 

On September 28th, 2021 the Company and Altius entered into a second amendment agreement (the “Second 

Amendment Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company and Altius agreed to further amend the Labrador West 

Option Agreement to provide for an adjustment to the share consideration payable to exercise the Labrador West 

Option.  

On November 5th, 2021 the Company and Altius entered into a third amendment agreement (the “Third Amendment 

Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company and Altius agreed to further amend the Labrador West Option 

Agreement to provide for the share consideration payable to exercise the Labrador West Option to be adjusted to be 

calculated on a partially diluted basis instead of a fully diluted basis. The Company and Altius agreed that the 

difference between the share consideration payable on a partially diluted basis versus a fully diluted basis shall be 

payable to Altius at Altius’ option by way of the Milestone Shares (as defined below).  

Accordingly, pursuant to the Labrador West Option Agreement, as amended by the Amendment Agreement, the 

Second Amendment Agreement and the Third Amendment Agreement, in order for the Company to exercise the 

Labrador West Option, the Company must:  

(a) within 36 months from the execution date of the Labrador West Option Agreement, the Company must have listed 

its common shares on, or assigned the Labrador West Option to a company (“Pubco”) that has its shares listed on, 

the Toronto Stock Exchange, the TSX Venture Exchange, or the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”); 

(b) incur expenditures in connection with the exploration of the property subject to the Labrador West Option 

Agreement (“Exploration Expenditures”), consisting of:  

a. At least $1,000,000 by December 31, 2021; and 

b. An additional $1,000,000 by December 31, 2022;  

The Company is entitled to satisfy any deficiency in the Exploration Expenditures by making cash payments 

to Altius in lieu of the Exploration Expenditures; and 

 

(c) issue to Altius a number of common shares of the Company (the “Payment Shares”), such that the number of the 

Payment Shares shall result in Altius owning 19.9% of the issued and outstanding capital of the Company on a 

partially diluted basis calculated immediately following the time the Equity Financing Threshold (as defined 



hereinafter) is obtained (the “Payment Date”); the “Equity Financing Threshold” equals the gross proceeds of any 

equity financings combined with cash held by the Company plus total Exploration Expenditures up to the initial 

equity financing up to a maximum of $3,000,000, will total at least $4,000,000.  

Upon the Company satisfying the above conditions, the Company will have been deemed to have exercised the 

Labrador West Option and will be entitled to purchase the 100% interest in the property subject to the provisions of 

the Labrador West Property Agreement, which include, among other matters:  

(a) issue to Altius a number common shares of the Company equal to $200,000 (the “Additional Shares”) on the earlier 

of: (i) the first anniversary of the Payment Date and (ii) the date whereby the Company completes a financing 

transaction subsequent to the Payment Date (the “Secondary Financing”), at a price per Additional Share equal to 

the price per share pursuant to the Secondary Financing; in the event that the Company has not completed the 

Secondary Financing by the first anniversary of the Payment Date, then the price per Additional Share shall be 

equal to the maximum applicable discount under the policies of the CSE and as may be acceptable to the CSE; in the 

event that the issuance of the Additional Shares would result in Altius holding more than 19.9% of the common 

shares of the Company on a partially diluted basis  the number of the Additional Shares issuable to Altius will be 

decreased by such number of shares so that Altius’s holdings will not exceed 19.9% of the issued and outstanding 

common shares in the capital of the Company; and 

(b) within 24 months from the date the Company delivers the Payment Shares to the Altius, the Company shall be obligated 

to issue to Altius an additional 1,246,004 Common Shares (the “Milestone Shares”), at the sole discretion of Altius. 

Altius may elect at any time to receive the Milestone Shares by delivering notice to that effect to the Company, provided 

that the issuance of the Milestone Shares would not result in Altius holding more than 19.9% of the Common Shares 

of the Company on a partially diluted basis. The Milestone Shares shall be issued at a deemed price per Milestone 

Share equal to the maximum applicable discount under the policies of the CSE and as may be acceptable to the CSE. 

The Company shall not be responsible for the issuance of any unissued Milestone Shares in the event that Altius does 

not make an election to receive the Milestone Shares, in full, within 24 months from the delivery date of the Payment 

Shares. 

On September 28th, 2021, the Company and Altius entered into the Second Amendment Agreement, which among 

matters, reduced the Equity Financing Threshold from a total of $5,000,000 to a total of at least $4,000,000. The 

reduction of the Equity Financing Threshold had the effect of triggering the issuance of the Payment Shares, as the 

gross proceeds of equity financings up to a maximum of $3,000,000 combined with the cash held by the Company 

plus total Exploration Expenditures was in excess of $4,000,000. On November 5 th, 2021, the Company and Altius 

entered into the Third Amendment Agreement which, among other matters, established that the Payment Shares shall 

be issued on a partially diluted basis.  

A total of 13,427,507 Payment Shares were issued to Altius on November 5th 2021. The Payment Shares were issued 

at a deemed price per Payment Share of $0.15.   For accounting purposes, the shares are valued based on the value of 

shares issued in the most recent private placement which was estimated at $0.12 for a total value of $1,611,301.  

Upon acquiring a 100% interest in the project, the public company shall grant to Altius a 2.75% gross sales royalty 

(GSR) on all iron ore produced, removed and recovered from the project. 

Additionally, the Corporation has issued 9,146,666 common shares to arm's-length parties as consideration for the 

assumption of the rights to the option. The fair value of these consideration shares was estimated to be $0.10 based on 

price of the shares issued in the most recent private placement closed by the Corporation.  

Lac Pegma 

On February 2, 2021, HTR Corp. entered into a purchase agreement with Globex Mining Enterprises Inc. (“Globex”) 

to purchase 100% of the Lac Pegma copper-nickel-cobalt sulphide deposit located approximately 50 kilometres south 

of Fermont, Que. 

The terms of the purchase agreement are as follows: HTR Corp. paid Globex $10,000 in cash and an undertaking to 

issue 650,000 shares of HTR Corp. upon completion of an initial public offering/liquidity event prior to September 



30, 2021. In addition, Globex will retain a 2% gross metal royalty with a 1% buyback option for $1,500,000 

exercisable at any time at the discretion of the Corporation. 

Further, on February 25, 2021, HTR Corp. increased its land position by acquiring 35 additional mineral exploration 

claims adjacent to its Lac Pegma copper-nickel-cobalt sulphide deposit. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

The Company is an exploration-stage company and does not generate revenues. As such, it finances all of its 

operations and the exploration of its mineral properties entirely through the issuance of share capital. Although the 

Company has to date been successful in its attempts to raise capital, there can be no assurance that its future efforts 

will likewise be successful. The mineral exploration business is high risk and the vast majority of exploration projects 

will not result in producing mines. The success of future financings will depend on a variety of factors including 

geological success – i.e. obtaining superior results from exploration; a positive investment climate encompassing 

strong metal prices, solid stock market conditions, and a “risk-on” appetite among investors; and the Company’s track 

record and the ability and experience of management. If such financing is unavailable, the Company may be unable 

to retain its mineral interests and execute its business plans. 

As at June 30, 2021, the Company had net working capital of $2,283,330 compared to $787,963 at June 30, 2020. As 

at December 31, 2021, the Company has net working capital of $1,629,816 excluding the Escrowed Funds.  

On September 14, 2021 and September 16th, 2021, the Trance 1 Closing and Tranche 2 Closing respectively, the 

Company raised an additional $1,099,809.45 pursuant to the Offering, which except for 50% of the Cash Commission 

of $5,263.84, will be held in escrow until the satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions.  

Notwithstanding considerable uncertainty in the global economic outlook, management has been encouraged by 

market interest in the Company’s properties and its proposed exploration plans. Markets appear receptive and 

management views the outlook for 2021 and 2022 as promising. Accordingly, subject to CSE and regulatory 

approvals, the Company intends to seek a listing on the CSE.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements.  

Transactions with Related Parties 

The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties during the three and six month periods ended 

December 31, 2021 and 2020:  

With key management personnel of 

the Company: 

For the three 

months ended 

December 31, 

2021 

$ 

For the three 

months ended 

December 31, 

2020 

$ 

For the six 

months ended 

December 31, 

2021 

$ 

For the six 

months ended 

December 31, 

2020 

$ 

Management fees  22,500 26,250 45,000 51,250 

Exploration and evaluation expenses 

paid  
Nil Nil Nil 12,350 

TOTAL 22,500 26,250 45,000 63,600 

 
Trade payables and accrued liabilities as at December 31, 2021 include $nil (June 30, 2021 - $5,600) owed to officers 

of the Company.  Such amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and with no fixed terms of payment. 

 



In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for 

planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, including directors (executive 

or non-executive) of the Company. 

Proposed Transactions 

As at the date of this Prospectus, there are no proposed transactions currently contemplated by the Company. See 

“Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information”. 

Financial Instruments 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, receivables, trade payables and accrued liabilities. Unless 

otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit 

risks arising from these financial instruments. The fair values of these financial instruments approximate their carrying 

values unless otherwise stated. 

Qualifications and Forward-Looking Statements 

The Company’s MD&A provides an analysis of the Company’s financial results for the period ended December 31, 

2021 and 2020 and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements of the Company for such period, and 

the notes thereto.  

Certain information included in the Company’s MD&A is forward-looking and based upon assumptions and 

anticipated results that are subject to uncertainties. Should one or more of these uncertainties materialize or should the 

underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary significantly from those expected. See “Cautionary 

Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” for further detail. 

Additional information relating to the Company may be found on the Company’s profile on SEDAR at 

www.sedar.com. 

Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares, of which 60,142,848 Common Shares 

were issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable as at December 31, 2021. As of the date hereof, 7,332,063 

Common Shares of the Company are reserved for issuance upon the deemed exchange of 7,332,063 issued and 

outstanding Subscription Receipts for Units, and upon such exchange, 67,474,911 Common Shares will be issued and 

outstanding. 1,247,917 Warrants were outstanding as at December 31, 2021 and 1,247,917 Warrants are outstanding 

as of the date hereof. Following the deemed exchange of Subscription Receipts for Units, an additional 3,666,031 

Subscription Receipt Warrants will be outstanding. An additional 101,376 Common Shares are reserved for issuance 

in respect of the Broker Warrants and 1,246,004 Common Shares are reserved for issuance in respect of the Milestone 

Shares.  

Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue 

The following table sets out a breakdown of all material components of certain costs to the Company for the three and 

six months ended December 31, 2021. 

Mineral Properties – Exploration and Evaluation 

The following tables set out the total exploration and evaluation costs recorded by the Company for the Labrador West 

Property:  

Labrador West Property 

For the six months ended 

December 31, 2021 

$ 

For the six months ended 

December 31, 2020 

$ 

Acquisition 1,611,301 (3,550) 



Administration  3,216 1,588 

Assaying  Nil 18,228 

Drilling Nil 302,138 

Geologists  102,279 179,436 

Hotels & Meals 2,912 38,750 

Helicopter chartering Nil 140,431 

In-country logistics  26,500 18,462 

TOTAL 1,746,208 695,483 

 

The increase in exploration and evaluation expenditures for the six months ended December 31, 2021 as compared to 

the six months ended December 31, 2020 was the result of the Company incurring one-time acquisition costs for the 

Labrador West Property of $1,611,301 in the six months ended December 31, 2021. Except for the cost of the 

acquisition of the Labrador West Property, the exploration and evaluation expenditures in the six months ended 

December 31, 2020 was greater than the six months ended December 31, 2021 primarily due to the drill program and 

the costs associated with facilitating the drill program that was  performed on the Labrador West Property.   

The following tables set out the total exploration and evaluation costs recorded by the Company for the Lac Pegma 

Property:  

Lac Pegma Property 

For the six months ended 

December 31, 2021 

$ 

For the six months ended 

December 31, 2020 

$ 

Acquisition Nil Nil 

Assaying  9,303 Nil 

Geologists  266,158 Nil 

TOTAL 275,461 Nil 

              Notes: 

(1) The Lac Pegma Property was acquired during the year ended June 30, 2021 

General and Administrative Expenses 

The following tables set out the general and administrative expenses of the Company for the six months ended 

December 31, 2021 and 2020:   

 For the six months ended 

December 31, 2021 

$ 

For the six months ended  

December 31, 2020 

$ 

Professional fees 86,356 12,000 

Consulting fees 45,000 51,250 

Office expenses 20,959 104 

Investor relations 67,680 7,500 

Travel 19,311 Nil 

Transfer agent 3,840 850 

Total 243,146 71,704 

 



The following tables set out the general and administrative expenses of the Company for the three months ended 

December 31, 2021 and 2020:   

 For the three months ended 

December 31, 2021 

$ 

For the three months ended  

December 31, 2020 

$ 

Professional fees 27,659 12,000 

Consulting fees 22,500 26,250 

Office expenses 2,750 36 

Investor relations 65,930 7,500 

Travel 19,311 Nil 

Transfer agent 300 300 

Total 138,450 46,086 

The increase in general and administrative expenses of the Company for the three and six months ended December 

31, 2021 as compared to the three and six months ended December 31, 2020 was principally related to the costs 

associated with the listing process for the Company.  

 

 



Schedule “B” 

Capitalization Table  

[See attached]  

 

  



Capitalization 
 

As of the date of this Listing Statement, the Company has the following Capitalization structure:  

 

Issued Capital 

 
 

 

 

Number of 

Securities 

(non-diluted) 

Number of 

Securities 

(fully-diluted) 

% of Issued 

(non-diluted) 

% of 

Issued  

(fully diluted) 

Public Float     

Total outstanding (A) 67,474,911 73,736,239 100% 100% 

 

Held by Related Persons or 

employees of the Issuer or Related 

Person of the Issuer, or by persons 

or companies who beneficially 

own or control, directly or 

indirectly, more than a 5% voting 

position in the Issuer (or who 

would beneficially own or control, 

directly or indirectly, more than a 

5% voting position in the Issuer 

upon exercise or conversion of 

other securities held) (B) 

 

38,320,733  

 

 

 

39,566,737 

 

 

 

  

 

56.79% 

 

53.66% 

 

 

 

 

Total Public Float (A-B) 

 

29,154,178 

 

34,169,502 

 

43.21% 

 

46.34% 

 

Freely-Tradeable Float 

 

    

Number of outstanding securities 

subject to resale restrictions, 

including restrictions imposed by 

pooling or other arrangements or 

in a shareholder agreement and 

securities held by control block 

holders (C) 

44,416,162 44,416,162 73.91% 60.31% 

 

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 

 

23,058,749 

 

29,320,077 

 

34.17% 

 

39.76% 

 



Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

The following table sets forth the number of registered public securityholders and aggregate number of 

Common Shares held by such holders, group by the number of Common Shares held, as of the date hereof.  

  
Quantity of Common Shares held 

by Registered Public 

Securityholders  

 Number of holders  Total number of securities 

     

1 – 99 Common Shares  0  Nil 

     

100 – 499 Common Shares  3  1036 

     

500 – 999 Common Shares  4  2,440 

     

1,000 – 1,999 Common Shares  7  9,872 

     

2,000 – 2,999 Common Shares  6  15,134 

     

3,000 – 3,999 Common Shares  5  17,968 

     

4,000 – 4,999 Common Shares  3  13,334 

     

5,000 or more Common Shares  63  22,697,212 

     

Total  91  22,756,996 

 

Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 
 

The following table sets forth the number of beneficial public securityholders and aggregate number of 

Common Shares held by such holders, group by the number of Common Shares held.  

 
Quantity of Common Shares held 

by Beneficial Public 

Securityholders  

 Number of holders  Total number of securities 

     

1 – 99 Common Shares  74  3,061 

     

100 – 499 Common Shares  170  39,893 

     

500 – 999 Common Shares  76  50,947 

     

1,000 – 1,999 Common Shares  96  134,077 

     

2,000 – 2,999 Common Shares  73  182,403 

     

3,000 – 3,999 Common Shares  51  177,188 

     

4,000 – 4,999 Common Shares  11  49,923 

     

5,000 or more Common Shares  222  6,299,086 

     

Total  773  6,936,578 



Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

 
The following table sets forth the number of registered non-public securityholders and aggregate number 

of Common Shares held by such holders, group by the number of Common Shares held.  

 
Quantity of Common Shares held 

by Non-Public Securityholders  

 Number of holders  Total number of securities 

     

1 – 99 Common Shares  0  Nil 

     

100 – 499 Common Shares  0  Nil 

     

500 – 999 Common Shares  0  Nil 

     

1,000 – 1,999 Common Shares  0  Nil 

     

2,000 – 2,999 Common Shares  0  Nil 

     

3,000 – 3,999 Common Shares  0  Nil 

     

4,000 – 4,999 Common Shares  0  Nil 

     

5,000 or more Common Shares  3  Nil 

     

Total  3  38,320,733 

 

 

Convertible Securities  

 
The following table sets forth details regarding securities convertible into Common Shares: 

 
Description of Security (include 

conversion /  exercise terms, 

including conversion / exercise 

price) 

Number of convertible / 

exchangeable securities outstanding 

Number of listed securities issuable 

upon conversion / exercise 

Warrants(1) 1,247,917 1,247,917 

Warrants(2)  3,666,031 3,666,031 

Broker Warrants(3)  67,584 67,584 Common Shares  

33,792 Warrants  

Options(4) Nil Nil 

RSUs(5) Nil Nil 
Notes  

(2) Warrants may be exercised at a price of $0.15 and expire on December 30, 2022.  
(3) Warrants may be exercised at a price of $0.20 and expire on February 23, 2025  

(3) Broker Warrants may be exercised at a price of $0.15 and expire on February 23, 2025. Each Broker Warrant is comprised of one common 

share and one half of one common share purchase warrant.   
(4) See “Options to Purchase Securities – Options” for a description of the Company’s Stock Option Plan.  

(5) See “Options to Purchase Securities – Restricted Share Units” for a description of the Company’s Restricted Share Unit Plan. 

 

Other Securities Reserved for Issuance  
 

Pursuant to the terms of the Labrador West Option Agreement, within twenty-four months from the date 

the Company delivers the Payment Shares to Altius, being November 5, 2021, the Company shall be 

obligated to issue to Altius am additional 1,246,004 Common Shares (the “Milestone Shares”), at the sole 



discretion of Altius. Altius may elect at any time to receive the Milestone Shares by delivering notice to that 

effect to the Company, provided that the issuance of the Milestone Shares would not result in Altius holding 

more than 19.9% of the Common Shares of the Company) on a partially diluted basis. 

 



Schedule “C” 

Certificate of the Issuer  

[See attached]  

  



Certificate of the Issuer 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, High Tide Resources Corp., hereby applies 
for the listing of the above-mentioned securities on the Exchange.  The foregoing contains full, true and 
plain disclosure of all material information relating to High Tide Resources Corp. It contains no untrue 
statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is 
necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances 
in which it was made. 

Dated at Toronto, Ontario  

this   22       day of February, 2022. 

Chief Executive Officer 
Steve Roebuck 

Chief Financial Officer 
Donna McLean  

Promoter  
Avidian Gold Corp. 
Steve Roebuck  

Promoter  
Avidian Gold Corp. 
Steve Altmann 

Director 
Serge Pelletier 

Director 
Steve Altmann 

(signed) "Steve Roebuck

(signed) "Steve Roebuck

(signed) "Donna McLean"

(signed) "Serge Pelletier"

(signed) "Steve Altmann"

(signed) "Steve Altmann"
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